
   
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
MEETING OF THE  

 
TEMPLE CITY COUNCIL 

 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 
2 NORTH MAIN STREET 

 
3rd FLOOR – CONFERENCE ROOM 

 
THURSDAY, DECEMBER 3, 2015 

 
4:30 P.M.  

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Discuss, as may be needed, Regular Meeting agenda items for the meeting posted for Thursday, 

December 3, 2015. 
 

2. Receive a presentation regarding the Transform Temple Program. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



5:00 P.M. 

 MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

2 NORTH MAIN STREET 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS – 2ND FLOOR 

TEMPLE, TX 

TEMPLE CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

1. Invocation

2. Pledge of Allegiance

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS

Citizens who desire to address the Council on any matter may sign up to do so prior to this meeting. 
Public comments will be received during this portion of the meeting.  Please limit comments to 3 
minutes.  No discussion or final action will be taken by the City Council.  

III. PRESENTATIONS

3. Presentation by Judge Burrow, Bill Schumann, Bell County Commissioner Precinct 3 & Sharon 
Long, Tax Assessor Collector, of the Child Safety Funds collected in the amount of $77,496.11.

IV. CONSENT AGENDA

All items listed under this section, Consent Agenda, are considered to be routine by the City Council 
and may be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be removed 
from the Consent Agenda at the request of any Councilmember and will be considered separately. 

4. Consider adopting a resolution approving the Consent Agenda items and the appropriate
resolutions for each of the following:

Minutes

(A) November 19, 2015 Special and Regular Meeting

Contracts, Leases, & Bids

(B) 2015-7968-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a construction contract with T.
Morales Co. Electric and Controls Ltd, in an amount not to exceed $313,600, for the 
replacement of the existing main electrical Motor Control Console-4 (MCC-4) located at 
the Water Treatment Plant Administration Building.  



(C) 2015-7969-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing an interlocal agreement with Hill 
Country Transit District for transit services. 

(D) 2015-7970-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a three year professional 
services agreement with All-Write Testing in a total estimated cost of $54,000, for Civil 
Service promotional test writing. 

(E) 2015-7971-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of computer 
hardware during FY 2016 in the estimated annual amount of $102,000, from 
GovConnection, Inc., of Merrimack, New Hampshire.  

(F) 2015-7972-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of fleet tracking 
monitoring service for FY 2016 in the annual amount of $41,000, through GPS Insight, 
LLC, of Scottsdale, Arizona. 

Ordinances – Second & Final Reading 

(G) 2015-4738: SECOND  READING -  Consider adopting an ordinance: 

1. Creating Chapter 40, “Nuisances,” of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Temple
Texas;

2. Amending Chapter 16, “Health and Sanitation,” of the Code of Ordinances of the City
of Temple, Texas, to delete Article IV “Neighborhood Nuisances;”

3. Amending Chapter 37, “Traffic,” of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Temple,
Texas to delete Section 37-108 and Article V “Junked Motor Vehicles.”

Misc.  

(H) 2015-7973-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing payment of the TCEQ Water 
System Fee to the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality for operations of 
Temple’s water treatment plants, in the amount of $69,171.95. 

(I) 2015-7974-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing budget amendments for fiscal 
year 2015-2016. 

V. REGULAR AGENDA 

ORDINANCES – FIRST READING/PUBLIC HEARING  

5. (A) 2015-4739: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING. Consider adopting an ordinance
Creating Chapter 41, “Credit Access Businesses,” of the Code of Ordinances of the City of
Temple, Texas.

(B) 2015-4740: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING Z-FY-16-04:  Consider adopting an
ordinance authorizing amendments to Ordinance 2010-4413, Temple Unified Development
Code related to regulating Credit Access Businesses (commonly referred to as “Payday
Lenders”) and the following specific Articles:  Article 5-Use Standards, including specific
locational standards; and Article 11-Definitions, providing a definition for Credit Access
Businesses.



   
 
6.  2015-4741 FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING – Z-FY-16-01:  Consider adopting an 

ordinance authorizing a rezoning from General Retail District (GR), Office 1 District (O-1) and 
Multiple-Family Dwelling 1 District (MF-1) to General Retail District (GR), on 6.414 +/- acres, 
being all of Lot 1, Block 1, G2K North subdivision, located on the north side of West Adams 
Avenue, west of Holy Trinity Catholic High School and east of Hilliard Road. 

 
7. 2015-4742 FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-16-02:   Consider adopting an 

ordinance authorizing a rezoning from Agricultural District (AG) to Single Family Three Dwelling 
District (SF-3) on a tract of land situated in the MAXIMO MORENO Survey, Abstract 14, Bell 
County, Texas, located at 902 East Nugent Avenue. 

 
8. 2015-4743:  FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING: Consider adopting an ordinance amending 

the approval process for economic development incentives for property redevelopment in the 
Jeff Hamilton Park area. 

 
9. 2015-4744:  FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Consider adopting an ordinance amending 

the City’s strategic investment zones incentive policies. 

 
 
  
 

The City Council reserves the right to discuss any items in executive (closed) session whenever permitted by the 
Texas Open Meetings Act. 

 
I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of this Notice of Meeting was posted in a public place at 
xx:xx PM, on Friday, November 20, 2015. 
 
 
_________________________ 
City Secretary, TRMC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



   

 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

12/03/15 
Item #3 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

 
 

DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Lacy Borgeson, City Secretary   
 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: Presentation by Judge Burrow, Bill Schumann, Bell County Commissioner 
Precinct 3 & Sharon Long, Tax Assessor Collector, of the Child Safety Funds collected in the amount 
of $77,496.11. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Accept presentation as presented in item description. 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY: Presentation by Judge Burrows, Bill Schumann, Bell County Commissioner Precinct 
3 & Sharon Long, Tax Assessor Collector, of the child safety funds for the period October 1, 2014 
through September 30, 2015 in the amount of $77,496.11. 
 
Under the authority of the Texas Transportation Code, in 2001, the Bell County Commissioners Court 
imposed a $1.50 per vehicle Child Safety registration fee to be collected by our County Tax Assessor-
Collector.  The City of Temple's allocation is based on population.  These funds must be used for a 
school crossing guard program if the City operates one.  Since the City does not operate a crossing 
guard program, the funds may be spent on programs designed to enhance child safety, health or 
nutrition, including child abuse prevention and intervention and drug and alcohol abuse prevention.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: The balance remaining of Child Safety Fees at the end of FY 2015 was $221.96.  
The FY 2016 Operating Budget included funding in the amount of $71,288 for the use of Child Safety 
Fees.  Funding was for the Community Education Specialist position and associated operating costs in 
the amount of $57,288 and for the purchase of driver feedback signs to be placed within school zones 
in the amount of $14,000.  The funds received tonight will fund the programs included in the FY 2016 
Operating Budget. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

None 

 
 



   
 
 

 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

   

12/03/15 
Item #4(A) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

 
 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Lacy Borgeson, City Secretary   
  
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Approve Minutes: 
  

(A) November 19, 2015 Special and Regular Meeting 
 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve minutes as presented in item description. 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY: Copies of minutes are enclosed for Council review. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: N/A 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
November 19, 2015 Special and Regular Meeting – to be provided 
 

 

 

 

 

 



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 

12/03/15 
Item #4(B) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
Nicole Torralva, P. E., Public Works Director 
Damon B. Boniface, Utility Director 

ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a construction contract with T. 
Morales Co. Electric and Controls Ltd, in an amount not to exceed $313,600, for the replacement of 
the existing main electrical Motor Control Console-4 (MCC-4) located at the Water Treatment Plant 
Administration Building.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 

ITEM SUMMARY: The MCC-4 is a vital component of the water treatment plant, supplying power to 
both the Administration Building and to various treatment processes inside the conventional water 
treatment plant. McCreary & Associates, Inc., of Dallas TX, assessed the current condition of the MCC-
4 and concluded that the existing MCC-4 sustained severe corrosion from being located in a high 
humidity room and appears to have overheated at some point. The MCC-4 was installed in 1978 and 
even though replacement parts are available, it is no longer feasible to rehabilitate it. 

On November 10, 2015, the City of Temple received competitive bids from two contractors for the Water 
Treatment Plant MCC-4 Replacement project. The engineer, McCreary & Associates, Inc., of Dallas 
TX, reviewed the bids and recommends that the City award a construction contract to T. Morales 
Company, Electric & Controls Ltd., based on them being the low bidder and their reputation with 
performing similar projects for the City of Temple.  T. Morales has performed work for the City of Temple 
and is well qualified to complete this project.   

The timeline for construction is 150 calendar days. 

FISCAL IMPACT: Funding is appropriated in account 561-5100-535-6931, project #101206, as follows: 

Project Budget $800,000  
Encumbered/Committed To Date             (170) 

Construction Contract - T. Morales Company        (313,600) 

Remaining Project Funds $486,230  

ATTACHMENTS: 
Engineer’s Letter of Recommendation 
Bid Tabulation 
Resolution



November 12, 2015

Mr. Damon Boniface
Utilities Director
Engineering Department
3210 E. Avenue H., Bldg. A
Temple, Texas 76501

Re: City of Temple
Water Treatment Plant MCC-4 Replacement
Bid #41-09-16

Dear Damon,

On November 10, 2015, the City of Temple received competitive bids from two (2) contractors
for the Water Treatment Plant MCC-4 Replacement Project.  A Bid Tabulation is provided for
your reference.

The bid received was for installation of a new MCC to replace the existing MCC-4 in the main
building at the Water Treatment Plant. The project also consists of installation of new cable and
cable tray and associated miscellaneous wiring and improvements to the building.

The attached Bid Tabulation shows T. Morales Company, Electric & Controls Ltd. of Florence,
Texas as the low bidder with a bid of $313,600.00.  The final opinion of probable cost was
$461,000 and was based on a detailed cost estimate performed by our office and experience
with similar projects. The bid price is under the estimate.

We recommend that the contract amount of $313,600.00 be awarded to T. Morales Company,
Electric & Controls Ltd. for this project.  T. Morales Company, Electric & Controls Ltd. has
performed numerous projects for the City of Temple and is well qualified to complete this
project.

Sincerely,

Joseph Kotrla, P.E.
McCreary & Associates, Inc.
Firm Registration No. F-338

xc: Ms. Frances Garcia, City of Temple Purchasing Department
Mr. Randy Eldridge, T. Morales Company, Electric & Controls Ltd



BID TABULATION
CITY OF TEMPLE

WATER TREATMENT PLANT MCC-4 REPLACEMENT
3210 E Ave H Bldg C
Temple, Texas 76501

Nov. 10, 2015; 2:30 PM
BIDDER INFORMATION

Item Estimated Unit Bid Data Unit Extended Unit Extended

No. Quantity Description Price Amount Price Amount

1 100% LS Mobilization, Bonds and Insurance, not-to-exceed 5% of the Total Bid Amount, complete 
for 

$ 15,680.00        $ 15,680.00        $ 12,950.00        $ 12,950.00        

2 100% LS Furnish and install new MCC-4 and all conduit and wiring complete for 214,225.00      214,225.00       369,700.00       369,700.00       

3 100% LS Furnish and install temporary connections and provide portable generator to run existing 
MCC-4 while the electric supply is being changed over for

1,140.00          1,140.00          10,741.00        10,741.00        

4 100% LS Furnish and install changes to existing PLC hardware, program PLC, and make 
configuration changes to HMI system computers for the addition of new points and the 
verification of I/O points transferred to the new MCC-4 from the old MCC-4 for 

5,320.00          5,320.00          8,040.00          8,040.00          

5 100% LS Furnish and install new protective relay compete and in place in existing 2400 volt MCC 
in the High Service Pump Station for 

14,440.00        14,440.00        13,691.00        13,691.00        

6 100% LS Furnish and install modifications to existing generator switchgear to provide extended 
parallelling protection for 

25,745.00        25,745.00        25,593.00        25,593.00        

7 100% LS Furnish and install portable generator docking station at WTP for MCC-4, complete and in 
place for 

5,985.00          5,985.00          6,271.00          6,271.00          

8 100% LS Furnish and install roll-up door on WTP administration building, drywall for new MCC-4 
Room, door, concrete pad, and painting, complete and in place for 

19,760.00        19,760.00        23,108.00        23,108.00        

Meridian, Texas 76665Florence TX 76527

Wallace Controls & Electric, Inc. 

P.O. Box 31

T Morales Co Electric & Controls Ltd

PO Box 859

9 100% LS Furnish and install level transmitter and control panel for Clear Well No. 1, complete and 
in place for 

10,830.00        10,830.00        7,697.00          7,697.00          

10 100% LS Provide Project Record Drawings (AsBuilts), Complete for 475.00             475.00             3,633.00          3,633.00          

TOTAL AMOUNT BASE BID - (Items 1 - 10)

Did Bidder Acknowledge Addenda No. 1? YES YES

Did Bidder Acknowledge Addenda No. 2? YES YES

Did Bidder provide Bid Security? YES YES

Did Bidder provide required documents? YES YES

I hereby certify that this is a correct & true tabulation of all bids received

                                                                                                       

Joseph J. Kotrla, PE Date

McCreary & Associates, Inc. Firm Registration No. F-338

481,424.00$            313,600.00$            

Page 1 of 1

November 12, 2015



1 

RESOLUTION NO.  

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT WITH T. 
MORALES COMPANY ELECTRIC AND CONTROLS, LTD OF FLORENCE, 
TEXAS, IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $313,600, FOR THE 
REPLACEMENT OF THE EXISTING MAIN ELECTRICAL MOTOR 
CONTROL CONSOLE AT THE WATER TREATMENT PLANT 
ADMINISTRATION BUILDING; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS 
CLAUSE. 

 Whereas, the main control console-4 (MCC-4) is a vital component of the City’s Water 
Treatment Plant which supplies power to both the Administration Building and various treatment 
processes inside the Conventional Water Treatment Plant; 

Whereas, McCreary & Associates, Inc. of Dallas, Texas, assessed the current condition 
of the MCC-4 and concluded that it has sustained severe corrosion from being located in a high 
humidity room and appears to have overheated at some point - the MCC-4 was installed in 1978 
and even though replacement parts are available, it is no longer feasible to rehabilitate this unit; 

Whereas, on November 10, 2015, the City received two bids for the Water Treatment 
Plant MCC-4 Replacement project with Staff and McCreary & Associates, Inc. recommending 
award of a construction contract to T. Morales Company Electric and Controls Ltd. of Florence, 
Texas, in an amount not to exceed $313,600 – the City has done work with T. Morales in the 
past and finds them to be well qualified to complete this project; 

 Whereas, funding for this construction contract is available in Account No. 5610-5100-
535-6931, Project No. 101206; and 

Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
authorize this action. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 

 Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval as 
to form by the City Attorney, to execute a construction contract with T. Morales Company 
Electric and Controls, Ltd. of Florence, Texas, in the amount of $313,600, for the replacement of 
the existing main electrical Motor Control Console-4 located at the Water Treatment Plant 
Administration Building. 

Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 



2 
 

 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 3rd day of December, 2015. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
       
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 

12/03/15 
Item #4(C) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

DEPT. /DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:    

Jonathan Graham, City Manager 

ITEM DESCRIPTION: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing an interlocal agreement with Hill 
Country Transit District for transit services. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 

ITEM SUMMARY:  This item is a resolution renewing an interlocal agreement will Hill Country Transit 
District (HCTD). HCTD has managed and operated the public transit system within Temple’s Urban 
Transit District since 1999. 

The City originally entered into an interlocal agreement with HCTD in January 2001. The agreement 
was subsequently extended under renewal options in 2005 and 2010. The current agreement expired 
September 30, 2015. 

The agreement renewal is substantially the same as the original agreement. It provides for 
administrative and financial services, operational functions, maintenance and operation of facilities, 
performance reporting, and also addresses fixed assets. It continues the commitment to operate the 
ADA paratransit system and the Fixed Route System.  

FISCAL IMPACT: Supplemental funding for operation of the HCTD Transit System in the amount of 
$130,000 is funded in the FY 2015-2016 budget in account 110-1500-515-26-86. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 



RESOLUTION NO.   

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, 
AUTHORIZING AN INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT WITH HILL COUNTRY 
TRANSIT DISTRICT FOR TRANSIT SERVICES; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN 
MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

Whereas, Hill Country Transit District (HCTD) has managed and operated the public 
transit system within Temple’s Urban Transit District since 1999; 

Whereas, the City originally entered into an Interlocal Agreement with HCTD in January 
2001 - the Agreement was extended under renewal options in 2005 and 2010 and expired 
September 30, 2015; 

Whereas, the Agreement provides for administrative and financial services, operational 
functions, maintenance and operation of facilities, performance reporting, and also addresses 
fixed assets; 

Whereas, the Agreement continues the commitment to operate the ADA paratransit 
system and the fixed route system;  

Whereas, supplemental funding for operation of the Hill Country Transit District Transit 
System is funded in the fiscal year 2016 budget in Account No. 110-1500-515-26-86; and 

Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
authorize this action. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 

Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval as to 
form by the City Attorney, to enter into an interlocal agreement with the Hill Country Transit 
District for transit services within Temple’s Urban Transit District. 

Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place, 
and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 3rd day of December, 2015. 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 

DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Lacy Borgeson Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary City Attorney 



   

 

 
COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 

  
12/03/15 

Item #4(D) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 2 
 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Sandra Esqueda, Director of Human Resources 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a three year professional services 
agreement with All-Write Testing in a total estimated cost of $54,000, for Civil Service promotional test 
writing. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  Local Government Code Chapter 143. Municipal Civil Service For Firefighters and 
Police Officers requires that when there is a vacancy in the Fire Department for the rank of Driver, 
Captain or Deputy Chief, and when there is a vacancy in the Police  
Department for the rank of Corporal, Sergeant, or Lieutenant, those vacancies will be open to eligible 
certified members of the Fire and Police department to compete for by the passing of a promotional 
exam based on approved reading lists.  The City of Temple has used All-Write Testing since 2007 to 
write the promotional exams for the departments within this agency. Staff has worked closely with All-
Write Testing over the past 8 years to develop the promotional exams in accordance with department 
philosophy, firefighting techniques used for the structures that in the City of Temple and crime fighting 
techniques that are used in the City of Temple, to obtain promotional exams that are relevant to the 
City of Temple certified fire and police officers.  
 
Vacancies within the ranks requiring promotional examinations are not predictable as age of current 
officer and time in service can be greatly varied.  The expectation that this agreement will exceed 
$18,000 per year is minimal. 
 
Staff recommends Council authorize a three renewal to the professional services agreement with All-
Write Testing. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   Funding for year one of the professional services agreement is available in the FY 
2016 Operating Budget as shown below: 

 
 
 

Amount 
Account Description Available

110-2700-515-2519 Civil Service Expenditures 26,356$      

Total Funding Available 26,356$      



12/03/15 
Item #4(D) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

Funding for years two and three will be appropriated in future fiscal years. 

ATTACHMENTS:   

Resolution 



1 
 

 RESOLUTION NO.     
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A THREE YEAR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
AGREEMENT WITH ALL-WRITE TESTING, WITH A TOTAL 
ESTIMATED COST OF $54,000, FOR CIVIL SERVICE PROMOTIONAL 
TEST WRITING; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 
 Whereas, per Local Government Code Chapter 143, Municipal Civil Service for 
Firefighters and Police Officers, when a vacancy exists in the Fire Department for the rank of 
Driver, Captain or Deputy Chief, and when a vacancy exists in the Police  
Department for the rank of Corporal, Sergeant, or Lieutenant, those vacancies will be open to 
eligible certified members of the Fire and Police Department to compete for by the passing of 
a promotional exam based on approved reading lists; 
 
 Whereas, since 2007, the City has used All-Write Testing to write promotional exams 
for both the Fire and Police Departments - Staff has worked closely with All-Write Testing 
over the past 8 years to develop the exams in accordance with department philosophy, and 
firefighting techniques, to obtain promotional exams that are relevant to the City of Temple’s 
certified firefighters and police officers;  
 
 Whereas, Staff recommends authorizing a three year professional services agreement 
with All-Write Testing, with a total estimated cost of $54,000, for civil service promotional 
test writing; 
 
 Whereas, funding is available for this agreement in Account No. 110-2700-515-2519; 
and 
 

Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public 
interest to authorize this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval 
as to form by the City Attorney, to execute a three year professional services agreement with 
All-Write Testing, with a total estimated cost of $54,000, for civil service promotional test 
writing. 
 
 Part 2:  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 



2 
 

 
 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 3rd day of December, 2015. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
       
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



   

 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
   

 

12/03/15 
Item #4(E) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 2 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Alan DeLoera, Information Technology Director 
 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of computer hardware 
during FY 2016 in the estimated annual amount of $102,000, from GovConnection, Inc., of Merrimack, 
New Hampshire.  
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:   The Information Technology Department currently has a PC, laptop and server 
replacement program that is funded through the Information Technology CIP funding to replace 
obsolete computer systems. Computers are in a four to five year replacement cycle. This cycle is based 
on the type of use (computing power needed) and overall age of the system. This replacement program 
was started in 2002 to ensure that we were running applications efficiently and effectively while also 
ensuring desktop and software applications were being supported under maintenance contracts. The 
Desktop PC Replacement Program will only cover current in-service PC’s. If a new position is added 
or a program calls for an additional PC, software license or printer, this must be a newly budgeted item. 
 

The City of Temple has chosen to standardize all hardware purchases with Dell PCs, laptops, storage 
and servers. Our relationship with Dell has been very beneficial to the City and Dell equipment has 
proven to be reliable, supportable and cost competitive. Dell support offerings and service, in our 
experience, are un-matched by their competitors. Standardization is a key for any efficient support 
organization. It is not possible to support hardware from any and all vendors in a timely manner. As 
technical staff became familiar with specific hardware, they are able to diagnose and resolve issues 
more quickly. With each varying hardware model, software varies as well. It isn't practical to maintain 
software drivers and technical information for any offering on the market. Additionally, large PC 
manufacturers offer several models within their own products. Some are intended for the home market 
and others are for the corporate/business market. Business PCs generally consist of more standardized 
components that will be offered for a longer period of time. These components are tested specifically 
for use in network environments, and are certified by software developers to work well in those 
environments. 
  

 



12/03/15 
Item #4(E) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

It is anticipated in FY 2016 that 60 desktop computers, ten laptops, and two servers will be purchased. 
The desktops and laptops to be replaced are currently five years old as well as the servers. 
GovConection, Inc. has been awarded TCPN (The Cooperative Purchasing Network) contract R5110. 
Staff is recommending the use of this contract for the purchases. 

FISCAL IMPACT:   A budget adjustment is presented for Council’s approval  appropriating  Technology 
funds in the amount of $91,500 and PEG funds in the amount of $10,500. Once the budget adjustment 
is approved, funding will be appropriated in the following accounts: 

Description Account # Project # Amount 

Dell Server 351-1900-519-62-18 101472 $10,500

Dell Server-Public Education Channel 110-1900-519-62-28 101471 $10,500

Dell PC’s/Laptops 351-1900-519-22-21 $81,000

Total Funds Available $ 102,000

ATTACHMENTS: 
Budget Adjustment 
Resolution



FY 2016
BUDGET ADJUSTMENT FORM

Use this form to make adjustments to your budget.  All adjustments must balance within a Department.
Adjustments should be rounded to the nearest $1. 

+ -

ACCOUNT NUMBER

PROJECT 
# DECREASE

351-1900-519-62-18 101472

351-1900-519-22-21

351-0000-490-25-82

110-0000-351-09-43 91,500        

110-9100-591-81-51

110-1900-519-62-28 101471

110-0000-315-19-00 10,500        

TOTAL………………………………………………………………………………… 102,000$    

DOES THIS REQUEST REQUIRE COUNCIL APPROVAL? X Yes No

DATE OF COUNCIL MEETING

WITH AGENDA ITEM? X Yes No

X Approved

Disapproved

Approved

Disapproved

Approved

DisapprovedCity Manager

Department Head/Division Director

Finance

Date

11/17/2015

Date

Date

91,500        Transfer Out- Desg Captial Proj Funds

Reserved for Public Education Channel

Do Not Post

Capital Equipment / PEG 10,500$      

ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION

Capital Equipment/Computer Hardware

Desg Capital Unallocated Tech Funds

INCREASE

10,500$      

Transfer In- Desg Capital Proj Fund 91,500$      

Capital < $5,000 Computer Equipment 81,000$      

285,000$    

Replacement Servers, PC's, Laptops, Storage Program for Fiscal Year 2016

12/3/2015

EXPLANATION OF ADJUSTMENT REQUEST- Include justification for increases AND reason why funds in decreased 
account are available.

Revised form - 10/27/06



1 
 

RESOLUTION NO.      
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF COMPUTER HARDWARE, IN 
THE ESTIMATED ANNUAL AMOUNT OF $102,000, FROM 
GOVCONNECTION, INC., OF MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE, UTILIZING 
THE COOPERATIVE PURCHASING NETWORK; AND PROVIDING AN 
OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
  
 Whereas, the Information Technology Department currently has a computer 
replacement program to replace obsolete computer systems – the program is funded through 
the Information Technology Capital Improvement Plan; 
 
 Whereas, computers are on a 4-5 year replacement cycle based on the type of use and 
overall age of the system - this replacement program was started in 2002 to ensure that the City 
is running applications efficiently and effectively while also ensuring desktop and software 
applications were being supported under current maintenance contracts; 
 

Whereas, the City has chosen to standardize all hardware purchases with Dell PCs, 
laptops, storage and servers - our relationship with Dell has been very beneficial to the City 
and Dell equipment has proven to be reliable, supportable and cost competitive; 

 
 Whereas, all purchases made through The Cooperative Purchasing Network Agreement 
meet governmental competitive bid requirements under State law; 
 
 Whereas, Staff recommends the purchase of computer hardware from GovConnection, 
Inc. of Merrimack, New Hampshire, in the estimated annual amount of $102,000; 
 
 Whereas, funds are available for this project, but an amendment to the fiscal year 2016 
budget needs to be approved to transfer funds in to Account No. 351-1900-519-6218, Project 
No. 101472, Account No. 110-1900-519-6228, Project No. 101471, and Account No. 351-
1900-519-2221; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest 
to authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council authorizes the purchase of computer hardware, in the 
estimated annual amount of $102,000, from GovConnection, Inc., of Merrimack, New 
Hampshire, utilizing the Cooperative Purchasing Network Agreement. 
 

Part 2: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval 
as to form by the City Attorney, to execute any documents that may be necessary for this 
purchase. 



2 
 

 
 

Part 3:  The City Council authorizes an amendment to the fiscal year 2016 budget, 
substantially in the form of the copy attached hereto as Exhibit ‘A.’ 
 

Part 4: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this the 3rd day of December, 2015. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              

    DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



   

 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
12/03/15 

Item #4(F) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 2 
 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Alan DeLoera, Information Technology Director 
 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of fleet tracking 
monitoring service for FY 2016 in the annual amount of $41,000, through GPS Insight, LLC, of 
Scottsdale, Arizona. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  On April 19, 2012, Council authorized the purchase of fleet tracking hardware and 
monitoring services for a pilot group of 82 City vehicles and additional 75 vehicles in FY 2015 through 
GPS Insight, LLC.   
 
Some of the goals of the program is to help raise employee awareness of important issues such as 
speeding, idle-time, excessive acceleration/deceleration, and general vehicle usage. Additional goals 
are to assist in the optimization of routes, reduce travel times, provide real-time fleet tracking, balance 
workload among vehicles, reduce fuel and maintenance costs, and contribute to the overall efficiency 
and effectiveness of the City fleet.  
 
The ongoing monthly service is approximately $3,416 per month which covers the cost of wireless data 
plans, GPS Tracking, and maintenance. This cost will also cover the additional 15 vehicles we will be 
adding in FY 2016 making the total City vehicles with fleet tracking monitoring service 172. 
 
This procurement is being recommended utilizing the U.S. General Services Administration (GSA) 
contract GS-35F-0074S.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   Funding for the fleet tracking service is budgeted in the FY 2016 Operating Budget 
as shown below: 
 
 
 
 



12/03/15 
Item #4(F) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution  



1 

RESOLUTION NO. 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF FLEET TRACKING 
HARDWARE AND MONITORING SERVICE, IN THE ANNUAL AMOUNT OF 
$41,000, FROM GPS INSIGHT, LLC OF SCOTTSDALE, ARIZONA, 
UTILIZING A GENERAL SERVICES ADMINISTRATION COOPERATIVE 
PURCHASING AGREEMENT; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS 
CLAUSE. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

Whereas, on April 19, 2012, City Council authorized the purchase of fleet tracking 
hardware and monitoring services for a pilot group of 82 City vehicles and an additional 75 
vehicles in fiscal year 2015 through GPS Insight, LLC, of Scottsdale, Arizona;   

Whereas, the goal of the program is to raise employee awareness of important issues 
such as speeding, idle-time, excessive acceleration/deceleration, general vehicle usage, assist 
in the optimization of routes, reduce travel times, provide real-time fleet tracking, balance 
workload among vehicles, reduce fuel and maintenance costs, and contribute to the overall 
efficiency and effectiveness of City fleet vehicles;  

Whereas, all purchases made through the General Services Administration Cooperative 
Purchasing Agreement meet governmental competitive bid requirements under State law; 

 Whereas, Staff recommends the purchase of fleet tracking hardware and monitoring 
services for 15 additional vehicles from GPS Insight, LLC in the annual amount of $41,000; 

Whereas, funding for the fleet tracking service is budgeted in the fiscal year 2016 
Operating Budget in Account No. 110-1900-519-2610; and 

Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest 
to authorize this action. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 

 Part 1: The City Council authorizes the purchase of fleet tracking hardware and 
monitoring service for 15 additional City vehicles, in the amount of $41,000, from GPS 
Insight, LLC of Scottsdale, Arizona, utilizing a General Services Administration Cooperative 
Purchasing Agreement. 

Part 2: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval 
as to form by the City Attorney, to execute any documents that may be necessary for this 
purchase. 

Part 3: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 



2 
 

 
 

 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this the 3rd day of December, 2015. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              

    DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



   
 

 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

12/03/15 
Item #4(G) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 2  

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Kayla Landeros, City Attorney  
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:   SECOND READING – Consider adopting an ordinance: 
 
 (1) Creating Chapter 40, “Nuisances,” of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Temple  
  Texas;  
 
 (2) Amending Chapter 16, “Health and Sanitation,” of the Code of Ordinances of the City of  
  Temple, Texas, to delete Article IV “Neighborhood Nuisances;” 
 

(3) Amending Chapter 37, “Traffic,” of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Temple, Texas 
to delete Section 37-108 and Article V “Junked Motor Vehicles.”   

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt ordinance as presented in item description, on second and final 
reading. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  Currently, the City’s Code of Ordinances contains several sections addressing and 
prohibiting certain actions that are considered “nuisances.” These sections are found in Chapter 16 and 
Chapter 37. Several months ago, the City Attorney’s Office and Code Enforcement identified the 
nuisance article in Chapter 16 as one in need of amendments. In the process of discussing 
amendments to Chapter 16, Staff determined that it would be beneficial to combine all nuisance 
sections into one chapter. This would make it easier for the public to find all sections that address 
nuisances and would streamline the notice and citation process for Code Enforcement. Therefore, the 
proposed ordinance seeks to create Chapter 40 of the Code of Ordinances which will be titled 
“Nuisances.”  
 
The new chapter will address general public nuisances, junked vehicles, and parking in yards. When 
drafting the new chapter, Staff omitted outdated language and unused provisions to make the chapter 
easier to read, interpret, and apply. The proposed chapter also changes the mailing requirement for 
high grass violations from certified mail to first class mail with a certificate of mailing. This change will 
have a significant impact on the amount of money Code Enforcements spends each year on postage. 
The new chapter specifically prohibits overgrown or uncultivated bamboo. It adds a “wildflower 
exception” to the high grass provisions which runs from March 1st to May 31st each year. The proposed 
language also prohibits the accumulation of appliances, “indoor” furniture, etc. not screened from public 
view.  

 
 



   
 

12/03/15 
Item #4(G) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

 
Because various existing sections are being combined into one new chapter, there are several deletions 
that are proposed. The current provisions found in Chapter 16, Article IV, “Neighborhood Nuisances,” 
Chapter 37, Article V, “Junked Motor Vehicles,” and Section 37-108, “Parking in Residential Yards” will 
need to be deleted. Chapters 16 and 37 will not be renumbered after the deletions. Notations will be 
made to each chapter regarding where the provisions may be found and the article and section numbers 
will be reserved.  

  
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Ordinance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 1

ORDINANCE NO.   
  

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, CREATING CHAPTER 40, “NUISANCES” OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS; AMENDING 
CHAPTER 16, “HEALTH AND SANITATION,” TO DELETE ARTICLE IV 
“NEIGHBORHOOD NUISANCES;” AMENDING CHAPTER 37, “TRAFFIC,” 
TO DELETE SECTION 37-108 AND ARTICLE V “JUNKED MOTOR 
VEHICLES” OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS; PROVIDING A REPEALER; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

               
 
 Whereas, the City of Temple’s Code of Ordinances contains several sections addressing 
and prohibiting certain actions that are considered “nuisances” - these sections are found in 
Chapter 16 and Chapter 37; 
 
 Whereas, the City Attorney’s Office and the Code Enforcement Department identified 
the nuisance article in Chapter 16 as one in need of amendments and while in the process of 
discussing those amendments, Staff determined that it would be beneficial to combine all 
nuisance sections into one chapter which would make it easier for the public to find all sections 
that address nuisances and would streamline the notice and citation process for Code 
Enforcement; 
 
 Whereas, Staff recommends the creation of Chapter 40 of the Code of Ordinances 
which will be titled “Nuisances” - this new chapter will address public nuisances, junked 
vehicles, and parking in yards; 
 
 Whereas, while drafting this new chapter, Staff omitted outdated language and unused 
provisions to make the chapter easier to read, interpret, and apply - the proposed chapter also 
changes the mailing requirement for high grass violations from certified mail to first class mail 
with a certificate of mailing which will have a significant impact on the amount of money Code 
Enforcement spends each year on postage; 
 

Whereas, this new chapter specifically prohibits overgrown or uncultivated bamboo, 
adds a “wildflower exception” to the high grass provisions which runs from March 1st to May 
31st each year, and also prohibits the accumulation of appliances, “indoor” furniture, etc. not 
screened from public view; 
 
 Whereas, various existing sections are being combined into the new chapter, the current  
provisions found in Chapter 16, Article IV, “Neighborhood Nuisances,” Chapter 37, Article V, 
“Junked Motor Vehicles,” and Section 37-108, “Parking in Residential Yards” will need to be 
deleted; 
 

Whereas, Chapters 16 and 37 will not be renumbered after the deletions, however, 
notations will be made to each chapter regarding where the provisions may be found and the 
article and section numbers will be reserved; and 



 2

 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest 
to authorize this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council creates Chapter 40, “Nuisances,” of the Code of Ordinances of 
the City of Temple, Texas, amends Chapter 16, “Health and Sanitation,” to delete Article IV 
“Neighborhood Nuisances;” amends Chapter 37, “Traffic,” to delete Section 37-108 and Article 
V “Junked Motor Vehicles” of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Temple, Texas, as 
outlined in Exhibit ‘A,’ attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes. 
 

Part 2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance are to the extent of such conflict hereby repealed. 
 

Part 3: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 
paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any of 
the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this ordinance, since the 
same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation in this ordinance 
of any such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 
 

Part 4: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 
 

Part 5: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 19th day of 

November, 2015. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 3rd day of December, 2015. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
              
       DANIEL A. DUNN, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 

12/03/15 
Item #4(H) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
Nicole Torralva, P.E., Public Works Director 
Damon Boniface, Utility Director 

ITEM DESCRIPTION: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing payment of the TCEQ Water System 
Fee to the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality for operations of Temple’s water treatment 
plants, in the amount of $69,171.95. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 

ITEM SUMMARY:   The Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) requires Public Water 
Systems within the State of Texas to pay a Water System Fee for services provided by the commission 
to public water systems annually, as outlined in 30 TAC Chapter 290.51.  This fee provides for general 
revenue in support of TCEQ’s public water system activities. 

This year, the TCEQ Water System Fee associated with permitted operations of the City’s water 
treatment plant operation is $69,171.95.  Payment of this fee is due within 30 days of receipt of the 
invoice, and must be paid promptly. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  Funds are budgeted in the FY 2016 adopted budget to pay of the TCEQ Water 
System Fee in the amount of $69,171.95 as follows: 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution

Amount 
Account Description Available

520-5100-535-2616 Professional 70,000$      

Total Funding Available 70,000$      



 
RESOLUTION NO.     

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF THE TCEQ WATER SYSTEM 
FEE TO THE TEXAS COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 
FOR OPERATIONS OF TEMPLE’S WATER TREATMENT PLANTS, IN 
THE AMOUNT OF $69,171.95; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS 
CLAUSE. 

              
 
 Whereas, the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) requires public 
water systems within the State of Texas to pay a water system fee for services provided by 
the Commission to public water systems annually, as outlined in 30 TAC Chapter 290.51 – 
this fee provides for general revenue in support of TCEQ’s public water system activities; 
 
 Whereas, this year, TCEQ Water System Fee associated with permitted operations of 
the City’s water treatment plant operation is $69,171.95 and is due within 30 days of receipt 
of the invoice; 
 
 Whereas, funds are budgeted in the fiscal year 2016 adopted budget for this payment 
in Account No. 520-5100-535-2616; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public 
interest to authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council authorizes payment of the TCEQ Water System fee to the 
Texas Commission on Environmental Quality for operations of Temple’s water treatment 
plants, in the amount of $69,171.95. 
 
 Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this the 3rd day of December, 2015. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              

    DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM

12/03/15 
Item #4(I) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW: 

Traci Barnard, Director of Finance 

ITEM DESCRIPTION: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing budget amendments for fiscal year 
2015-2016. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 

ITEM SUMMARY: This item is to recommend various budget amendments, based on the adopted 
FY 2015-2016 budget. The amendments will involve transfers of funds between contingency 
accounts, department and fund levels. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  The total amount of budget amendments is $585,033. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Budget Amendments 
Resolution



CITY OF TEMPLE

BUDGET AMENDMENTS FOR FY 2016 BUDGET

December 03, 2015

APPROPRIATIONS

ACCOUNT # PROJECT # DESCRIPTION Debit Credit

363-2200-522-6532 Capital - Special Projects / Contingency Fund 8,902$           

363-2200-522-6851 Capital Bonds / Fire Station # 8 8,902$           

To reallocate funding from completed project back into contingency account.

561-5000-535-6532 Capital - Special Projects / Contingency Fund 34,057$         

561-0000-373-0412 Utility Revenue Bonds / Unreserved 206,183$       

561-5200-535-6950 100967 Capital Bonds / Western Hills Utility Relocation 160,917$       

561-5200-535-6949 101082 Capital Bonds / WL Replacement Lamar Street 28,960$         

561-5400-535-6951 Capital Bonds / WWL Replacement - 10th/12th Street 50,362$         

561-5500-535-6946 100993 Capital Bonds / WWTP RAS Pump Replacement 1$                  

To reallocate completed projects into unreserved fund balance and to true up

contingency account for the utility revenue bond funds.

562-0000-373-0412 2014 Tax Utility Revenue Bonds / Unreserved 157,656$       

562-5200-535-6532 Capital Bonds - Contingency Fund 49,855$         

562-5200-535-6947 Capital Bonds - TBP Reclaim Waterline 207,511$       

Carry forward from FY 15 to FY 16 was incorrect by $157,656.  This budget adjustment

will correct the carry forward, as well as, allocate funding from completed project 

into contingency account.

110-2210-522-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 11,164$         

110-2400-519-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 15,527$         

110-3110-551-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 475$              

110-3130-551-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 6,428$           

110-3222-551-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 1,472$           

110-3223-551-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 1,619$           

110-3224-551-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 5,008$           

110-3500-552-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 39,409$         

110-4000-555-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 12,456$         

110-0000-352-1345 General Fund - Unassigned Fund Balance 93,558$         

240-7000-551-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 19,197$         

240-0000-358-1110 H/M Fund - Unassigned Fund Balance 19,197$         

520-5000-535-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 1,275$           

520-5100-535-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 5,863$           

520-5500-535-2516 Other Services / Judgement & Damages 3,250$           

520-0000-373-0412 W/S Fund - Unassigned Fund Balance 10,388$         

To appropriate funding into Judgements & Damages accounts due to failure to 

carry forward funds from FY 15 into FY 16.  Original allocation was made in FY 2015.

110-4000-555-2128 Supplies / Postage 5,237$           

110-0000-431-0163 Federal Grants / Federal Grants 5,237$           

To appropriate grant revenue and expenditures related to a grant the City has 

received from the Texas State Library and Archives Commission through the

Inter-Library Loan Program.

TOTAL AMENDMENTS 585,033$       585,033$       

1



CITY OF TEMPLE

BUDGET AMENDMENTS FOR FY 2016 BUDGET

December 03, 2015

APPROPRIATIONS

ACCOUNT # PROJECT # DESCRIPTION Debit Credit

Reconciliation
GENERAL FUND

Beginning Contingency Balance -$               

Added to Contingency Sweep Account -                 

Carry forward from Prior Year -                 

Taken From Contingency -                 

Net Balance of Contingency Account -$                   

Beginning Judgments & Damages Contingency 44,230$         

Added to Contingency Judgments & Damages from Council Contingency -                 

Taken From Judgments & Damages -                 

Net Balance of Judgments & Damages Contingency Account 44,230$         

Beginning Compensation Contingency 375,000$       

Added to Compensation Contingency -                 

Taken From Compensation Contingency -                 

Net Balance of Compensation Contingency Account 375,000$       

Net Balance Council Contingency 419,230$       

Beginning Balance Budget Sweep Contingency -$               

Added to Budget Sweep Contingency -                 

Taken From Budget Sweep -                 

Net Balance of Budget Sweep Contingency Account -$                   

WATER & SEWER FUND

Beginning Contingency Balance 50,000$         

Added to Contingency Sweep Account -                 

Taken From Contingency -                 

Net Balance of Contingency Account 50,000$         

Beginning Compensation Contingency 64,000$         

Added to Compensation Contingency -                 

Taken From Compensation Contingency -                 

Net Balance of Compensation Contingency Account 64,000$         

Net Balance Water & Sewer Fund Contingency 114,000$       

HOTEL/MOTEL TAX FUND

Beginning Contingency Balance -$               

Added to Contingency Sweep Account -                 

Carry forward from Prior Year -                 

Taken From Contingency -                 

Net Balance of Contingency Account -$                   

Beginning Compensation Contingency 13,300$         

Added to Compensation Contingency -                 

Taken From Compensation Contingency -                 

Net Balance of Compensation Contingency Account 13,300$         

Net Balance Hotel/Motel Tax Fund Contingency 13,300$         

DRAINAGE FUND

Beginning Contingency Balance -$               

Added to Contingency Sweep Account -                 

Carry forward from Prior Year -                 

Taken From Contingency -                 

Net Balance of Contingency Account -$               

Beginning Compensation Contingency 10,300$         

Added to Compensation Contingency -                 

Taken From Compensation Contingency -                 

Net Balance of Compensation Contingency Account 10,300$         

Net Balance Drainage Fund Contingency 10,300$         

2



CITY OF TEMPLE

BUDGET AMENDMENTS FOR FY 2016 BUDGET

December 03, 2015

APPROPRIATIONS

ACCOUNT # PROJECT # DESCRIPTION Debit Credit

FED/STATE GRANT FUND

Beginning Contingency Balance -$               

Carry forward from Prior Year -                 

Added to Contingency Sweep Account -                 

Taken From Contingency -                 

Net Balance of Contingency Account -$               

3



 
RESOLUTION NO.     

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, APPROVING BUDGET AMENDMENTS TO THE 
2015-2016 CITY BUDGET; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN 
MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

________________________________________________________________ 
 
 Whereas, on the 27th day of August, 2015, the City Council approved a budget 
for the 2015-2016 fiscal year; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council deems it in the public interest to make certain 
amendments to the 2015-2016 City Budget. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1:  The City Council approves amending the 2015-2016 City Budget by 
adopting the budget amendments which are more fully described in Exhibit ‘A,’ 
attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes. 
 
 Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which 
this Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of 
the time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open 
Meetings Act. 
  
 PASSED AND APPROVED this the 3rd day of December, 2015. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
             

    DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



   

    
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
12/03/15 

Item #5(A) 
Regular Agenda 

Page 1 of 2  
 

DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Kayla Landeros, City Attorney  
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:   FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING. Consider adopting an ordinance 
Creating Chapter 41, “Credit Access Businesses,” of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Temple, 
Texas.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Conduct a public hearing, and adopt ordinance as presented in item 
description on first reading, and set second and final reading for December 17, 2015.  
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  The proposed ordinance would regulate certain business practices of “Credit 
Access Businesses,” also commonly referred to as “payday lenders” or “auto title loan lenders.” A Credit 
Access Business (“CAB”) is defined in the Texas Finance Code, § 393.601 as a “credit services 
organization that obtains for a consumer or assists a consumer in obtaining an extension of credit in 
the form of a deferred presentment transaction or a motor vehicle title loan.” There are currently 15 
CAB’s operating within the Temple city limits. The proposed ordinance would regulate the business 
practices of existing and future CAB’s in Temple.  
 
The proposed ordinance is based off of a model ordinance that was drafted by the Texas Municipal 
League and that has been adopted by more than 25 cities in Texas. The ordinance would place the 
following requirements and restrictions on CAB’s: 
 

 A CAB must apply for and receive a certificate of registration from the City; 
 A CAB must maintain complete records of all loans made by the business for at least 3 years 

and make the records available to the City for inspection upon request; 
 The amount of a payday loan may not exceed 20% of the consumer’s gross monthly income; 
 The amount of an auto title loan may not exceed the lesser of 3% of the consumer’s gross annual 

income or 70% of the retail value of the motor vehicle; 
 Any loan that provides for repayment in installments may not be payable in more than 4 

installments, and the proceeds from each installment must be used to repay at least 25% of the 
principal amount of the loan;  

 No renewals or refinancing of installment-payment loans would be permitted; 
 Any loan that provides for a single lump sum repayment may not be refinanced or renewed more 

than 3 times and the proceeds from each refinancing or renewal must be used to repay at least 
25% of the principal amount of the loan; 

 Any loan made to a consumer within 7 days of a previous loan paid by the consumer constitutes 
a refinancing or renewal; 



12/03/15 
Item #5(A) 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

 Every agreement must be written in the consumer’s language of preference and if a consumer
is unable to read, it must be read to them in their language of preference prior to signature;

 Referral to non-profit credit counseling/financial education providers is required; and
 CAB’s would be required to submit the State mandated quarterly reports to the Director of

Finance, along with any other information requested by the City and required by the ordinance.

CAB’s would be required to register with the City Secretary’s Office and pay a $50 registration fee. The 
General Services Department will track registrations to be sure that all CAB’s are current. Regulation 
would be primarily complaint driven and a violation of the ordinance would be a Class C misdemeanor 
which could result in a fine of up to $500.   

FISCAL IMPACT: NA  

ATTACHMENTS:  

Ordinance 



1

ORDINANCE NO.  

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, CREATING CHAPTER 41, “CREDIT ACCESS BUSINESSES” OF 
THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS; 
PROVIDING A REPEALER; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

Whereas, the creation of Chapter 41 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Temple, 
Texas would regulate certain business practices of “Credit Access Businesses,” also commonly 
referred to as “payday lenders” or “auto title loan lenders;” 

Whereas, a Credit Access Business (“CAB”) is defined in the Texas Finance Code, § 
393.601 as a “credit services organization that obtains for a consumer or assists a consumer in 
obtaining an extension of credit in the form of a deferred presentment transaction or a motor 
vehicle title loan;” 

Whereas, there are currently 15 CAB’s operating within the Temple city limits and this 
proposed ordinance would regulate the business practices of existing and future CAB’s in 
Temple; 

Whereas, the proposed ordinance is based off of a model ordinance that was drafted by 
the Texas Municipal League and that has been adopted by more than 25 cities in Texas - the 
ordinance would place the following requirements and restrictions on CAB’s: 

 a CAB must apply for and receive a certificate of registration from the City;
 a CAB must maintain complete records of all loans made by the business for at least 3

years and make the records available to the City for inspection upon request;
 the amount of a payday loan may not exceed 20% of the consumer’s gross monthly

income;
 the amount of an auto title loan may not exceed the lesser of 3% of the consumer’s gross

annual income or 70% of the retail value of the motor vehicle;
 any loan that provides for repayment in installments may not be payable in more than 4

installments, and the proceeds from each installment must be used to repay at least 25%
of the principal amount of the loan;

 no renewals or refinancing of installment-payment loans would be permitted;
 any loan that provides for a single lump sum repayment may not be refinanced or

renewed more than 3 times and the proceeds from each refinancing or renewal must be
used to repay at least 25% of the principal amount of the loan;

 any loan made to a consumer within 7 days of a previous loan paid by the consumer
constitutes a refinancing or renewal;

 every agreement must be written in the consumer’s language of preference and if a
consumer is unable to read, it must be read to them in their language of preference prior
to signature;

 referral to non-profit credit counseling/financial education providers is required; and
 CAB’s would be required to submit the State mandated quarterly reports to the Director

of Finance, along with any other information requested by the City and required by the
ordinance;



 2

 
Whereas, CAB’s would be required to register with the City Secretary’s Office and pay 

a $50 annual registration fee and the General Services Department would track registrations to 
be sure that all CAB’s are current; 
 
 Whereas, Staff recommends the creation of Chapter 41 of the Code of Ordinances 
which will be titled “Credit Access Businesses;” and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest 
to authorize this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council creates Chapter 41, “Credit Access Businesses” of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Temple, Texas, as outlined in Exhibit ‘A,’ attached hereto and 
incorporated herein for all purposes. 
 

Part 2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance are to the extent of such conflict hereby repealed. 
 

Part 3: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 
paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any of 
the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this ordinance, since the 
same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation in this ordinance 
of any such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 
 

Part 4: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 
 

Part 5: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 3rd day of 
December, 2015. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 17th day of December, 2015. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
              
       DANIEL A. DUNN, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   

 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
12/03/15 

Item #5(B) 
Regular Agenda 

Page 1 of 4  
 
DEPT. /DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:   
 
Brian Chandler, Planning Director  
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING Z-FY-16-04:  Consider adopting an 
ordinance authorizing amendments to Ordinance 2010-4413, Temple Unified Development Code 
related to regulating Credit Access Businesses (commonly referred to as “Payday Lenders”) and the 
following specific Articles:  Article 5-Use Standards, including specific locational standards; and Article 
11-Definitions, providing a definition for Credit Access Businesses. 
 
P&Z RECOMMENDATION:  At the November 16, 2015 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, 
P&Z recommended unanimous approval per staff recommendation.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Based on the additional research and conference call discussion, staff 
has revised the recommendation presented at the October 15, 2015 City Council and the November 2, 
2015 Planning and Zoning Commission workshops to the following: 

1. Allow CABs in O-1 (Office 1), O-2 (Office 2), GR (General Retail), C (Commercial), Light 
Industrial (LI) and HI (Heavy Industrial) zoning districts; 

2. Require a minimum of 1000 feet between all CABs; 
3. Prohibit on Major Arterials and Expressways as shown on the Thoroughfare Plan; and 
4. Require a minimum of 200 feet (measured in a straight line from property lines) from a residential 

zoning district. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  Credit Access Businesses, which are defined by Chapter 393 of the Texas Finance 
Code, are commonly referred to as “payday lenders.”  Many cities throughout Texas have proposed 
regulations mirroring a “model ordinance” drafted by TML (Texas Municipal League) that would regulate 
the lending practices of CAB with the overall objective of providing some limitations on fees and overall 
interest rates, while other cities have adopted zoning regulations and a few have adopted both.  The 
City of Temple has proposed to adopt both 1) regulations based on the TML model ordinance and 2) 
zoning standards due to the fact that 15 CABs (see attached list) have opened in Temple (as of June 
29, 2015 per the Texas Office of Consumer Credit) and that there is a growing concern that these 
businesses are beginning to have a negative impact on the lower-income sectors of the community and 
on associated social service organizations. However, only the proposed zoning regulations would be 
reviewed by P&Z. 
 
While Temple has 15 CABs, the city also has 22 Licensed Finance Companies (see attached list) that 
are often confused for being payday lenders; however, they are licensed under Chapter 342 of the 
Texas Finance Code and, unlike CABs, their fees are capped. 
 



   
12/03/15 

Item #5(B) 
Regular Agenda 

Page 2 of 4  
 
 

CITY COUNCIL AND P&Z WORKSHOPS:  The Credit Access Business topic was discussed with City 
Council at their August 20th and October 15th workshops.  The first presentation was led by Texas 
Appleseed, a nonprofit organization that advocates against payday lenders, while the second 
presentation was given by City staff on proposed code amendments related to the TML model 
ordinance and CAB zoning regulations.  Planning staff followed up that discussion with the zoning half 
of the presentation at the November 2, 2015 P&Z workshop.  During both zoning presentations, staff 
recommended adopting the following standards: 

5. Allowing CABs in O-1 (Office 1), O-2 (Office 2), GR (General Retail), C (Commercial), Light 
Industrial (LI) and HI (Heavy Industrial) zoning districts; 

6. Requiring 1000 feet between all CABs; 
7. Prohibiting on Major Arterials and Expressways as shown on the Thoroughfare Plan; and  
8. Requiring a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 

 
P&Z advised staff at the workshop to take a closer look at proposing a 200-foot distance requirement 
from adjacent residential-zoned property per the City of Bryan zoning regulations, rather than requiring 
a CUP.  Staff has more closely evaluated the 200-foot distance requirement versus requiring a CUP, 
which included a conference call with the City of Bryan’s Planning Manager, Martin Zimmerman.  Based 
on P&Z input, the discussion with Mr. Zimmerman and other additional analysis, staff is recommending 
the 200-foot distance requirement from adjacent residential zoning districts for the following reasons:  

 A map produced by the GIS Division showing eligible CAB properties without the 200-foot 
distance requirement, indicates that those properties would be disproportionately concentrated 
in East Temple and South Temple (north of HK Dodgen Loop) 

 CABs could still be located on an estimated 364 properties (that would still be subject to the 
1000 feet distance requirement between them)  

 However, adding the distance requirement, while eliminating the need for a CUP, combined with 
the other proposed regulations, CABs would be allowed by right in locations that are: 

1. Not abutting existing or proposed neighborhoods 
2. Not located within Temple’s most visible corridors; and 
3. Are separated from each other, therefore, preventing the future clustering of CABs that 

we currently have along W. Adams near downtown. 
 CUP applications for CABs would be subject to the existing UDC criteria in Sec. 3.5.4, which 

mostly address preventing negative nuisance-type impacts on nearby properties that are not 
typically created by CABs. Therefore, compliance with the criteria would typically result in staff 
recommendations for approval, anyway.  So, if the intent of the CUP requirement would be to 
evaluate the impact on neighborhoods and/or to further limit where they can locate, staff has 
determined that a distance requirement from residential zoning districts would be a better way 
to meet that objective. 

 
Staff has reached out to Adam Burklund, who represents a payday lender advocacy organization called 
the Consumer Service Alliance of Texas, to give them an opportunity to comment on the proposed 
amendments.  As of November 12, 2015, staff had not received a response from Mr. Burklund other 
than that they would review and let us know whether they had any comments. 
 
 
 



   
12/03/15 

Item #5(B) 
Regular Agenda 

Page 3 of 4  
 
The TML model ordinance and zoning regulations are proposed to be considered by City Council on 
December 3rd (Public Hearing – 1st Reading) and December 17th, 2015 (2nd Reading).  
 
Article 5 Use Standards 
Staff is proposing amending section 5.1, which currently does not address CABs. 
 

 
 
Sec. 5.3.26 Credit Access Business (Specific Use Standards) 
 
A credit access business (commonly referred to as a “payday lender”) may be permitted in 
accordance with the use table in Sec. 5.1 subject to the following standards: 
 

A. A credit access business may not be located: 
1. Within 1000 feet of another credit access business; or 
2. Within 200 feet of a residentially-zoned property (property located within a UE, SF-1, 

SF-2, SF-3, SFA-1, SFA-2, SFA-3, TH, 2F, MF-1, MF-2 or MF-3 zoning district), or 
B. For purposes of this section, measurements are made in a straight line, without regard to 

intervening structures or objects, from property line to property line. 
C. A credit access business may not be located on property abutting a Major Arterial road or an 

Expressway, as identified on the Thoroughfare Plan. 
 
Article 11 Definitions has been amended to add a definition for Credit Access Business to match the 
language in the Texas Finance Code Chapter 393.221. 
 
Credit Access Business. Means a credit services organization that obtains for a consumer or assists 
a consumer in obtaining an extension of consumer credit in the form of a deferred presentment 
transaction or a motor vehicle title loan. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE: The newspaper printed notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission public 
hearing on November 5, 2015, in accordance with state law and local ordinance.  



12/03/15 
Item #5(B) 

Regular Agenda 
Page 4 of 4  

FISCAL IMPACT: NA 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment 1: Draft UDC Code Amendments 
Attachment 2: Map of Potential CAB Locations per Workshop Code Amendments (no 200’ buffer) 
Attachment 3: Map of Potential CAB Locations per Recommended Code Amendments (w/ 200’ buffer) 
Attachment 4: TML City Regulation of Payday and Auto Title Lenders 
Attachment 5: List of Temple CABs 
Attachment 6: List of Temple Licensed Financial Companies 
Attachment 7: Email correspondence with Adam Burklund, Consumer Alliance of Texas 
Attachment 8: Email correspondence with Ann Baddour, Texas Appleseed 
Ordinance  



Article 5: Use Standards 

Sec. 5.1. Use Table 
 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 04/16/15 

 5-7 

P= Permitted by Right     L = Permitted by Right Subject to Limitations      
[blank cell] = Prohibited     C= Conditional Use Permit 

Specific Use A
G

 

U
E 

SF
-1

 

SF
-2

 

SF
-3

 

SF
A

-1
 

SF
A

-2
 

SF
A

-3
 

TH
 

2F
 

M
F-

1 

M
F-

2 

M
F-

3 

O
-1

 

O
-2

 

N
S 

G
R

 

C
 

C
A

 

LI
 

H
I 

Standards 
Rodeo grounds C                 P  P P  
Roller or Ice Rink C                P P P P P  
Sexually oriented business 

                    P 
Ordinance 

No. 99-2633 
Shooting range (outdoor) C                   C C 5.3.16 
Swimming pool, commercial C                C P P P P  
Theater or playhouse (indoor)               P P P P P P P  
Theater or playhouse (open or drive-in)                  P  P P  
Zoo  P                C C C P P  
RESTAURANT USES                       
Restaurant (not drive-in)                P P P P P P P  
Restaurant (drive-in)                P  P P P P P  
RETAIL SALES AND SERVICE USES                       
Alcohol beverage sales, off-premise 
consumption, beer and wine store  

               C P P P P P  

Alcohol beverage sales, off-premise 
consumption, package store  

                C C C C C 5.3.17 

Antique shop               P P P P P P P  
Art supply store               P P P P P P P  
Bakery or confectionary shop (retail)               P P P P P P P  
Bank or savings and loan               P P P P P P P P  
Barber shop or beauty shop               P P P P P P P  
Credit Access Business               P P  P P  P P 5.3.26 
Cleaning, pressing and pick up shop               L L L L L L L 5.3.18 
Cleaning plant (commercial)                  P P    
Discount or department store                 P P P P P  
Drug store or pharmacy               P P P P P P P  



Article 5: Use Standards 

Sec. 5.3. Specific Use Standards 
 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 04/16/15 

 5-25 

5.3.24 Wrecking or Salvage Yard 

A wrecking or salvage yard may be permitted in accordance with the use table in Sec. 
5.1 provided that the buying and receiving area is set back a minimum of 50 feet 
from the public street right-of-way. 

5.3.25 Kiosk 

A kiosk is permitted in accordance with the use table in Sec. 5.1 subject to the 
following standards: 

A. All of the Dimensional and General Development Standards in Article 4 and 
Article 7 of this UDC apply to a kiosk as if it were the principal use of the 
property. 

B. Drive-through kiosks must provide 3, 8-ft by 22-ft. queuing spaces per kiosk 
service window. 

C. Wall signs on the wall of a kiosk itself are the only sign type allowed for 
advertising the services of the kiosk. Wall signs on a kiosk are limited to a 
maximum of 25 percent of the surface area of each wall. Wall signs are 
permitted only on the sides of a kiosk that are visible from the public right-of-
way.  

D. Pedestrian access to the kiosk use must be included from all pedestrian facilities, 
including but not limited to sidewalks.   

Parking that serves as required parking for another use must not be used for either 
placement of the kiosk or for parking or vehicle maneuvering required by the kiosk 
unless additional parking exists for the adjacent use and a shared parking agreement 
is agreed upon by both property owners and submitted with the building permit 
application.   
 

5.3.26  Credit Access Business (see Sec. 11.2 for definition) 

A credit access business (commonly referred to as a “payday lender”) may be 
permitted in accordance with the use table in Sec. 5.1 subject to the following 
standards: 

A. A credit access business may not be located closer than:  
1. Within 1000 feet of another credit access business; or 
2. Within 200 feet of a residentially-zoned property (located within the 

UE, SF-1, SF-2, SF-3, SFA-1, SFA-2, SFA-3, TH, 2F, MF-1, MF-2 or MF-
3 zoning districts). 

B. For purposes of this section, measurements are made in a straight line, 
without regard to intervening structures or objects, from property line to 
property line. 

C. A credit access business may not be located on property abutting a Major 
Arterial or an Expressway, as identified on the Thoroughfare Plan. 



Article 11: Definitions 

Sec. 11.2. Defined Terms 
 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 04/16/15 

 11-6 

Comprehensive Plan. The comprehensive plan of the City and adjoining areas adopted by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and approved by the City Council, including all its 
revisions. The plan indicates the general locations recommended for various land uses, 
transportation routes, public and private buildings, streets, parks and other public and 
private developments and improvements, to include detailed plans for water, sewer, and 
other public services. 

Conditional Use. A use permitted in a particular zoning district only upon showing that such 
use in a specified location will be compatible and can comply with all the conditions and 
standards for the location or operation of such a use as specified in this UDC. 

Condominium. A building or group of buildings in which units are owned individually, while 
the structure and common areas and facilities are owned by all the owners on a 
proportional, individual basis. 

Configuration. The form of a building, based on its massing, private frontage and height. 
[Ord. 2010-4415] 

Copy. Letters, characters, illustrations, logos, graphics, symbols or writing designed to 
communicate information of any kind, to advertise or identify the purpose of a person or 
entity, to identify or advertise a business or to advertise the sale or lease of a premise. 

Correctional Facility. A penal facility including buildings and structures that are inhabited by 
6 or more persons who are under restraint or security and are generally incapable of 
self-preservation due to security measures not under the occupants’ control. This 
definition includes, but is not limited to prisons, jails, reformatories, detention centers, 
correction centers, and prerelease centers. 

Country Club. An area containing a golf course and a clubhouse and available only to private 
specific membership, such a club may contain adjunct facilities such as private club, 
dining room, swimming pool, tennis courts and similar recreational or service facilities. 

Credit Access Business. Means a credit services organization that obtains for a consumer or 
assists a consumer in obtaining an extension of consumer credit in the form of a 
deferred presentment transaction or a motor vehicle title loan. 

Cul-de-Sac. A local street with only one street outlet and having an appropriate terminal for 
the same and convenient reversal of traffic movement. 

Curb Line. An imaginary line drawn along the outermost part or back of the curb and gutter on 
either side of a public street, or, if there is no curb and  gutter, along the outermost 
portion of the paved roadway, or if there is no paved roadway, along the edge of the 
traveled portion of the roadway.  

Dance Hall or Nightclub. An establishment offering to the general public facilities for dancing 
and entertainment for a fee and subject to licensing and regulation by the City. 

Day Camp. A facility arranged and conducted for the organized recreation and instruction of 
children including outdoor activities on a daytime basis. 

Density: The number of dwelling units within a standard measure of land area. [Ord. 2010-
4415] 



W FM 93

W ADAMS AVE

AIRPORT RD

S 3
1S

T S
T

S I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

N I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

S 5
TH

 ST

W AVE L

PE
GA

SU
S D

R

W AVE M

E AVE H

ST
AT

E H
IG

HW
AY

 31
7

W AVE R

AIR
PO

RT
 TR

L

OLD
 HOWAR

D RD
W AVE H

S G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

S 1
ST

 ST
N 1

ST
 ST

S K
EG

LE
Y R

D

E ADAMS AVE

NE H K DODGEN LOOP

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

CHAR
TE

R OAK D
R

OL
D 

WA
CO

 R
D

N 1
3T

H 
ST

N G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

N 1
5T

H 
ST

SE
 H

 K 
DO

DG
EN

 LO
OP

E AVE C

WE
ND

LA
ND

 R
D

S 1
1T

H 
ST

S 2
5T

H 
ST

W AVE IS 1
5T

H 
ST

N 7
TH

 ST

FM
 22

71

S 2
4T

H 
ST

E AVE B

MOORES MILL RD

W NUGENT AVE

LO
WE

S D
R

S 9
TH

 ST

E AVE A

MIDWAY DR

MOUSER RD

E YOUNG AVE

N 3
RD

 ST

HIC
KO

RY
 R

D

N M
AIN

 ST

TARVER DR

HOGAN RD

CE
AR

LE
Y R

D

INDUSTRIAL BLVD

S 4
3R

D 
ST

N 5
TH

 ST

EB
ER

HA
RD

T R
D

W AVE P

S
57

TH
ST

N 8
TH

 ST

S 1
9T

H 
ST

HILLIARD RD

W AVE D

PRAIRIE VIEW RD

W AVE F

S M
AIN

 ST

CEDAR CREEK RD

N 1
1T

H S
T

W AVE G

HA
RT

RI
CK

BL
UF

F R
D

SCOTT BLVD

LO
WE

R T
RO

Y R
D

N 3
1S

T S
T

S 7
TH

 ST

S 3
5T

H 
ST

S 3
7T

H 
ST

W CENTRAL AVE

S 3
3R

D 
ST

N 1
4T

H 
ST

RA
NG

E R
D

S 2
ND

 ST

N 9
TH

 ST

N 6
TH

 ST
S 4

TH
 ST S M

AR
TIN

 LU
TH

ER
 KI

NG
 JR

 D
R

E DOWNS AVE

MARLANDWOOD RD

RO
AD

 5

N 4
TH

 ST

S 3
0T

H 
ST

N 4
2N

D 
ST

E AVE D

ST
AR

LIG
HT

 D
R

FOREST TRL

HOPI TRL

LU
CI

US
 M

CC
EL

VE
Y D

R

W AVE J

RID
GE

WA
Y

KELLER RD

WILD BOYS RUN

S 6
TH

 ST S 3
4T

H 
ST

STRATFORD DR

ANTELOPE TRL

S 2
6T

H 
ST

N 1
2T

H 
ST

N K
EG

LE
Y R

D

CASE RD

WEST FIELD
BLVD

MCLANE PKWY

W AVE A

S 1
7T

H 
ST

TOWER RD

N 1
6T

H 
ST

S 1
8T

H 
ST

RO
AD

 1

S P
EA

 R
IDG

E R
D

ER
IE

DR

ST
ON

EH
AV

EN
 D

R

N P
EA

 R
ID

GE
 R

D

S 5
1S

T S
T

S 2
3R

D 
ST

W AVE C

DA
IR

Y R
D

PECAN DR

N 5
0T

H 
ST

SHALLO
W

FO
RD RD

S 1
4T

H 
ST

LITTLE MEXICO RD

OL
AF

 D
R

DEER TRL
ADAMS LN

CENTRAL POINTE PKWY

CA
NY

ON CREEK DR

S 1
0T

H 
ST

2 0
5L

OO
P

E FRENCH AVE

SAULSBURY DR

S4 9TH
ST

S4 7TH
ST

S 2
2N

D 
ST

W AVE Z

EA STDR

JUPITER DR

N 2
3R

D 
ST

W AVE B

E BLACKLAND RD

SLOUGH DR

BR
OO

KS
 D

R

N 2
ND

 ST

E CENTRAL AVE

FM 2483

W STATE HIGHWAY 36

HEMLOCK BLVD

HERITAGE

HILLCREST RD

S 2
9T

H 
ST

BIR DC RE E K DR

ORION DR

FILLY LN

W KING AVE

E SHELL AVE

S 2
7T

H 
ST

WATERS DAIRY RD

E AVE I

S 5
5T

H S
T

AZALEA DR

SUNFLOWER LN

S 2
0T

H 
ST

ELM DR

TRINO RD

WILSONART DR

LARK TRL

S 2
1S

T S
T

BA
TT

LE

DR

OAK HILLS DR

BU
CK

SK
IN

TR
L

WHITE OAK DR

EVERTON DR

COTTONWOOD LNOA
KD

AL
E D

R
W AVE T

W IRVIN AVE

N 2
1S

T S
T

E AVE J

SHALLOW
FORD

W
ESTRD

S 4
5T

H 
ST

HONEYSUCKLE

WILDFLOWER LN

WHISPERING OAKS

E HOUSTON AVE

PASEO DEL PLATA

PIN OAK DR

MILLER SPRING RD

ROAD 8A

CE
NT

ER
 ST

S 61S
T ST

E AVE G

TRAILRIDGE DR

PEPPER CREEK RD

CE
DA

R 
LN

ST
AG

EC
OA

CH
TR

L

E AVE K

ERMINE TRL

KACIE DR

CO
AS

TA
L D

R

W AVE N

S WHITEHALL RD

ME
AD

OW
OA

KS
DR

RIC
HLAND

DR

W FRENCH AVE

OS
AG

E

W ELM AVE

N 2
0T

H 
ST

C HISHOLM TRL

H K ALLEN PKWY

S T
ER

RA
CE

 ST

THORNTON LN

FAIR HILL DR

S C
ED

AR
 R

D

ENTERPRISE RD

OA
KL

AW
N D

R

MAGNOLIA BLVD

PIM
A

SCOTT & WHITEBLVD

L INWO OD RD

KAREY DR

W HOUSTON AVE

S 1
2T

H 
ST

COLE AVE

W ILD B UC
K RUN

WREN RD

KTON RD

S3RD
ST

MOFFAT RD

LIONS PARK DR

TU
RL

EY
DR

LAKEWOOD DR

E KILLEN LN

W AVE E

VENUS DR

SKYVIEW

KIM
I L

N

KA
SB

ER
G 

DR

LAKE POINTE DR

LAS MORAS DR

E IRVIN AVE

LIT
TL

E R
IVE

R 
RD

WINCHESTER DR

W DOWNS AVE

HANCOCK DR

GILA TRL

BUFFALO TRL

W GARFIELD AVE

N 1
7T

H 
ST

S 1
6T

H 
ST

GU
N C

LU
B RD

E ZENITH AVE

PA RK
WAY

DR

FA
WN

 LI
LY

 DR

TAYLORS VALLEY RD

ALEXANDRIA DR

RICKEY DR

W AVE K

E AVE E

BROOK
LA

WN
DR

OLYMPIA DR

TWIN OAKS DR

E MUNROE AVE

BUTTERFLY DR

ALABAMA AVE

BRIAR CLIFF RD

LONG HO RN
T RL

ALASKA AVE

RIDGEVIEW DR

LORRAINE AVE

BELLMONT

S 2
8T

H 
ST

BUNKER HILL DR

DEERFIELD DR

W AVE V

LAVENDUSKY DR

RAVEN DR

SLEEPY HOLLOW LN

TEXAS

ROBINHOOD DR

SU
GA

R
B R

OO
KD

R

FOX TRL

SW
 W

ES
T L

OO
P

W BARTON AVE

MAR KET L OOP

E UPSHAW AVE

WAGON TRL

W ROYAL AVE

SKYLINE DR

INVERNESS RD
PEANUTDR

PRIVATE DR

CH
EY

EN
NE

DR

ROAD
10

WILLIAMS DR

BRIDGEPORT DR

REDBRUSH

CO
MM

ER
CE

 ST

TW
IN

 C
ITY

 BL
VD

WI
TT

ER
 LN

RO
AD

 3A

STARVIEW ST

FIKES DR

NORTH POINT RD

DA
KO

TA
DR

E XAVIER AVE

BECKER DR
HAWTHORN

KI N G CIR

BURLINGTON

OLD WACO LN

BAKER BLVD

S 41ST ST

W AVE U

SUNSET TRL

STADIUM RD

IRA YOUNG DR

PA
ND

A D
R

OA
KV

IEW
 D

R

CA
LL

E R
OB

LE

EAST RI
DG

E BL

VD

ROAD 7

SHA
DY HILL DR

<Null>

GREENV IE W DR

BRANDON DR

WI
ND

CL
IFF

 D
R

KENDRA DR

SW SOUTH LOOP

E WALKER AVE

W CALHOUN AVE

KEVIN DR

EA

GLE R D

SIO
UX

N 1
8T

H 
ST

HART RD

WEATHERFORD DR

SAGE MEADOW DR

PARKSIDE DR

JO
HN

PA
U L

JO
NE

S D
R

DOVELN

DUKE DR

STAND REWS PL

SW
E A

ST
LO

OP

BOWIE TRL

VA LLEYV IEW
DR

LO
OP D

R

HOPKINS DR

GI
LL

ME
IST

ER
 LN

RO
AD

 4
C RYER LN

CH
ER

IN
G 

DR

E BARTON AVE

WAHLE LN

POISON OAK RD

A SPEN TRL

ALAMO TRL

LAUREL RIDGE

TUCSON

DR

BR
UT

US
 LN

W PARK AVE

DO
GW

OO
D 

LN

CROCKER DR

AM
BR

OS
E C

IR

O KLAH OMA

S 39TH ST

PECOS DR

CARR IAGEHOUS E
DR

W KILLEN LN

RESEARCH LOOP

S 5
3R

D 
ST

LAN DFI L L RD

FOXHILL RD

GENE ST

EMERALD
GATEDR

ME
AD

OW
BR

OO
K D

R

FIELDSTONE DR

J I
 BR

UC
E D

R

MISTY PINE DR

AS
H LN

VALLEYMI S T
DR

RED BUD RD

LIG
HT

NE
R 

LNHILLSIDE DR

TA
NG

LE
WO

OD RD

CREASEY DR

W WELTON AVE

W ZENITH AVE

MAYB ORN DR

OAKR ID GE DR

FREEDOM DR

SU
ND

AN
CE

 D
R

MO
RG

AN
S P

OI
NT

 R
D

VIL
LA

GE
 W

AY

EAGLE LANDING DR

S 32ND ST

W UPSHAW AVE

CARNATION LN

STANFORD DR

BERGER RD

TIMBER RIDGE DR

FR
IEN

DS
HI

P L
N

SUMAC
DR

RUGGLES LOOP

TENNESSEE

GU
Y D

R

RA
LE

IG
H 

DR

AS
CO

T PKWY

IOWA AVE

MONTANA DR

N C
ED

AR
 R

D

P A RKDALE DR

OX
FO

RD
DR

PULLMAN PLACE BLVD

W WALKER AVE

PHOENIXDR

W AVE S

FA

NNIN LOOP

BRIDGEPOINTE DR

LAWNWOOD DR

MITCHELL DR

BOX CANYON DR

DODGE DR

GEORGIA AVE

WHITER OCK DR

W VIRGINIA AVE

DUSTYLN

MA
DI

SO
N

N 2
7T

H 
ST

BLUE MEADOW DR

PASEO DEL ORO

N 3
6T

H 
ST

SU
N 

VA
LL

EY
 D

R

WENDY OAKS DR

RO
BIN

 R
D

ROSELLE DR

DRAPER DR

E AV E N

IRO
N G

AT

E DR

NA
PL

ES
 D

R

BRY SO

N DR

WILSHIRE DR

CORDOVA DR

FA
WN

MEADOWS DR

LA
S C

OL
I N

AS
DR

CA
DDO

ROAD 13

HUNTINGTON DR

KANSAS AVE

IDAHO AVE

WE ST
WAY

DR

ROAD 8

CHURCH ST

WI
LD

WO
OD

BULLSEYE LN

VA
N 

DY
CK

 D
R

BELL DR

EV
ER

GR
EE

N 
FA

RM
 D

R

E STATE HIGHWAY 36
N 1

9T
H 

ST

COVENTRY DR

E AVE F

W OAKLAND AVE

ELK TRL

PAINTBRUSH LN

BROKEN SHOE TRL

BRAZOS
DR

AMBER
DAW

N
DR

E LAMAR AVE

WA
L N

UT
R D

OTTOWAY DR

STONEHAM

DONS TRL

E MARVIN R FELDER DR

FAIRWAY DR

DEEP DR

PU
MP

KIN
 D

R

LAGO TERRA BLVD

IROQUOIS TRL

DAISY LN

CREEKVIEW TRL

SAN JACINTO RD

SAGEBRUSH DR

CRYSTAL DR

W YOUNG AVE

SYCAMORE ST

ARIZONA

DUDLEYS DRAW DR

STATION RD

KINGSBURY DR

BIRCH BLVD

BROOKHAVEN DR

PA
LO

MI
NO

 D
R

SILVER STONE DR

MA
RK

HA
M

DR

W BLACKLAND RD

S 3
8T

H 
ST

DEWBERRY LN

BIG TIMBER
DR

MA
RIAM DR

WOODBURY DR

ARROWHEAD

D R

CALVIN DR

FERRARA CIR

NEUBERRYCLI FFE

BIRD C REEK TER

LAS CIENEGA BLVD

N 49TH ST
TRADE PL

DE
VIN

 D
R

S 1
3T

H 
ST

SANDSTONE DR

MICHAELS DR

S 3
6T

H 
ST

BR
EW

ST
ER

 R
D

KATHY DR

S 4
0T

H 
ST

WICKERSHAM DR

WICKER DR

LIBERTY DR

SH
EL

TO
N 

DR

S K
NO

B S
T

WE
ST

ER
N 

WA
Y

BL
UE

 JA
Y D

R

FO
XT

AIL

TW
EL

VE
OA

KS
DR

GRAND
AV

E

TAYLORS DR

COUNTRY VIEW LN

E VICTORY AVE

BU
RN

HA
M 

DR

MI
LA

N 
CT

EDGEWOOD LN

CH
EV

Y CIR

COLE PORTER DR

N 43RD ST

WILDCAT DR

N 41ST ST

E OAKLAND AVE

BLUEBONNET LN

W SHELL AVE

WEEPING WILLOW DR

TRAILVIEW DR

INCA D OVE DR

VISTA VALLEY DR

LAGO DEL NORTE DR

FOS SIL CREEK DR
GRANITE DR

PE
NR

OS
E L

N

W BELLAIRE NORTH

E ELM AVE

WIND CHIME WAY

SARAH 'SWAY

SW UTILITY DR

EX
CH

AN
GE

 PL

DAV
IS LN

PAPPUS CT

VALLEY FORGE AVE

FOX GLEN LN

ANDY LN

MEADOW WOOD DR

BU
ZZ

I C
T

LAKE WHITNEY DR

ALAMO CT

NORTHGATE LOOP

N 1
0T

H 
ST

E AVE M

VIC
TO

RI
AN

 D
R

FAWN TRLBENBROOK CT

LILLY CIR

KELLY DR

RIVER HILLS CT

HONEYSUCKLE DR

MENDOZA CIR

TICONDEROGA DR

DAN IELS DR

STONEHOLLOW DR

BUCKEYE LN

WEST RIDGE BLVD

FAL CON DR

ROS EMARY LN

TANGLEHEAD DR

KYLE DR

ER ATH DR

GALLETA CT

WINDSONG LN

MARKET PL

JU
NI

PE
R 

DR
JA

ME
ST

OW
N 

DR

FU
TU

RE
 KI

MI
 LN

W AVE Q

WE
ST

 CA
MP

US
 DR

POPLAR RD

S FRYE RS CREEK CIR

LILAC LN

HOPE ST

GEORGE DR

BROKEN SPOKE DR

CA
LL

E N
OG

AL

LIBER T Y HILL

BASHAW LOOP

PAUL REVERE ST

IGLESIA LN

W AVE O

N 2
4T

H 
ST

ST
ON

EB
RO

OK
 D

R

GE
RO

NIM
O 

DR

N 3
4T

H 
ST

HANSOM CAB DR

WO
OD

 C
RE

EK
 D

R

MARDEAN LN

EL
K C

RE
EK

 ST

OPEN PRAIRIE DR

CO
NN

OR
 D

R

E L CAPIT AN
DR

ALAMOSA LN

FO
WL

ER
 R

D

PARNELL DR

BOBCAT TRL

DUVAL CT

SMOCK MILL LN

COW PAGE CT

LU
NA

 LN

RAMCON DR

MALL DR

NW H K DODGEN LOOP

WILLOW RD

BLUEGRASS CT

TWILIGHT DR

N 2
9T

H 
ST

N 2
5T

H 
ST

TRISTAN LN

N 2
2N

D 
ST

E NUGENT AVE

HEMLOCK CT

TR
OY

 ST

FANTAIL LN

SO
UT

HW
OO

D 
DR

PRIVATE

PRCIN LN

CHADEL ST

CASLER CIR

BR
IG

HT
 LN

LA
RK

SP
UR

 LN

WAL-MART DR

IRIS CIR

BL
UE

ST
EM

 C
T

MI
ST

Y L
N

SADDLE BROOK DR

FALLEN LEAF LN

MONTSCOTIA LN

BOWIE CT

W XAVIER AVE

WILSON PL

S H
EN

DE
RS

ON
 ST

TAYLOR`S VALLEY RD

HO
PI 

CI
R

RIVERSIDE TRL

FR
AN

K W
EIS

E B
LV

D

ST
ON

EH
ILL

 C
T

GUNBARREL DR

E CALHOUN AVE

W VICTORY AVE

S 30TH ST

W AVE J

E AVE N

LU
NA

 LN

E FRENCH AVE

S 3
3R

D 
ST

S 5
5T

H 
ST

W PARK AVE

S 4
1S

T S
T

E AVE E

N 2
ND

 ST

SCOT T&WH ITEBLV D

LINW OOD RD

N I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

S 11TH ST

BR
EW

ST
ER

 R
D

S 7
TH

 ST

S 3
RD

 ST

W AVE E

W SHELL AVE

W AVE A

W AVE N

E AVE D

S 5
5T

H 
ST

W AVE O

S 4
1S

T S
T

W WALKER AVE

S 9
TH

 ST

W AVE G

S 5
TH

 ST

W AVE K

W CALHOUN AVE

S 1
2T

H 
ST

N MAIN
ST

W AVE U

E AVE M

S 3
9T

H 
ST

N 4
3R

D S
T

S GENERAL B
RU

CE
DR

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

RED BUD RD

CANYON CREEK DR

NW H K DODGEN LOOP

S 5
TH

 ST

S 2
0T

H 
ST

N 1
1T

H S
T

W AVE T

FOREST TRL

W AVE G

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

S 5
3R

D 
ST

POISON OAK RD

S 3
7T

H 
ST

N 1
0T

H 
ST

N 7
TH

 ST

N PEA RIDGE RD

S 1
3T

H 
ST

S P
EA

 R
IDG

E R
D

W AVE J

E IRVIN AVE

N 2
ND

 ST

W AVE P

CANYON CREEK DR

W AVE J

N 1
8T

H 
ST

S GENERAL BRUCE DR

E AVE K

S 2
ND

 ST

S 4
7T

H 
ST

N 4
TH

 ST

W
ES

TF
IEL

D
BL

VD

N
15TH

ST

E AVE B

N 1
1T

H S
T

NW
H

K D
OD

GE
N

LO
OP

STONEHOLLOW DR

S 49T
H ST

E AVE M

W AVE R

S 1
7T

H 
ST

N 1
ST

 ST

N
15 TH

ST

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

E AVE N

S 2
1S

T S
T

W AVE K

S 2
2N

D 
ST

<Null>

PR
IVA

TE
 DR

S 5
3R

D 
ST

W AVE K

S 2
0T

H 
ST

S 4
5T

H 
ST

E MUNROE AVE

S 3
3R

D 
ST

S 1
3T

H 
ST

W AVE D

S 2
1S

T S
T

HIL
LIA

RD
 R

D E CALHOUN AVE

W AVE B

E AVE H

S 4
TH

 ST

E SHELL AVE

S 5
1S

T S
T

E AVE F

N G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

N
12TH

ST

N 1
3T

H 
ST

LAVENDUSKY DR

AZALEA DR

N 2
2N

D 
ST

W AVE T

W AVE V

S 6
TH

 ST

GU
N 

CL
UB

 R
D

W AVE K

S I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

E AVE N

N 1
4T

H 
ST

E AVE F

S 4
TH

 ST

W AVE C

E AVE E

N 5
TH

 ST

S 4
9T

H 
ST

S 2
3R

D 
ST

E BLACKLAND RD

N G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

W NUGENT AVE

S
61

ST
ST

N 1
8T

H 
ST

N 9
TH

 ST

E AVE D

S 5
7T

H 
ST

S K
NO

B S
T

Ü0 1.5 30.75 Miles
GIS products are for informational purposes and 
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for 
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They 
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and 
represent only the approximate relative location 
of property boundaries and other features.

Payday Lenders

Thoroughfare Plan
Expressway

Major Arterial

Proposed Major Arterial

Production.SDE.BellCoCenterlines

Railroad

Possible Future Locations

1000 Ft. Buffer of Current Lender Locations

Temple Parcels

CurrentZoning
HI - CUP

UE

UE - PD

SF-1

SF-1 - CUP

SF-1 - PD

SF-2

SF-2 - PD

SF-3

SF-3 - PD

SF-3 - CUP, PD

SFA

SFA-2

SFA-2 - PD

SFA-3

SFA-3 - PD

2F

2F - CUP

2F - PD

MF-1

MF-1 - CUP

MF-1 - PD

MF-2

MF-2 - CUP

MF-2 - PD

MF-3 - PD

O-1

O-1 - CUP

O-1 - PD

O-2

O-2 - CUP

O-2 - PD

NS

NS - CUP

NS - PD

NS - CUP, PD

GR

GR - CUP

GR - PD

GR - CUP, PD

CA

CA - CUP

CA - PD

C

C - CUP

C - PD

C - CUP, PD

LI

LI - CUP

LI - PD

LI - CUP, PD

HI

HI - PD

AG

AG - CUP

AG - PD

MH

MH - CUP

MH - PD

MU

MU - CUP

SD-C

SD-C - CUP

SD-H

SD-H - CUP

SD-T

SD-V

T4

T4 - PD

T4 - CUP

T5-C

T5-C - CUP

T5-C - PD

T5-E

T5-E - CUP

T5-E - PD

NO BASE

CUP

PD

Production.SDE.MunicipalBoundary

Payday Lender Locations
(without 200' Residential Buffer)



W FM 93

W ADAMS AVE

AIRPORT RD

S 3
1S

T S
T

S I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

N I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

S 5
TH

 ST

W AVE L

PE
GA

SU
S D

R

W AVE M

E AVE H

ST
AT

E H
IG

HW
AY

 31
7

W AVE R

AIR
PO

RT
 TR

L

OLD
 HOWAR

D RD

W AVE H

S G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

S 1
ST

 ST
N 1

ST
 ST

S K
EG

LE
Y R

D

E ADAMS AVE

NE H K DODGEN LOOP

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

CHAR
TE

R OAK D
R

OL
D 

WA
CO

 R
D

N 1
3T

H 
ST

N G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

N 1
5T

H 
ST

SE
 H

 K 
DO

DG
EN

 LO
OP

E AVE C

WE
ND

LA
ND

 R
D

S 1
1T

H 
ST

S 2
5T

H 
ST

W AVE IS 1
5T

H 
ST

N 7
TH

 ST

FM
 22

71

S 2
4T

H 
ST

E AVE B

MOORES MILL RD

W NUGENT AVE

LO
WE

S D
R

S 9
TH

 ST

E AVE A

MIDWAY DR

MOUSER RD

E YOUNG AVE

N 3
RD

 ST

HIC
KO

RY
 R

D

N M
AIN

 ST

TARVER DR

HOGAN RD

CE
AR

LE
Y R

D

INDUSTRIAL BLVD

S 4
3R

D 
ST

N 5
TH

 ST

EB
ER

HA
RD

T R
D

W AVE P

S5
7T

H
ST

N 8
TH

 ST

S 1
9T

H 
ST

HILLIARD RD

W AVE D

PRAIRIE VIEW RD

W AVE F

S M
AIN

 ST

CEDAR CREEK RD

N 1
1T

H S
T

W AVE G

HA
RT

RI
CK

BL
UF

F R
D

SCOTT BLVD

LO
WE

R T
RO

Y R
D

N 3
1S

T S
T

S 7
TH

 ST

S 3
5T

H 
ST

S 3
7T

H 
ST

W CENTRAL AVE

S 3
3R

D 
ST

N 1
4T

H 
ST

RA
NG

E R
D

S 2
ND

 ST

N 9
TH

 ST

N 6
TH

 ST
S 4

TH
 ST S M

AR
TIN

 LU
TH

ER
 KI

NG
 JR

 D
R

E DOWNS AVE

MARLANDWOOD RD

RO
AD

 5

N 4
TH

 ST

S 3
0T

H 
ST

N 4
2N

D 
ST

E AVE D

ST
AR

LIG
HT

 D
R

FOREST TRL

HOPI TRL

LU
CI

US
 M

CC
EL

VE
Y D

R

W AVE J

RID
GE

WA
Y

KELLER RD

WILD BOYS RUN

S 6
TH

 ST S 3
4T

H 
ST

STRATFORD DR

ANTELOPE TRL

S 2
6T

H 
ST

N 1
2T

H 
ST

N K
EG

LE
Y R

D

CASE RD

WEST FIELD
BLVD

MCLANE PKWY

W AVE A

S 1
7T

H 
ST

TOWER RD

N 1
6T

H 
ST

S 1
8T

H 
ST

RO
AD

 1

S P
EA

 R
IDG

E R
D

ER
IE

DR

ST
ON

EH
AV

EN
 D

R

N P
EA

 R
ID

GE
 R

D

S 5
1S

T S
T

S 2
3R

D 
ST

W AVE C

DA
IR

Y R
D

PECAN DR

N 5
0T

H 
ST

SHALLO
W

FO
RD RD

S 1
4T

H 
ST

LITTLE MEXICO RD

OL
AF

 D
R

DEER TRL
ADAMS LN

CENTRAL POINTE PKWY

CA
NY

ON CREEK DR

S 1
0T

H 
ST

2 0
5L

OO
P

E FRENCH AVE

SAULSBURY DR

S4 9TH
ST

S4 7TH
ST

S 2
2N

D 
ST

W AVE Z

EA STDR

JUPITER DR

N 2
3R

D 
ST

W AVE B

E BLACKLAND RD

SLOUGH DR

BR
OO

KS
 D

R

N 2
ND

 ST

E CENTRAL AVE

FM 2483

W STATE HIGHWAY 36

HEMLOCK BLVD

HERITAGE

HILLCREST RD

S 2
9T

H 
ST

BIR DC RE E K DR

ORION DR

FILLY LN

W KING AVE

E SHELL AVE

S 2
7T

H 
ST

WATERS DAIRY RD

E AVE I

S 5
5T

H S
T

AZALEA DR

SUNFLOWER LN

S 2
0T

H 
ST

ELM DR

TRINO RD

WILSONART DR

LARK TRL

S 2
1S

T S
T

BA
TT

LE

DR

OAK HILLS DR

BU
CK

SK
IN

TR
L

WHITE OAK DR

EVERTON DR

COTTONWOOD LNOA
KD

AL
E D

R

W AVE T

W IRVIN AVE

N 2
1S

T S
T

E AVE J

SHALLOW
FORD

W
ESTRD

S 4
5T

H 
ST

HONEYSUCKLE

WILDFLOWER LN

WHISPERING OAKS

E HOUSTON AVE

PASEO DEL PLATA

PIN OAK DR

S WHITEHA LL RD

MILLER SPRING RD

ROAD 8A

CE
NT

ER
 ST

S 61S
T ST

E AVE G

TRAILRIDGE DR

PEPPER CREEK RD

CE
DA

R 
LN

ST
AG

EC
OA

CH
TR

L

E AVE K

ERMINE TRL

KACIE DR

CO
AS

TA
L D

R

W AVE N

ME
AD

OW
OA

KS
DR

RIC
HLAND

DR

W FRENCH AVE

OS
AG

E

W ELM AVE

N 2
0T

H 
ST

C HISHOLM TRL

H K ALLEN PKWY

S T
ER

RA
CE

 ST

THORNTON LN

FAIR HILL DR

S C
ED

AR
 R

D

ENTERPRISE RD

OA
KL

AW
N

DR

MAGNOLIA BLVD

PIM
A

SCOTT & WHITEBLVD

L INWO OD RD

KAREY DR

W HOUSTON AVE

S 1
2T

H 
ST

COLE AVE

W ILD B UC
K RUN

WREN RD

KTON RD

S3RD
ST

MOFFAT RD

LIONS PARK DR

TU
RL

EY
DR

LAKEWOOD DR

E KILLEN LN

W AVE E

VENUS DR

SKYVIEW

KIM
I L

N

KA
SB

ER
G 

DR

LAKE POINTE DR

LAS MORAS DR

E IRVIN AVE

LIT
TL

E R
IVE

R 
RD

WINCHESTER DR

W DOWNS AVE

HANCOCK DR

GILA TRL

BUFFALO TRL

W GARFIELD AVE

N 1
7T

H 
ST

S 1
6T

H 
ST

GU
N C

LU
B RD

E ZENITH AVE

PA RK
WAY

DR

FA
WN

 LI
LY

 DR

TAYLORS VALLEY RD

ALEXANDRIA DR

RICKEY DR

W AVE K

E AVE E

BROOK
LA

WN
DR

OLYMPIA DR

TWIN OAKS DR

E MUNROE AVE

BUTTERFLY DR

ALABAMA AVE

BRIAR CLIFF RD

LONG HO RN
T RL

ALASKA AVE

RIDGEVIEW DR

LORRAINE AVE

BELLMONT

S 2
8T

H 
ST

BUNKER HILL DR

DEERFIELD DR

W AVE V

LAVENDUSKY DR

RAVEN DR

SLEEPY HOLLOW LN

TEXAS

ROBINHOOD DR

SU
GA

R
B R

OO
KD

R

FOX TRL

SW
 W

ES
T L

OO
P

W BARTON AVE

MAR KET L OOP

E UPSHAW AVE

WAGON TRL

W ROYAL AVE

SKYLINE DR

INVERNESS RD
PEANUTDR

PRIVATE DR

CH
EY

EN
NE

DR

ROAD
10

WILLIAMS DR

BRIDGEPORT DR

REDBRUSH

CO
MM

ER
CE

 ST

TW
IN

 C
ITY

 BL
VD

WI
TT

ER
 LN

RO
AD

 3A

STARVIEW ST

FIKES DR

NORTH POINT RD

DA
KO

TA
DR

E XAVIER AVE

BECKER DR
HAWTHORN

KI N G CIR

BURLINGTON

OLD WACO LN

BAKER BLVD

S 41ST ST

W AVE U

SUNSET TRL

STADIUM RD

IRA YOUNG DR

PA
ND

A D
R

OA
KV

IEW
 D

R

CA
LL

E R
OB

LE

EAST RI
DG

E BLV
D

ROAD 7

SHA
DY HILL DR

<Null>

GREENV IE W DR

BRANDON DR

WI
ND

CL
IFF

 D
R

KENDRA DR

SW SOUTH LOOP

E WALKER AVE

W CALHOUN AVE

KEVIN DR

EA

GLE R D
SIO

UX

N 1
8T

H 
ST

HART RD

WEATHERFORD DR

SAGE MEADOW DR

PARKSIDE DR

JO
HN

PA
U L

JO
NE

S D
R

DOVELN

DUKE DR

STAND REWS PL

SW
E A

ST
LO

OP

BOWIE TRL

VA LLEYV IEW
DR

LO
OP D

R

HOPKINS DR

GI
LL

ME
IST

ER
 LN

RO
AD

 4

C RYER LN

CH
ER

IN
G 

DR

E BARTON AVE

WAHLE LN

POISON OAK RD

A SPEN TRL

ALAMO TRL

LAUREL RIDGE

TUCSON

DR

BR
UT

US
 LN

W PARK AVE

DO
GW

OO
D 

LN

CROCKER DR

AM
BR

OS
E C

IR

O KLAH

OMA

S 39TH ST

PECOS DR

CARR IAGEHOUS E
DR

W KILLEN LN

RESEARCH LOOP

S 5
3R

D 
ST

LAN DFI L L RD

FOXHILL RD

GENE ST

EMERALD
GATEDR

ME
AD

OW
BR

OO
K D

R

FIELDSTONE DR

J I
 BR

UC
E D

R

MISTY PINE DR

AS
H LN

RED BUD RD

LIG
HT

NE
R 

LNHILLSIDE DR

TA
NG

LE
WO

OD RD

CREASEY DR
W WELTON AVE

W ZENITH AVE

MAYB ORN DR

OAKR ID GE DR

FREEDOM DR

SU
ND

AN
CE

 D
R

MO
RG

AN
S P

OI
NT

 R
D

VIL
LA

GE
 W

AY

EAGLE LANDING DR

S 32ND
ST

W UPSHAW AVE

CARNATION LN

STANFORD DR

BERGER RD

TIMBER RIDGE DR

FR
IEN

DS
HI

P L
N

SUMAC
DR

RUGGLES LOOP

TENNESSEE

GU
Y D

R

RA
LE

IG
H 

DR

AS
CO

T PKWY

IOWA AVE

MONTANA DR

N C
ED

AR
 R

D

P A RKDALE DR

OX
FO

RD
DR

PULLMAN PLACE BLVD

W WALKER AVE

PHOENIXDR

W AVE S

FA

NNIN LOOP

BRIDGEPOINTE DR

LAWNWOOD DR

MITCHELL DR

BOX CANYON DR

DODGE DR

GEORGIA AVE

WHITER OCK DR

W VIRGINIA AVE

DUSTYLN

MA
DI

SO
N

N 2
7T

H 
ST

BLUE MEADOW DR

PASEO DEL ORO

N 3
6T

H 
ST

WENDY OAKS DR

RO
BIN

 R
D

ROSELLE DR

DRAPER DR

E AV E N

IRO
N G

AT

E DR

NA
PL

ES
 D

R

BRY SO

N DR

WILSHIRE DR

CORDOVA DR

FA
WN

MEADOWS DR

LA
S C

OL
I N

AS
DR

CA
DDO

ROAD 13

HUNTINGTON DR

KANSAS AVE

IDAHO AVE

WE ST
WAY

DR

ROAD 8

CHURCH ST

WI
LD

WO
OD

BULLSEYE LN

VA
N 

DY
CK

 D
R

BELL DR

EV
ER

GR
EE

N 
FA

RM
 D

R

E STATE HIGHWAY 36

N 1
9T

H 
ST

COVENTRY DR

E AVE F

W OAKLAND AVE

ELK TRL

PAINTBRUSH LN

BROKEN SHOE TRL

BRAZOS
DR

AMBER
DAW N

DR

E LAMAR AVE

WA
L N

UT
R D

OTTOWAY DR

STONEHAM

DONS TRL

E MARVIN R FELDER DR

FAIRWAY DR

DEEP DR

PU
MP

KIN
 D

R

LAGO TERRA BLVD

IROQUOIS TRL

DAISY LN

CREEKVIEW TRL

SAN JACINTO RD

SAGEBRUSH DR

CRYSTAL DR

W YOUNG AVE

SYCAMORE ST

ARIZONA

DUDLEYS DRAW DR

STATION RD

KINGSBURY DR

BIRCH BLVD

BROOKHAVEN DR

PA
LO

MI
NO

 D
R

SILVER STONE DR

MA
RK

HA
M

DR
W BLACKLAND RD

S 3
8T

H 
ST

DEWBERRY LN

BIG TIMBER
DR

MA
RIAM DR

WOODBURY DR

ARROWHEAD

D R

CALVIN DR

FERRARA CIR

NEUBERRYCLI FFE

BIRD C REEK TER

LAS CIENEGA BLVD

N 49TH ST
TRADE PL

DE
VIN

 D
R

S 1
3T

H 
ST

SANDSTONE DR

MICHAELS DR

S 3
6T

H 
ST

BR
EW

ST
ER

 R
D

KATHY DR

S 4
0T

H 
ST

WICKERSHAM DR

WICKER DR

LIBERTY DR

SH
EL

TO
N 

DR

S K
NO

B S
T

WE
ST

ER
N 

WA
Y

BL
UE

 JA
Y D

R

FO
XT

AIL

TW
EL

VE
OA

KS
DR

GRAND
AV

E

TAYLORS DR

COUNTRY VIEW LN

E VICTORY AVE

BU
RN

HA
M 

DR

MI
LA

N 
CT

EDGEWOOD LN

CH
EV

Y CIR

COLE PORTER DR

N 43RD ST

WILDCAT DR

N 41ST ST

E OAKLAND AVE

BLUEBONNET LN

W SHELL AVE

WEEPING WILLOW DR

TRAILVIEW DR

INCA D OVE DR

VISTA VALLEY DR

LAGO DEL NORTE DR

FOS SIL CREEK DR

GRANITE DR

PE
NR

OS
E L

N

W BELLAIRE NORTH

E ELM AVE

WIND CHIME WAY

SARAH 'SWAY

SW UTILITY DR
EX

CH
AN

GE
 PL

DAV
IS LN

PAPPUS CT

VALLEY FORGE AVE

FOX GLEN LN

ANDY LN

MEADOW WOOD DR

BU
ZZ

I C
T

LAKE WHITNEY DR

ALAMO CT

NORTHGATE LOOP

N 1
0T

H 
ST

E AVE M

VIC
TO

RI
AN

 D
R

FAWN TRLBENBROOK CT

LILLY CIR

KELLY DR

RIVER HILLS CT

HONEYSUCKLE DR

MENDOZA CIR

TICONDEROGA DR

DAN IELS DR

STONEHOLLOW DR

BUCKEYE LN

WEST RIDGE BLVD

FAL CON DR

ROS EMARY LN

TANGLEHEAD DR

KYLE DR

ER ATH DR

VALLEY RANCH DR

GALLETA CT

WINDSONG LN

MARKET PL

JU
NI

PE
R 

DR
JA

ME
ST

OW
N 

DR

FU
TU

RE
 KI

MI
 LN

W AVE Q

WE
ST

 CA
MP

US
 DR

POPLAR RD

S FRYE RS CREEK CIR

LILAC LN

HOPE ST

GEORGE DR

BROKEN SPOKE DR

CA
LL

E N
OG

AL

LIBER T Y HILL

BASHAW LOOP

PAUL REVERE ST

IGLESIA LN

W AVE O

N 2
4T

H 
ST

ST
ON

EB
RO

OK
 D

R

GE
RO

NIM
O 

DR

N 3
4T

H 
ST

HANSOM CAB DR

WO
OD

 C
RE

EK
 D

R

MARDEAN LN

EL
K C

RE
EK

 ST

OPEN PRAIRIE DR

CO
NN

OR
 D

R

E L CAPIT AN
DR

ALAMOSA LN

FO
WL

ER
 R

D

PARNELL DR

BOBCAT TRL

DUVAL CT

SMOCK MILL LN

COW PAGE CT

LU
NA

 LN

RAMCON DR

MALL DR

NW H K DODGEN LOOP

WILLOW RD

BLUEGRASS CT

TWILIGHT DR

N 2
9T

H 
ST

N 2
5T

H 
ST

TRISTAN LN

N 2
2N

D 
ST

E NUGENT AVE

HEMLOCK CT

TR
OY

 ST

FANTAIL LN

SO
UT

HW
OO

D 
DR

PRIVATE

PRCIN LN

CHADEL ST

CASLER CIR

BR
IG

HT
 LN

LA
RK

SP
UR

 LN

WAL-MART DR

IRIS CIR

BL
UE

ST
EM

 C
T

MI
ST

Y L
N

SADDLE BROOK DR

FALLEN LEAF LN

MONTSCOTIA LN

BOWIE CT

W XAVIER AVE

WILSON PL

S H
EN

DE
RS

ON
 ST

TAYLOR`S VALLEY RD

HO
PI 

CI
R

RIVERSIDE TRL

FR
AN

K W
EIS

E B
LV

D

ST
ON

EH
ILL

 C
T

GUNBARREL DR

E CALHOUN AVE

W VICTORY AVE

S 30TH ST

W AVE J

E AVE N

LU
NA

 LN

E FRENCH AVE

S 3
3R

D 
ST

S 5
5T

H 
ST

W PARK AVE

S 4
1S

T S
T

E AVE E

N 2
ND

 ST

SCOT T&WH ITEBLV D

LINW OOD RD

N I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

S 11TH ST

BR
EW

ST
ER

 R
D

S 7
TH

 ST

S 3
RD

 ST

W AVE E

W SHELL AVE

W AVE A

W AVE N

E AVE D

S 5
5T

H 
ST

W AVE O

S 4
1S

T S
T

W WALKER AVE

S 9
TH

 ST

W AVE G

S 5
TH

 ST

W AVE K

W CALHOUN AVE

S 1
2T

H 
ST

N MAIN
ST

W AVE U

E AVE M

S 3
9T

H 
ST

N 4
3R

D S
T

S GENERAL B
RU

CE
DR

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

RED BUD RD

CANYON CREEK DR

NW H K DODGEN LOOP

S 5
TH

 ST

S 2
0T

H 
ST

N 1
1T

H S
T

W AVE T

FOREST TRL

W AVE G

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

S 5
3R

D 
ST

POISON OAK RD

S 3
7T

H 
ST

N 1
0T

H 
ST

N 7
TH

 ST

N PEA RIDGE RD

S 1
3T

H 
ST

S P
EA

 R
IDG

E R
D

W AVE J

E IRVIN AVE

N 2
ND

 ST

W AVE P

CANYON CREEK DR

W AVE J

N 1
8T

H 
ST

S GENERAL BRUCE DR

E AVE K

S 2
ND

 ST

S 4
7T

H 
ST

N 4
TH

 ST

WE
ST

FIE
L D

BL
VD

N
15TH

ST

E AVE B

N 1
1T

H S
T

NW
H

K D
OD

GE
N

LO
OP

STONEHOLLOW DR

S 49T
H ST

E AVE M

W AVE R

S 1
7T

H 
ST

N 1
ST

 ST

N
15 TH

ST

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

E AVE N

S 2
1S

T S
T

W AVE K

S 2
2N

D 
ST

<Null>

PR
IVA

TE
 DR

S 5
3R

D 
ST

W AVE K

S 2
0T

H 
ST

S 4
5T

H 
ST

E MUNROE AVE

S 3
3R

D 
ST

S 1
3T

H 
ST

W AVE D

S 2
1S

T S
T

HIL
LIA

RD
 R

D E CALHOUN AVE

W AVE B

E AVE H

S 4
TH

 ST

E SHELL AVE

S 5
1S

T S
T

E AVE F

N G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

N
12TH

ST

N 1
3T

H 
ST

LAVENDUSKY DR

AZALEA DR

N 2
2N

D 
ST

W AVE T

W AVE V

S 6
TH

 ST

GU
N 

CL
UB

 R
D

W AVE K

S I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

E AVE N

N 1
4T

H 
ST

E AVE F

S 4
TH

 ST

W AVE C

E AVE E

N 5
TH

 ST

S 4
9T

H 
ST

S 2
3R

D 
ST

E BLACKLAND RD

N G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

W NUGENT AVE

S
61

ST
ST

N 1
8T

H 
ST

N 9
TH

 ST

E AVE D

S 5
7T

H 
ST

S K
NO

B S
T

Ü0 1.5 30.75 Miles
GIS products are for informational purposes and 
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for 
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They 
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and 
represent only the approximate relative location 
of property boundaries and other features.

PossibleFutureLocations

Payday Lenders

Thoroughfare Plan
Expressway

Major Arterial

Proposed Major Arterial

Production.SDE.BellCoCenterlines

Railroad

1000 Ft. Buffer of Current Lender Locations

Temple Parcels

CurrentZoning
HI - CUP

UE

UE - PD

SF-1

SF-1 - CUP

SF-1 - PD

SF-2

SF-2 - PD

SF-3

SF-3 - PD

SF-3 - CUP, PD

SFA

SFA-2

SFA-2 - PD

SFA-3

SFA-3 - PD

2F

2F - CUP

2F - PD

MF-1

MF-1 - CUP

MF-1 - PD

MF-2

MF-2 - CUP

MF-2 - PD

MF-3 - PD

O-1

O-1 - CUP

O-1 - PD

O-2

O-2 - CUP

O-2 - PD

NS

NS - CUP

NS - PD

NS - CUP, PD

GR

GR - CUP

GR - PD

GR - CUP, PD

CA

CA - CUP

CA - PD

C

C - CUP

C - PD

C - CUP, PD

LI

LI - CUP

LI - PD

LI - CUP, PD

HI

HI - PD

AG

AG - CUP

AG - PD

MH

MH - CUP

MH - PD

MU

MU - CUP

SD-C

SD-C - CUP

SD-H

SD-H - CUP

SD-T

SD-V

T4

T4 - PD

T4 - CUP

T5-C

T5-C - CUP

T5-C - PD

T5-E

T5-E - CUP

T5-E - PD

NO BASE

CUP

PD

Production.SDE.MunicipalBoundary

Payday Lender Locations
(with 200' Residential Buffer)



City Regulation of Payday and Auto Title Lenders   

November 11, 2015
On October 30, the Office of Consumer Credit Commissioner (OCCC) published proposed 
administrative rules in the Texas Register regarding some aspects of payday and auto title 
lending. Among other things, the proposed rules outline: (1) the factors the OCCC will consider 
when reviewing criminal history information and grounds for denial, suspension, and revocation 
of a credit access business license; (2) OCC’s examination and investigation authority 
regarding credit access businesses; and (3) the recordkeeping requirements applicable to 
credit access businesses. 

Interested cities can review the proposed rules here
(http://www.sos.state.tx.us/texreg/archive/October302015/Proposed%20Rules/7.BANKING%
20AND%20SECURITIES.html#31).

Comments on the proposal may be submitted to in writing to Laurie Hobbs, Assistant General 
Counsel, Office of Consumer Credit Commissioner, 2601 North Lamar Boulevard, Austin, 
Texas 78705-4207 or by email to laurie.hobbs@occc.texas.gov
(mailto:laurie.hobbs@occc.texas.gov). To be considered, a written comment must be received 
at or before 5:00 p.m. on November 30, 2015.

August 12, 2015
On August 11, 2015, Corpus Christi became the 26 Texas city to adopt business regulations 
governing payday and auto title lenders.  The ordinance will be effective 90 days from 
passage.  During the weeks preceding the city’s adoption of the ordinance, the Consumer 
Service Alliance of Texas (CSAT), the statewide trade association for credit access businesses 
in Texas, made numerous comments on the city’s actions.

CSAT pointed out that the federal Consumer Finance Protection Bureau (CFPB) has made 
public their proposed rules (http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/cfpb-considers-
proposal-to-end-payday-debt-traps/) for short term consumer lending across the country. 
 CSAT claimed in an email to the city that the ordinance (which is the example provided at the 
bottom of this page) “would be in direct conflict with many of the provisions being considered by 
the CFPB, and would make you the first city (to my knowledge) in Texas to adopt this flawed 
and capricious ordinance.”  In response, Corpus Christi Mayor Nelda Martinez stated that 
“many people who take out these loans get trapped and end up losing everything, it sets them 
up for failure. We are going to protect those who we were elected to protect.”  The CSAT 
comments and the city’s response are available here (/p/Corpus%20Christi%20CSAT%
20comment%20letter%20and%20City%20response.pdf).

To the best of TML’s knowledge, the following cities have enacted “business regulations” over 
payday lenders that are similar to the example ordinance available from TML:  

th

Page 1 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



1. Austin
2. Amarillo
3. Angleton
4. Balcones Heights
5. Baytown
6. Bellaire
7. Bryan
8. Brownsville
9. College Station

10. Corpus Christi
11. Dallas
12. Denton
13. Dickinson
14. El Paso
15. Flower Mound
16. Galveston
17. Garland
18. Houston
19. Midland
20. Pharr
21. San Antonio
22. Sequin
23. Somerset
24. South Houston
25. Universal City
26. West University Place
27. Willis 

The following cities have enacted land use regulations:   

1. Austin
2. Belton
3. Brownsville
4. Bryan
5. Corinth
6. Farmers Branch
7. Garland
8. Irving
9. Little Elm

10. Mesquite
11. Missouri City
12. Richardson
13. Sachse
14. Saginaw 
15. Watauga 

The following cities have enacted a resolution calling on the legislature to leave municipal 

Page 2 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



authority in place:   

1. Lubbock
2. Somerset

June 12, 2015

On June 4, the Fort Worth Court of Appeals issued a memorandum opinion in the case of Ace 
Cash Express, Inc. v. City of Denton.  Ace Cash Express claimed that Denton’s ordinance 
(which is essentially the same as the example available on this page) overwhelmed customers, 
increased default rates, caused a significant decrease in revenue, and could lead to the closure 
of at least one of its two Denton locations. It sought an injunction and declaratory judgment that 
the ordinance exceeded Denton’s police power, violated due process, and exceeded the city’s 
constitutional authority.  The court disagreed, holding for the city on all claims.  The opinion is 
available under “Denton” on the Lawsuit Pleadings (/payday-lawsuit-pleadings) page.

May 1, 2015

To the best of TML’s knowledge, the following cities have enacted “business regulations” over 
payday lenders that are similar to the example ordinance available from TML:  

1. Austin
2. Amarillo
3. Angleton
4. Balcones Heights
5. Baytown
6. Bellaire
7. Bryan
8. Brownsville
9. College Station

10. Dallas
11. Denton
12. Dickinson
13. El Paso
14. Flower Mound
15. Galveston
16. Garland
17. Houston
18. Midland
19. San Antonio
20. Sequin
21. Somerset
22. South Houston
23. Universal City
24. West University Place

Page 3 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



25. Willis 

The following cities have enacted land use regulations: 

1. Belton
2. Brownsville
3. Bryan
4. Corinth
5. Farmers Branch
6. Garland
7. Irving
8. Little Elm
9. Mesquite

10. Missouri City
11. Richardson
12. Sachse
13. Saginaw 
14. Watauga

The following cities have enacted a resolution calling on the legislature to leave municipal 
authority in place: 

1. Lubbock
2. Somerset

If your city has adopted regulations and is not shown on this list, please email Scott 
Houston, TML general counsel, at shouston@tml.org (mailto:shouston@tml.org).

September 17, 2014, Update

To the best of TML’s knowledge, the following cities have enacted “business regulations” over 
payday lenders that are similar to the example ordinance available from TML:  

1. Austin
2. Amarillo
3. Balcones Heights
4. Baytown
5. Bellaire
6. Bryan
7. College Station
8. Dallas
9. Denton

10. Dickinson
11. El Paso
12. Flower Mound
13. Galveston
14. Garland
15. Houston

Page 4 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



16. Midland
17. San Antonio
18. Somerset
19. South Houston
20. Universal City
21. West University Place

The following cities have enacted land use regulations: 

1. Belton
2. Brownsville
3. Bryan
4. Corinth
5. Farmers Branch
6. Garland
7. Irving
8. Little Elm
9. Mesquite

10. Missouri City
11. Richardson
12. Sachse
13. Saginaw 
14. Watauga

The following cities have enacted a resolution calling on the legislature to leave municipal 
authority in place: 

1. Lubbock
2. Somerset

If your city has adopted regulations and is not shown on this list, please email Scott 
Houston, TML general counsel, at shouston@tml.org (mailto:shouston@tml.org).

May 15, 2014 Update

Page 5 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



April 24, 2014, Update

To the best of TML’s knowledge, the following cities have enacted “business regulations” over 
payday lenders that are similar to the example ordinance available from TML: 

1. Austin
2. Balcones Heights
3. Bellaire
4. Bryan
5. College Station
6. Dallas
7. Denton
8. El Paso
9. Flower Mound

10. Garland
11. Houston
12. San Antonio
13. Somerset
14. Universal City
15. West University Place

The following cities have enacted land use regulations:

1. Baytown
2. Brownsville
3. Corinth
4. Garland
5. Irving
6. Little Elm
7. Mesquite
8. Missouri City

Page 6 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



9. Richardson
10. Sachse
11. Watauga

The following cities have enacted a resolution calling on the legislature to leave municipal 
authority in place:

1. Lubbock

If your city has adopted regulations and is not shown on this list, please email Scott 
Houston, TML general counsel, at shouston@tml.org (mailto:shouston@tml.org).

April 3, 2014, Update

To the best of TML’s knowledge, the following cities have enacted “business regulations” over 
payday lenders that are similar to the example ordinance available from TML: 

1. Austin
2. Balcones Heights
3. Bryan
4. College Station
5. Dallas
6. Denton
7. El Paso
8. Flower Mound
9. Garland

10. Houston
11. San Antonio
12. Somerset
13. West University Place

The following cities have enacted land use regulations:

1. Irving
2. Little Elm
3. Mesquite
4. Richardson
5. Sachse
6. Watauga

The following cities have enacted a resolution calling on the legislature to leave municipal 
authority in place:

1. Lubbock

If your city has adopted regulations and is not shown on this list, please email Scott 
Houston, TML general counsel, at shouston@tml.org (mailto:shouston@tml.org).

Last February, the preemption lawsuit against the City of San Antonio was dismissed.  The 
lawsuit may be back, but for now the dismissal is a victory for the city. 

Page 7 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



On March 25, the City of Dallas lawsuit was argued on appeal to the Fifth District Court of 
Appeals.  The briefs are available under the “Lawsuit Pleadings” link on the left side of this 
page, and the following chart (provided by Joe Gorfida with Nichols, Jackson, Dillard, Hager & 
Smith, LLP) is an update on the status of the lawsuits:

January 9, 2014, Update

Questions about state regulators have prompted recent press reports and correspondence from 
senators.  The El Paso Times ran and article
(http://www.elpasotimes.com/news/ci_24816415/texas-governor-candidate-wendy-davis-
calls-officials-removal?source=most_viewed) on the subject, and three Texas senators sent 
a letter (/p/Payday%20Letter.pdf) to the Chairman of the Texas Finance Commission asking 
for his resignation.  

October 25, 2013, Update

Some cities, in addition to or in lieu of lender transaction regulations, have enacted various land 
use measures to address the proliferation of the lender storefronts.  An informal survey
(/p/SUMMARY%20OF%20TEXAS%20LOCAL%20%20ORDINANCES.pdf) of Texas 
ordinances prepared by Texas Appleseed is now available, as well as a report
(http://www.consumerfed.org/pdfs/Resources.PDL.LocalOrdinanceManual11.13.12.pdf) by 
national consumer groups.  

August 23, 2013, Update

Page 8 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



City officials interested in payday lending should know that, at the League’s Annual Conference 
and Exhibition on Thursday, October 10, a panel will discuss the ins-and-outs of this type of 
regulation:

Payday Lending:  Are Cities the Last Line of Defense?
City officials across the state have seen the proliferation of payday and auto title lender 
storefronts.  How can these lenders negatively affect your citizens?  What has the state 
done (or not done) to reign in predatory lending practices?  What happened during the 
2013 regular legislative session that leaves cities as the last line of defense?  In this 
session, you’ll earn the answers to these questions, how some cities are taking matters 
into their own hands, and about the lawsuits filed by the industry.
Moderator:
Scott Houston, Deputy Executive Director and General Counsel, Texas Municipal League
Panel Members:
The Honorable Bill Spelman, Councilmember, City of Austin
Meghan Riley, Litigation Division Chief, City of Austin
Jerry Drake, Deputy City Attorney, City of Denton
Laura Gordon, Deputy City Attorney, City of El Paso

To register for the League’s Annual Conference and Exhibition, visit www.tmlconference.org
(http://www.tmlconference.org).

August 2, 2013, Update

The Town of Flower Mound has become the seventh Texas city to adopt an ordinance.  In 
addition, some cities asked about what fee is appropriate to charge for a permit under the 
League’s example ordinance.  The Flower Mound ordinance sets the registration fee at $50, 
and that is common.  Of course, the common law rule is that a fee should approximate the 
amount needed to administer the ordinance.  Thus, the fee amount can be set by each city 
accordingly. 

In addition, the Flower Mound ordinance provides that “any lot containing a credit access 
business establishment shall be located at least one thousand (1,000’) feet from any lot 
containing another credit access business establishment, as measured in a straight line 
between the nearest points of one lot to the other lot.”  To view the ordinance, click here
(/p/Flower%20Mound%20Payday%20Ordinance.pdf).  To view the agenda cover sheet, 
click here (/p/FM%20Agenda%20Cover%20Sheet%20for%20Credit%20Access%
20Businesses%20(Payday%20Lenders)%20Ordinance%207-3-13.pdf).

July 26, 2013, Update

“Our efforts to reform payday lending in the state legislature are at a stalemate. To make 
progress at the state level, we must act locally by encouraging our city leaders to pass 

city ordinances regulating predatory lending.”

-- Rep. Mike Villarreal (D – San Antonio), Chairman of the Texas House Committee on 
Investments and Financial Services

Page 9 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



While many other states have enacted laws to restrict predatory lending practices, meaningful 
reforms have failed to pass the Texas Legislature in the last three sessions.  Free of any 
statewide cap on lending fees, limits on loan rollovers, and other restrictions, the number of 
payday and auto title loan stores in Texas has exploded with over 2,000 new storefronts 
opening in the last six years.  In the absence of state action, Texas cities are stepping up to 
adopt ordinances to protect their citizens from some of the worst predatory practices of this 
industry.

Background

Payday lending is a practice where a person can walk into a store, typically located in a strip 
mall, and take a cash advance on his or her next paycheck. Most such businesses offer a 
similar cash advance with a car’s title as collateral. The interest rates on the loans are very 
high.  In fact, legal loopholes used by the lenders exempt them from the state’s usury laws.

Interest rates, when fees are included, often exceed 500 percent APR. Fifteen states limit the 
APR to 36 percent. The products are marketed as two-week or one-month loans, but the vast 
majority of borrowers refinance, often six to ten times.  In addition to the traditional short-term 
payday loan, companies have started to offer expensive longer term installment loans.  One 
company offers a five-month installment loan for $1500.  Customers must pay back over 
$3,862, an APR of 612 percent.

Borrowers who fall behind on payments can refinance multiple times; meanwhile, the interest 
and other fees keep piling up. It’s not uncommon on the auto title lending side for people to lose 
their car altogether after multiple refinancings.

In Texas and across the country, the payday and auto title lender industry (also known as the 
“credit access business”) has grown dramatically.  The Texas Office of Consumer Credit 
Commissioner (OCCC) reports that there are an estimated 3,000 credit access business 
locations in Texas alone.  With the proliferation of the credit access business industry comes 
increased concerns about the harmful effects of Texas citizens entering a cycle of debt and 
dependency.  Some cities are also concerned about public safety and the effect the businesses 
may have on property values.  As a result, both the state legislature and a handful of Texas 
cities have taken steps to regulate this industry.

In 2011, the legislature addressed some of these concerns by passing legislation that both 
requires credit access businesses to provide consumer disclosures regarding their loan 
products, fees, interest charges, and percentage rates, as well as requires them to obtain a 
license with the OCCC (operating under the oversight of the Finance Commission of Texas), 
which in turn has some ability to examine these businesses.  Some Texas cities viewed the 
2011 legislation as insufficient to address the growth in the credit access business industry in 
their communities, and have since adopted ordinances that place additional restrictions on 
these businesses.  The ordinances that have been adopted include zoning restrictions, 
substantive business regulations such as a limitation on the total amount of the loan, or both.

Several bills were filed during the 2013 legislative session that would have increased regulation 
of the credit access business industry.  Other bills were filed at the behest of the credit access 
business lobby that would have preempted all city ordinances regulating the industry, including 
(in some cases) generally-applicable zoning and other health and safety ordinances.  In the 

Page 10 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



end, no legislation dealing with payday and auto title lenders passed in 2013.  Consequently, 
under current law cities are not expressly prohibited from adopting ordinances regulating the 
credit access business industry in any way, including ordinances restricting business practices. 

City Ordinances

In response to the state legislature’s failure to adopt any substantive statewide regulation of 
credit access businesses, a handful of cities have adopted ordinances aimed at ending the 
cycle of debt and helping borrowers to be successful in paying back their loans.  As of the 
spring of 2013, the cities that adopted ordinances were Austin, Balcones Heights, Dallas, 
Denton, El Paso, and San Antonio.  There are likely to be more at the time of this publication.  
All of these cities – except for Balcones Heights – have been sued by the credit access 
business industry, with the industry claiming that the cities are preempted from regulating credit 
access businesses since the legislature gave the OCCC some authority to regulate in 2011.  
(Balcones Heights has suspended enforcement of its ordinance pending the outcome of the 
San Antonio lawsuit.) 

When payday and auto title lenders argued before the legislature for preemption of all city 
ordinances regulating credit access businesses, chief among their policy arguments was the 
notion that it would be too administratively difficult to keep track of the different “patchwork of 
regulation” that exists from city to city.  This argument falls flat in two ways.  First, only six out of 
roughly 1,200 Texas cities have adopted ordinances.  Second, the ordinances adopted by 
these six cities are all but identical in how they regulate the lending practices of credit access 
businesses.  Key features of all six ordinances include the following provisions:

• A credit access business must apply for and receive a certificate of registration from the 
city.

• A credit access business must maintain complete records of all loans made by the 
business for at least three years and make the records available to the city for inspection 
upon request.

• The amount of a payday loan may not exceed 20 percent of the consumer’s gross monthly 
income.

• The amount of an auto title loan may not exceed the lesser of three percent of the 
consumer’s gross annual income or 70 percent of the retail value of the motor vehicle.

• Any loan from a credit access business that provides for repayment in installments may not 
be payable in more than four installments, and the proceeds from each installment must be 
used to repay at least 25 percent of the principal amount of the loan.  No renewals or 
refinancing of installment-payment loans are permitted.

• Any loan from a credit access business that provides for a single lump sum repayment may 
not be refinanced or renewed more than three times, and the proceeds from each 
refinancing or renewal must be used to repay at least 25 percent of the principal amount of 
the loan. 

• Any loan made to a consumer within seven days of a previous loan has been paid by the 
consumer constitutes a refinancing or renewal. 

Page 11 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



Texas Municipal League      1821 Rutherford Lane, Suite 400      Austin, Texas 78754      512-

231-7400   Terms & Conditions of Use (/p/TML%20Website%20Terms%20and%

20Conditions%20of%20Use_7%2030%2013_SH.pdf) (/p/10reasonsTMLAssociate.pdf)

Website by Pallasart - Austin Web Design (http://www.pallasweb.com)

Cities contemplating the adoption of an ordinance regulating the lending practices of credit 
access businesses should consider adopting substantially similar regulations to those adopted 
by the six cities mentioned above.  If Texas cities that wish to regulate in this area continue to 
adopt essentially uniform ordinances, credit access businesses will not be able to use the 
argument that city ordinances vary from city-to-city if they seek preemption legislation in 2015. 

City officials should be aware that adoption of any ordinance regulating credit access 
businesses will likely cause stakeholders representing the payday and auto title lending 
industry to file a lawsuit.  To assist cities that may be facing such a lawsuit, TML has created 
this “payday lending clearinghouse” webpage.  This page includes the pleadings in each 
lawsuit that has been filed.  In addition, it includes an example ordinance that consolidates the 
features of the similar city ordinances, as well as additional information.

Each city should consult with local legal counsel prior to adopting any ordinance.  That is 
particularly true in this instance.

Example Ordinance (/payday-example-ordinance)
Helpful Links (/payday-helpful-links)

Lawsuit Proceedings (/payday-lawsuit-pleadings)

(http://www.facebook.com/TexasMunicipalLeague)

(http://www.twitter.com/TML_Texas)

Copyright 2015 Texas Municipal League

Page 12 of 12Updates - Texas Municipal League

11/12/2015http://www.tml.org/payday-updates



Licensed Location Number License DBA License Address 1

License 

City

License 

Zip

License 

State License Phone License Status License Licensed

1 61993 **EZPAWN 24 S 1ST TEMPLE 76501 TX 2547736411 Active 3/30/2012
2 62010 **EZMONEY LOAN SERVICES 1205 W. ADAMS TEMPLE 76501 TX 512‐597‐5856 Active 3/30/2012
3 60175 211 N GENERAL BRUCE DR TEMPLE 76504 TX 2547733442 Active 3/16/2012
4 60356 ADVANCE AMERICA 2910 S 31ST STREET TEMPLE 76502 TX 2547749143 Active 2/29/2012
5 60778 CHECK N GO 1616A SOUTHWEST H K DODGEN LOOP TEMPLE 76504 TX 2548991161 Active 3/2/2012
6 61953 LOANSTAR TITLE LOANS 1303‐1307 WEST ADAMS AVE TEMPLE 76501 TX 2547420278 Active 3/16/2012
7 67530 TITLEMAX 1109 W ADAMS AVE TEMPLE 76504 TX 912‐525‐2675 Active 12/20/2013
8 66566 TITLEMAX 2715 THORNTON LN TEMPLE 76502 TX 912‐525‐2675 Active 10/4/2013
9 60841 FIRST CASH ADVANCE 2668 S 31ST STREET SUITE D TEMPLE 76504 TX 2547421266 Active 12/31/2011
10 60937 FIRST CASH PAWN 3002 SW HK DODGEN LOOP TEMPLE 76504 TX 2547746858 Active 12/30/2011
11 60962 FIRST CASH ADVANCE 110 N 27TH STREET TEMPLE 76504 TX 2547711210 Active 12/31/2011
12 62714  STAR OF TEXAS FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS LLC 212 W ADAMS AVE TEMPLE 76501 TX 2547741400 Active 5/10/2012
13 61490 ACE CASH EXPRESS #1519 2603 THORNTON LN STE 140 TEMPLE 76502 TX 2547749958 Active 2/15/2012
14 61590 ACE CASH EXPRESS #1520 1416 S 31ST ST TEMPLE 76504 TX 2547919100 Active 2/15/2012
15 66677 PRESTO 1309 W ADAMS TEMPLE 76504 TX 2547710700 Active 12/6/2013

*source: Texas Office of Consumer Credit (June 29, 2015)
**EZ Pawn has announced that they would be discontinuing their payday and auto title lending and just focusing on Pawn (possible they will no longer hold those licenses in the near future)

Notes:  licensed under Chapter 393 of the Texas Finance Code, the Credit Servicees Organization Act
they are loan brokers
uncapped fee, resulting in APRs of 500% or higher for payday loan transactions
this method of operation was adopted by payday and auto title loan businesses in 2005 as a way around complying with rat and fee caps under Chapter 342
because the CSO Act was never intended to regulate consumer loans, there are a lot of areas related to consumer loans not addressed in the law
this leaves home rule cities significant authority to adopt ordinances to address problems in the CAB market

Definition: "Credit access business" means a credit services organization that obtains for a consumer or assists a consumer in obtaining an extension of consumer credit in the form
of a deferred presentment transaction or a  motor vehicle title loan.

CABs



License Number License DBA Location Address 1

Location 

City

Location 

Zip

Location 

State

Location 

Phone License Status

License 

Licensed

License 

Canceled

1 56708 WORLD FINANCE CORPORATION 221 W ADAMS AVE TEMPLE 76501 TX 2547712901 Active 4/12/2010
2 10901 1005 MARLANDWOOD RD #111 TEMPLE 76502 TX 5126080035 Active 9/25/2012
3 117 3809 S GENERAL BRUCE DR TEMPLE 76502 TX 4103323000 Active 7/1/2011
4 152830 TitleMax 1109 W ADAMS AVE TEMPLE 76504 TX 254‐774‐1877 Active 4/17/2015
5 152829 TitleMax 2715 THORNTON LANE TEMPLE 76502 TX 254‐774‐6944 Active 4/17/2015
6 151247 BELL FINANCE 1102 W ADAMS AVE STE C TEMPLE 76501 TX 254‐773‐2333 Active 7/11/2014
7 151150 2 SOUTH MAIN ST TEMPLE 76501 TX 254‐778‐3678 Active 8/1/2014
8 65866 PAYMENT 1 FINANCIAL 1229 B S 31ST ST TEMPLE 76504 TX 555‐555‐5555 Active 4/26/2013
9 55648 1412 W ADAMS AVE TEMPLE 76504 TX 2547713442 Active 8/27/2009
10 52803 REGIONAL FINANCE 2314 W ADAMS ST NEON SQUARE SHOPPING CENTER TEMPLE 76504 TX 2547714145 Active 1/18/2008
11 52090 FIRST FINANCE & FURNITURE 108 S MAIN TEMPLE 76501 TX 2547734452 Active 10/12/2007
12 8497 1408 S 31ST STREET STE F TEMPLE 76504 TX 254‐791‐0305 Active 1/28/2013
13 7620 108 N 27TH ST TEMPLE 76504 TX 254‐778‐0189 Active 8/27/2009
14 7563 1408 SOUTH 31ST STREET STE D TEMPLE 76501 TX 254‐742‐0155 Active 3/19/1993
15 7430 2 S FIRST ST TEMPLE 76501 TX 254‐778‐0048 Active 8/21/1992
16 6942 SUN LOAN COMPANY 916 S 31ST ST STE A TEMPLE 76501 TX 254‐770‐1116 Active 4/13/2009
17 6177 WESTERN FINANCE 8 E CENTRAL AVE TEMPLE 76501 TX 2547713255 Active 4/11/2008
18 5954 SERVICE LOAN COMPANY 215 W ADAMS ST TEMPLE 76501 TX 254‐778‐0070 Active 7/3/2006
19 5422 PREFERRED LOANS 11 E AVE B TEMPLE 76501 TX 2547562081 Active 6/23/1989
20 3732 6 1/2 E AVE A TEMPLE 76501 TX 254‐778‐4777 Active 1/8/1990
21 2284 FAMILY LOANS OF TEMPLE 10 E AVE A TEMPLE 76501 TX 254‐778‐5241 Active 9/1/1976
22 1265 WORLD FINANCE CORPORATION 1610 S 31ST ST STE 104 TEMPLE 76504 TX 2547785264 Active 11/16/1989

*source: Texas Office of Consumer Credit (June 29, 2015)

Notes:  licensed finance companies are finance companies licensed unter Chapter 342 E or F of the Texas Finance Code
both of these business types are direct lenders and are subject to faily sustantial regulatory oversite
the CAB ordinances do not address this area of lending, as it is substantially regulated at the state level with rate and fee caps
high caps, but still substantially lower than paybe and auto title charges.

342 E lenders are limited to a maximum of a $100 fee plus 30% interest 342F lenders generally have their loans capped at around $1300
they are permitted to sell certain types of credit insurance along with a loan they can charge a 10% fee, plus a $4 per $100 borrowed per month

they are not permtted to see certain types of credit insurance with a loan
these loans are generally 6‐month installment loans
carry an APR of around 90%

Licensed Finance Companies



1

Brian Chandler

From: Adam Burklund <adam@burklundconsulting.com>
Sent: Wednesday, November 11, 2015 9:25 AM
To: Brian Chandler
Subject: RE: Proposed Credit Access Business Zoning Regulations

Brian, 
 
Thank you for the update. We will review it and be in touch with any questions. 
 
Regards, 
 
Adam Burklund 
Burklund Consulting 
1122 Colorado Street 
Westgate Building, Suite 2320 
Austin, TX 78701 
Office: (512) 476‐1117  
Cell: (512) 787‐1397 
 

 

From: Brian Chandler [mailto:bchandler@templetx.gov]  
Sent: Wednesday, November 11, 2015 9:15 AM 
To: Adam Burklund <adam@burklundconsulting.com> 
Subject: RE: Proposed Credit Access Business Zoning Regulations 
 

Good morning, Mr. Burklund.  I wanted to give you a quick update on our proposed zoning regulations for CABs.  Based on feedback received from 
our Planning and Zoning Commission at a 11/2 workshop, staff’s recommendation will be to not require a Conditional Use Permit for CABs, but 
instead to add the 200’ distance requirement from residentially‐zoned properties instead.  As a result, it would certainly further limit where CABs 
could be located.  However, it would also eliminate the uncertainty of a CUP process and would, therefore, allow CABs by right subject to location 
and distance requirements within the zoning districts listed below.  I’ve attached the draft amendments for your review.  Please let me know if you 
have any comments or concerns.  Thank you. 
 
Brian 
 



2

From: Brian Chandler  
Sent: Friday, October 30, 2015 9:43 AM 
To: 'adam@burklundconsulting.com' 
Subject: Proposed Credit Access Business Zoning Regulations 
 
Good morning, Mr. Burklund.  Kayla Landeros, City Attorney, provided me with your contact information.  I understand that you have had contact with her 
regarding the City of Temple’s proposed adoption of the TML model ordinance regulating CABs.  During that City Council workshop in August regarding the CAB 
discussion, direction was given for to look into potential zoning regulations for CABs, which I have done and which I wanted to share with you.  I have copied 
slides showing the following below: 

 The proposed zoning standards proposed here in Temple to regulate CABs 
Please review and perhaps we can discuss either by phone or in person next week.  I’m in the process of drafting code amendments reflecting this concept that 
would go to our Planning and Zoning Commission on 11/16, followed by City Council on 12/3.  In the meantime, please let me know if you have any 
questions.  Thanks for your time. 
 



3

 
 
 



4

 
 
Sincerely, 
Brian 
 



1

Dessie Redmond

From: Ann Baddour <abaddour@texasappleseed.net>
Sent: Thursday, October 08, 2015 3:03 PM
To: Dessie Redmond
Subject: RE: Payday Lender Locations in Temple

Licensed finance company is a finance company licensed under Ch. 342 E or F of the Texas Finance Code.  These 
businesses are often confused with payday lenders—in my experience, even consumers don’t necessarily know the 
difference.  However, there are many substantive differences.  The main differences are the transaction structure and 
the cost. 
  
342 E lenders are limited to a maximum of a $100 fee plus 30% interest.  Springleaf and One Main Financial are some of 
the biggest operators in this space, though there are others as well.  They are also permitted to sell certain types of 
credit insurance along with a loan. 
  
342 F lenders generally have their loans capped at around $1,300.  They can charge a 10% fee, plus a $4 per $100 
borrowed per month.  They are not permitted to sell credit insurance.  These loans are generally six‐month installment 
loans and carry an APR of around 90%. 
  
These businesses are direct lenders and are subject to fairly substantial regulatory oversight.  The CAB ordinances do not 
address this area of lending, as it is substantially regulated at the state level with rate and fee caps—high caps, but still 
substantially lower than payday and auto title charges. 
  
CABs are licensed under Ch. 393 of the Texas Finance Code, the Credit Services Organization Act.  They are loan brokers 
and their fees are uncapped, resulting in APRs of 500% or higher for payday loan transactions.  This method of operation 
was adopted by payday and auto title loan businesses in 2005, as a way around complying with the rate and fee caps 
under Chapter 342.  Because the CSO Act was never intended to regulate consumer loans, there are a lot of areas 
related to consumer loans not addressed in the law, leaving home rule cities significant authority to adopt ordinances to 
address problems in the CAB market. 
  
I hope this clarifies things.   
  
Thanks, 
  
Ann 
  

From: Dessie Redmond [mailto:dredmond@templetx.gov]  
Sent: Thursday, October 08, 2015 2:49 PM 
To: Ann Baddour <abaddour@texasappleseed.net> 
Subject: RE: Payday Lender Locations in Temple 
  
Hi Ann‐ 
This is great information it will be very useful as we dig into code amendments. Thank you very much! 
  
Follow‐up question: What is the difference between CABs and Licensed Finance companies? I pulled the definition of 
CABs the Texas Finance Code but couldn’t find any definition for Licensed Finance companies. The ”payday lenders” list 
we compiled before reaching out to you included some businesses on the 342‐E and 342‐F lists and I want to make sure 
we are amending the code so it affects the right business. 
  



2

Thanks for your help. Very much appreciated! 
  
Dessie 
  

From: Ann Baddour [mailto:abaddour@texasappleseed.net]  
Sent: Thursday, October 08, 2015 12:20 PM 
To: Dessie Redmond 
Subject: Payday Lender Locations in Temple 
  
Hello Dessie, 
  
Attached is data I received from the Texas Office of Consumer Credit Commissioner on June 29th of 2015.  I created a 
new tab in the data set that includes all the active licensed store locations in Temple.  The full list includes the entire 
state, with active, surrendered, canceled, and various other statuses.  The other tab—342‐E and 342 F lenders included 
licensed finance companies.  It is not relevant to your inquiry, but wanted to share the original documents with you, so 
you can clearly see the source. 
  
I noticed that two of the licensed CAB locations in Temple are with Texas  EZ Pawn.  They announced in August that they 
would be discontinuing their payday and auto title lending and just focusing on Pawn, so it is possible they no longer 
hold those licenses.  Otherwise, it should be up to date. 
  
Please let me know if I can be of any further help. 
  
Sincerely, 
  
Ann 
  
  
  
---------- Forwarded message ---------- 
From: Dana Edgerton <Dana.Edgerton@occc.texas.gov> 
Date: Mon, Jun 29, 2015 at 1:00 PM 
Subject: Re: Number of CAB, 342 E and F licensees 
To: Ann Baddour <abaddour@texasappleseed.net> 
 
 
OR-15-221 
 
Ms. Baddour: 
 
Attached is the list responsive to your request for CABs and 342 E and F licensees.  Please feel free to contact 
me if you have any other questions. 
 
I hope this information is helpful to you as this correspondence completes and closes this request.  Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Dana D. Edgerton 
Public Information Officer 
 
 



3

Office of Consumer Credit Commissioner 
2601 N. Lamar Blvd 
Austin, Texas 78705 
 
512.936.7639 phone 
512.936.7610 fax 
www.occc.state.tx.us 
 
 
>>> Ann Baddour <abaddour@texasappleseed.net> 6/15/2015 10:26 AM >>> 
Dana, 
 
 
 
Could you share with me the latest data for CAB and 342 E and F licensees? 
 
 
 
Thanks, 
 
 
 
Ann 
 
 
 
Ann Baddour 
 
Director, Fair Financial Services Program 
 
Texas Appleseed 
 
1609 Shoal Creek Blvd, Suite 201 
 
Austin, TX  78701 
 
512-473-2800 X104 
 
Follow us on Facebook 
<http://www.facebook.com/pages/Texas-Appleseed/14182731186> and Twitter 
<http://twitter.com/#!/TexasAppleseed> 
 
www.texasappleseed.net 

  



  1

 ORDINANCE NO.      
 

[Z-FY-16-04] 
  

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING AMENDMENTS TO ORDINANCE NO. 2010-
4413, UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE, RELATED TO REGULATING 
CREDIT ACCESS BUSINESSES AND ARTICLE 5 AND 11; PROVIDING 
A REPEALER; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND 
PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 

 Whereas, Credit Access Businesses (“CAB”), which are defined by Chapter 393 of the 
Texas Finance Code, are commonly referred to as “payday lenders;” 

 
 Whereas, at its November 2, 2015 meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission 
voted to amend Article 5 and Article 11 of the Unified Development Code - the recommended 
changes are as follows: 

 
 ARTICLE 5:  USE STANDARDS: The amendment will include Credit Access 

Business as a specific use, which currently does not exist. 
 

 ARTICLE 5, SECTION 5.3.26 – Credit Access Businesses (Specific Use Standards):  
A credit access business (commonly referred to as a “payday lender”) may be permitted 
in accordance with the use table in Sec. 5.1 subject to the following standards: 
 

o a credit access business may not be located: 
 Within 1000 feet of another credit access business; or 
 Within 200 feet of a residentially-zoned property (property located 

within a UE, SF-1, SF-2, SF-3, SFA-1, SFA-2, SFA-3, TH, 2F, MF-1, 
MF-2 or MF-3 zoning district); 

o for purposes of this section, measurements are made in a straight line, without 
regard to intervening structures or objects, from property line to property line;  

o a credit access business may not be located on property abutting a Major Arterial 
road or an Expressway, as identified on the Thoroughfare Plan. 

 
 ARTICLE 11: DEFINITIONS – Article 11 has been amended to add a definition for 

Credit Access Business (“CAB”) to match the language in the Texas Finance Code 
Chapter 393.221. 

 
o Credit Access Business. Means a credit services organization that obtains for 

a consumer or assists a consumer in obtaining an extension of consumer credit 
in the form of a deferred presentment transaction or a motor vehicle title loan; 
and 

 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest 
to approve this action. 
 



  2

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council approves amendments to Ordinance No. 2010-4413, the 
“Unified Development Code,” by amending Article 5 and Article 11 as set forth in Exhibits A 
and B, attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes. 

 
Part 2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 

ordinance are to the extent of such conflict hereby repealed. 
 
Part 3: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 

paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any 
of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this ordinance, since 
the same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation in this 
ordinance of any such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 

 
Part 4: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 

accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 
 

Part 5: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 3rd day of 
December, 2015. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 17th day of December, 2015. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              
       DANIEL A. DUNN, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   

 

            
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 
 

12/03/15 
Item #6 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 4 

 
DEPARTMENT / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:   
 
Mark Baker, Senior Planner 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING – Z-FY-16-01:   Consider adopting an 
ordinance authorizing a rezoning from General Retail District (GR), Office 1 District (O-1) and Multiple-
Family Dwelling 1 District (MF-1) to General Retail District (GR), on 6.414 +/- acres, being all of Lot 1, 
Block 1, G2K North subdivision, located on the north side of West Adams Avenue, west of Holy Trinity 
Catholic High School and east of Hilliard Road. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  At their November 2, 2015 meeting, 
the Planning & Zoning Commission voted 8 to 0 to recommend approval of the proposed rezoning as 
presented by Planning staff. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Based on the following, staff recommends approval for a rezoning from 
General Retail (GR), Office-1 (O-1) and Multi-Family-1 (MF-1) district to General Retail (GR) for the 
following reasons: 

1. The proposed rezoning is in compliance with the Future Land Use Plan’s (FLUP) 
Suburban Commercial District; 

2. The proposed zoning is compatible with surrounding zoning and uses;  
3. The request complies with the Thoroughfare Plan; and   
4. Public facilities are available to serve the subject property.   

 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  The subject property contains three different zoning districts, General Retail (GR), 
Office 1 (O-1) and Multiple Family 1 (MF-1) was established by Ordinance #1350 in May 1981 on two 
different lots. 
 
This rezoning follows the boundaries of Lot 2, Block 1, established by the recordation of the final plat 
of G2K North subdivision (Exhibit A) on January 8, 2014, and contains 6.414 +/- acres of undeveloped 
land. No further platting to the subject property is anticipated in the immediate future. Any future platting 
would be processed as a Replat and reviewed by the Design Review Committee (DRC). 
 
While it is anticipated the property will be developed with non-residential uses, there are a number of 
residential and non-residential uses that are permitted by right in the GR zoning district. The uses 
permitted in the GR, include but are not limited to: 

 
 



   
12/03/15 
Item #6 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 4 

Residential uses    Nonresidential uses 
Detached / Attached SF Homes  Retail and Service Uses (Various) 
Duplex     Place of Worship 
Home for the aged Convenience Stores with Fuel Sales   
Industrialized housing   Hotel or Motel 
Apartments Beer & Wine Sales (On-Premise Consumption – Less 

than 75% Gross Revenue) 
 
It should be noted that the GR zoning district provides for sale of alcoholic beverages for both on-
premise and off-premise consumption, both permitted by-right or with an approved conditional use 
permit. Any future requests will be evaluated and processed based on their own merits at the time 
application.  This includes the applicability of both UDC Section 5.3.15 and Chapter 4 of the City Code 
of Ordinances. At the present time, the applicant has indicated, there are no plans for beer & wine or 
other alcoholic beverage sales to be located on the subject property.  
 
Prohibited uses include HUD-Code manufactured homes and land lease communities, most 
commercial uses and industrial uses. A number of uses are allowed by an approved conditional use 
permit (package store, any percentage of all alcoholic beverage sales with on-premise consumption, 
temporary asphalt concrete batching plants, sewage pumping station or petroleum gas well). 
 
 
SURROUNDING PROPERTY AND USES: The following table provides the direction from the property, 
Future Land Use Plan (FLUP) designation, existing zoning and current land uses: 
 
Direction FLUP      Zoning  Current Land Use 
 
Site  Suburban Commercial   GR. O-1 & MF-1 Undeveloped 
North  Public institutional      SF-1   Undeveloped 
South           Suburban Commercial    GR                  Retail & Service Uses 
        
East  Public Institutional & Suburban Comm. SF-1, O-1    Holy Trinity Catholic High 
           School  
West          Suburban Commercial   GR   Retail & Service Uses  
 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN (CP) COMPLIANCE: The proposed rezoning relates to the following goals, 
objectives or maps of the Comprehensive Plan and Sidewalk and Trails Plan: 
 

Document Policy, Goal, Objective or Map Compliance?
CP Map 3.1 - Future Land Use Plan (FLUP) YES 
CP Map 5.2 - Thoroughfare Plan  YES 

CP 
Goal 4.1 - Growth and development patterns should 
be consistent with the City’s infrastructure and public 
service capacities 

YES 

STP Temple Trails Master Plan Map and Sidewalks 
Ordinance 

YES 

CP = Comprehensive Plan      STP = Sidewalk and Trails Plan 



   
12/03/15 
Item #6 

Regular Agenda 
Page 3 of 4 

 
Future Land Use Plan (FLUP) (CP Map 3.1) 
The subject property is entirely within the Suburban Commercial land use district. While the office and 
retails service-related zoning districts are typically consistent with the Suburban Commercial land use 
district, the GR zoning is in-compliance for this location. In these circumstances, staff evaluates the 
appropriateness of GR on a case by case basis.  While the GR zoning district lends itself more to the 
Auto-Urban Commercial land use district, the presence of existing GR and the location of arterial roads 
as well as future development trends for an area influence the consideration of GR consistency. In this 
case, since the subject property would have direct access to W. Adams Ave (FM 2305), a major arterial 
and the property is surrounded on 2 of 4 sides by established GR-zoning, the request to GR is 
considered consistent with the Future Land Use Plan.  A similar situation is the presence of GR-
supported zoning along Old Waco Road, the Outer Loop, where the Future Land Use Plan designation 
is also Suburban Commercial. 
 
Thoroughfare Plan (CP Map 5.2) 
The subject property takes access from an existing 20-foot access easement leading to W. Adams Ave 
(FM 2305).  The property does not front along any classified City roadway and therefore no additional 
Thoroughfare Plan compliance is applicable. No additional ROW or dedication is anticipated for the 
development of the subject property. 
 
Availability of Public Facilities (CP Goal 4.1) 
Sewer is available to the subject property through an existing 18” sewer line on the eastern property 
line.  The same line extends along a portion of the northern property line.  Water is available through 
either an existing 14” or 4” water line in W. Adams Ave.   
 
Temple Trails Master Plan Map and Sidewalks Ordinance 
The Trails Master Plan identifies an existing City-Wide Spine Trail along W. Adams Ave. A 10-foot 
asphalt trail is currently in existence. Trail improvements (sidewalk) would be addressed at the platting 
stage of development, if they include the lots that front along W. Adams Ave. The subject property does 
not front along W. Adams Ave.  No new trails or sidewalks are anticipated by this project. 
 
 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS: Standard non-residential setbacks in the GR district are:  
 
Min Lot Size   N/A    
Min Lot Width  N/A    
Min Lot Depth  N/A 
Front    15’   
Side    10’  
Side (corner)   10’ 
Rear    0’ (10’ adjacent to or abutting residential use or zoning district) 
Max Height   3 Stories 
 
Since the proposed GR zoning is adjacent to a residentially-zoned property, additional Development 
Regulations include but not limited to: 
 
* A minimum 10’ rear setback is required where a non-residential use abuts a residential zoning 

district or use (UDC Section 4.4.4.F3) and, 



12/03/15 
Item #6 

Regular Agenda 
Page 4 of 4 

While general provisions for buffering and screening are found in UDC Section 7.7, highlighted 
provisions include but not limited to: 

* Evergreen hedges with a minimum planted height of six feet, placed on 36-inch centers or,
fences and walls constructed of wood , masonry, stone or pre-cast concrete from 6 to 8 feet in
height above the  adjacent grade (UDC Section 7.7.4),

* Refuse containers are to be located in the side or rear of the property and screened from view
per UDC Section 7.7.6, and

* Outdoor storage is permitted in the GR zoning district, where the storage area is situated behind
the principal building in the rear half of the property and where a solid wood or masonry fence
screens the outdoor storage from public view.  Such wood or masonry fence must be at least
one-foot higher than the stored material (UDC Section 7.7.8.B1).

PUBLIC NOTICE: Seven notices to property owners within 200-feet of the subject property were sent 
notice of  the public hearing as required by State law and City Ordinance.  As of Tuesday November 
17, 2015 at 9:00 AM, three notices for approval of the request have been received.  No notices for 
denial have been received.  

The newspaper printed notice of the public hearing on October 21, 2015, in accordance with state law 
and local ordinance. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable 

ATTACHMENTS:  
Site and Surrounding Property Photos 
Boundary Survey (Exhibit A) 
Vicinity Map 
Zoning Map 
Future Land Use and Character Map   
Thoroughfare & Trails Map 
Utility Map 
Notification Map 
Returned Property Notices 
Ordinance 



Site & Surrounding Property Photos 

Site:  Undeveloped (GR, O-1 & MF-1) 

Site:  Undeveloped (GR, O-1 & MF-1) 



 
 

North:  Holy Trinity Catholic High School (SF-1) 
 
 

 
 

North:  Holy Trinity Catholic High School (SF-1) 



 

 
 

West:  Undeveloped (GR) 
 

 
 

East: Undeveloped (SF-1 & O-1) 



 
 

South:  Scott & White Medical Clinic (GR) 
 

 
 

South:  Retail Uses - Family Dollar (GR) 
 





102

106

7154

308

254

7048

7010

6490

215

6684

521

309

419

6608

6746

6768

119

6503

6657

6705

99

6801

6801

6607

6935

6811

6821

51

1097-A

1096-A

1093-A

1104-C

1094-B

1095-A

1104-A

H
IL
LI
A
R
D
 R
D

WADAMSAVE

GR

O-1

SF-1

SF-2

MF-2

MF-1

GR

O-1

GR

GR

GR

GR

AG

Ü

Date: 10/6/2015
 myarberry

Zoning Case :
Z-FY-16-01

GR, O-1, MF-1 TO GR

Address :
6746 W ADAMS AVE

GIS products are for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and
represent only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries and other features.

200'
ZONING MAP

CurrentZoning

HI - CUP

UE

UE - PD

SF-1

SF-1 - CUP

SF-1 - PD

SF-2

SF-2 - PD

SF-3

SF-3 - PD

SF-3 - CUP, PD

SFA

SFA-2

SFA-2 - PD

SFA-3

SFA-3 - PD

2F

2F - CUP

2F - PD

MF-1

MF-1 - CUP

MF-1 - PD

MF-2

MF-2 - CUP

MF-2 - PD

MF-3 - PD

O-1

O-1 - CUP

O-1 - PD

O-2

O-2 - CUP

O-2 - PD

NS

NS - CUP

NS - PD

GR

GR - CUP

GR - PD

GR - CUP, PD

CA

CA - CUP

CA - PD

C

C - CUP

C - PD

C - CUP, PD

LI

LI - CUP

LI - PD

LI - CUP, PD

HI

HI - PD

AG

AG - CUP

MH

MH - CUP

MH - PD

MU

MU - CUP

SD-C

SD-C - CUP

SD-H

SD-H - CUP

SD-T

SD-V

T4

T4 - PD

T4 - CUP

T5-C

T5-C - CUP

T5-C - PD

T5-E

T5-E - CUP

T5-E - PD

NO BASE

CUP

PD

CaseArea



Date: 10/5/2015

102

106

110

202

206

7154

308

254

7048

7010

302

306

402

207

203

111

103

6490

100

215

6684

521

309

419

6608

6746

6768

119

6503

6657

6705

99
6801

6801

6607

6935

6811

6821

51

WADAMSAVE

H
IL
LI
A
R
D
 R
D

B
R
O
O
K
S 
D
R

Ü
Zoning Case :
Z-FY-16-01

GR, O-1, MF-1 TO GR

Address :
6746 W ADAMS AVE

GIS products are for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and
represent only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries and other features.

Date: 10/5/2015
 myarberry

FUTURE LAND
USE MAP

EXPRESSWAY

MAJOR ARTERIAL

COLLECTOR

LOCAL STREET

MINOR ARTERIAL

PRIVATE

RAMP

Parcels

Future LUP

Agricultural/Rural

Auto-Urban Commercial

Auto-Urban Mixed Use

Auto-Urban Multi-Family

Auto-Urban Residential

Business Park

Estate Residential

Industrial

Neighborhood Conservation

Parks & Open Space

Public Institutional

Suburban Commercial

Suburban Residential

Temple Medical Education District

Urban Center

CaseArea



GF

GF
GF

GF

GF

GF

GF

GF

GF

GF

GF

GF

GF

4

14

6

1
8

8

2
4

6

6

1
8

6

8

B
R
O
O
K
S 
D
R

W ADAMS AVE

H
IL
LI
A
R
D
 R
D

H
IL
LI
A
R
D
 R
D

6608215

6746

119

309

6490

308

6935

6684

6768

51

254

6801

106

6821

6705

6811

521

110

202

102

206

103

302

7048

99

6657

111

4197154

306

6607

203

6801

7010

402

207

Ü

Zoning Case :
Z-FY-16-01

GR, O-1, MF-1 TO GR

Address :
6746 W ADAMS AVE

GIS products are for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and
represent only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries and other features.

UTILITY MAP

 myarberry
Date: 10/5/2015

Manhole

Gravity Main

GF Hydrant

Main

Parcels

CaseArea



Date: 10/20/2015

[
[

[

[
[ [

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

[
[

102

106

110

202

206

7154

308

254

7048

7010

302

306

402

207

203

111

103

6490

100

215

6684

521

309

419

6608

119

6503

6657

6705

99
6801

6801

6607

6811

6821

6746

6768

6935

51

WADAMSAVE

H
IL
LI
A
R
D
 R
D

B
R
O
O
K
S 
D
R

Ü
Zoning Case :
Z-FY-16-01

GR, O-1, MF-1 TO GR

Address :
6746 W ADAMS AVE

GIS products are for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and
represent only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries and other features.

Date: 10/20/2015
 myarberry

Parcels

Thoroughfare Plan

Expressway

Major Arterial

Proposed Major
Arterial

Minor Arterial

Proposed Minor
Arterial

Collector

Proposed
Collector

Trails Master Plan

[ EXISTING, CITY
WIDE SPINE

! EXISTING,
COMMUNITY
WIDE
CONNECTOR

EXISTING,
LOCAL
CONNECTOR

[ PROPOSED,
CITY WIDE
SPINE

! PROPOSED,
COMMUNITY
WIDE
CONNECTOR

PROPOSED,
LOCAL
CONNECTOR

CaseArea

THOROUGHFARE
AND TRAILS MAP



102

106

7154

308

254

7048

7010

6490

6501
6633

215

6684

521

309

419

6608

6746

6768

119

6503

6657

6705

99

6801

6801

6607

6935

6811

6821

51

1097-A

1096-A

1093-A

1104-C

1094-B

1095-A

1104-A

H
IL
LI
A
R
D
 R
D

WADAMSAVE

Ü

Date: 10/6/2015
 myarberry

Zoning Case :
Z-FY-16-01

GR, O-1, MF-1 TO GR

Address :
6746 W ADAMS AVE

GIS products are for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and
represent only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries and other features.

200'
NOTIFICATION MAP

CaseArea

Buffer.shp











1 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO.     

 
(PLANNING NO. Z-FY-16-01) 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A REZONING FROM GENERAL RETAIL DISTRICT, 
OFFICE ONE DISTRICT AND MULTIPLE FAMILY DWELLING ONE 
DISTRICT TO GENERAL RETAIL DISTRICT, ON APPROXIMATELY 6.414 
ACRES OF LOT 1, BLOCK 1, G2K NORTH SUBDIVISION, LOCATED ON 
THE NORTH SIDE OF WEST ADAMS AVENUE, WEST OF HOLY TRINITY 
CATHOLIC HIGH SCHOOL, AND EAST OF HILLIARD ROAD; PROVIDING 
A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND 
PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, 
THAT: 

 
Part 1: The City Council approves a rezoning from General Retail District (GR), 

Office One District (O-1) and Multiple Family Dwelling One District (MF-1) to General 
Retail District (GR), on approximately 6.414 acres of Lot 1, Block 1, G2K North 
Subdivision, located on the north side of West Adams Avenue, west of Holy Trinity 
Catholic High School and east of Hilliard Road, as outlined in the map attached hereto as 
Exhibit ‘A,’ and made a part hereof for all purposes. 

 
Part 2: The City Council directs the Director of Planning to make the necessary 

changes to the City Zoning Map. 
 

Part 3: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the 
sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if 
any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared 
invalid by the final judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
invalidity shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or 
sections of this ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City Council 
without the incorporation in this ordinance of any such phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph 
or section. 
 

Part 4: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 

 
Part 5: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 

Ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the 
time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 3rd day of 

December, 2015. 



2 
 

 
 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 17th day of December, 2015. 

     
THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 

 
              

____________________________ 
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 

 
ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
                 
Lacy Borgeson      Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   

 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM  
 

12/03/15 
Item #7 

Regular Agenda 
Page 29 of 4 

 
 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Tammy Lyerly, Senior Planner 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-16-02:   Consider adopting an 
ordinance authorizing a rezoning from Agricultural District (AG) to Single Family Three Dwelling District 
(SF-3) on a tract of land situated in the MAXIMO MORENO Survey, Abstract 14, Bell County, Texas, 
located at 902 East Nugent Avenue. 
 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  At its November 2, 2015, meeting 
the Planning and Zoning Commission voted 6/2 (Commissioners Crisp and Alaniz voted Nay) to 
recommend denial of a rezoning from AG to SF-3, in agreement with staff.  Commissioner Mikeska-
Reed was absent. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends denial of a rezoning from Agricultural District (AG) 
to Single Family Three Dwelling District (SF-3). The proposed rezoning demonstrates the following: 

1. Compliance with the Future Land Use Plan; 
2. Compatibility with surrounding zoning and land uses;  
3. Noncompliance with the Thoroughfare Plan; and 
4. Public facilities are available to serve the subject property. 

 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  Due to the Planning and Zoning Commission’s recommendation of denial for this 
request, a super majority vote would be required for the City Council’s approval of the applicant’s 
rezoning request from Agricultural District (AG) to Single Family Three Dwelling District (SF-3). 
 
The applicant requests a rezoning from Agricultural District (AG) to Single Family Three Dwelling 
District (SF-3) to allow a 10.862-acre residential subdivision with approximately 23 single-family lots.  
A rezoning to SF-3 complies with the Future Land Use Plan which has identified this area as Auto-
Urban Residential.  
 
The applicants spoke to Planning staff regarding their rezoning proposal prior to submitting a formal 
application.  During their pre-application meeting, the applicants discussed their concept plan, but did 
not mention existing issues regarding non-compliant infrastructure and trains blocking access to the 
subject area. 
 
 



   
12/03/15 
Item #7 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 4 

 
The following residential uses are permitted by right in the proposed Single Family Three (SF-3) 
zoning district:  

 Industrialized housing; 
 Single Family Detached Dwelling; 
 Place of worship; and 
 Fire Station 

 
Prohibited uses include Home for the aged, apartment, patio home, single-family attached dwelling, 
duplex, and townhouse, among others.   
 
 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS (SF-3):  Dimensional standards are as follows: 

 Minimum lot size – 4,000 square feet 
 Minimum Lot Width – 40 feet 
 Minimum Lot Depth – 100 feet 
 Front Yard Setback – 15 feet 
 Side Yard Setback  – 5 feet 
 Side Yard Setback (Corner) – 15 feet 
 Rear Yard Setback –  10 feet  

 
SURROUNDING PROPERTY AND USES: The following table provides the direction from the property, 
Future Land Use Plan (FLUP) designation, existing zoning and current land uses: 
 
Direction FLUP    Zoning  Current Land Use 
Site  Auto-Urban Residential    AG   Undeveloped Property 
North            Auto-Urban Residential    AG   Undeveloped Property 
South            Auto-Urban Residential         AG and SFA-3      Residential  and Undeveloped Property 
East           Auto-Urban Residential    AG   Residential  and Undeveloped Property 
West          Auto-Urban Commercial     LI   Railroad  
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed rezoning relates to the following goals, 
objectives or maps of the Comprehensive Plan and Sidewalk and Trails Plan: 

Document Policy, Goal, Objective or Map 
 

Compliance? 
CP Map 3.1 - Future Land Use and Character (FLUP) Yes 
CP Map 5.2 - Thoroughfare Plan  No 

CP 
Goal 4.1 - Growth and development patterns should be consistent 
with the City’s infrastructure and public service capacities 

Yes 

STP Temple Trails Master Plan Map and Sidewalks Ordinance Yes 
CP = Comprehensive Plan      STP = Sidewalk and Trails Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   
12/03/15 
Item #7 

Regular Agenda 
Page 3 of 4 

 
Future Land Use and Character Plan (FLUP) (CP Map 3.1) 
The property is within the Auto-Urban Residential character district of the Choices ’08 City of Temple 
Comprehensive Plan.  The Auto-Urban Residential character district is suited for higher-density uses 
such as attached and multiple-family housing, manufactured home communities, recreational vehicle  
parks, and site-built homes on small lots due to their density, limited open space, relative amount of 
impervious surface devoted to buildings and parking lots, and increased building enclosure. 
 
Thoroughfare Plan (CP Map 5.2) and Temple Trails Master Plan Map and Sidewalk Ordinance 
The subject property fronts East Monroe Avenue, North 16th Street, East Nugent Avenue, and North 
18th Street. The Thoroughfare Plan classifies all these streets as local streets. Although local streets 
are appropriate for single-family residential developments, these surrounding streets do not meet local 
street width standards.  The standard width for a local street is 31 feet from back of curb to back of 
curb.  The subject streets do not have curbing and are not wide enough to allow two-way traffic, 
including East Munroe Avenue, which is estimated to be 14 feet wide at the railroad intersection.  The 
other streets bordering the site are estimated to be between 12 and 14 feet wide. 
 
The applicant’s property and the surrounding properties only have one ingress/egress into the area 
from East Munroe Avenue at its intersection with the Union Pacific Railroad (UP), east of North 14th 
Street.  Conversations with existing residents surrounding the subject property revealed current issues 
with trains parking on the railroad tracks and blocking ingress/egress to the existing rural neighborhood.  
 
Planning staff contacted the Police Records Department for information regarding calls to the police 
regarding trains blocking ingress/egress into the neighborhood.  Since “railroad related” calls are 
automatically transferred to Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad (BNSF), there are no records 
regarding this matter.  Planning staff talked to Joe Faust, Public Affairs Officer for BNSF in our area.  
He said BNSF did not have the requested information regarding frequency of calls regarding trains 
blocking ingress/egress into the subject neighborhood.   
 
Brad Devault, BNSF Terminal Superintendent, addressed the Planning and Zoning Commission at its 
November 2, 2015 meeting.  He explained that although the railroad adjacent to the applicant’s property 
is Union Pacific, the BNSF has an agreement with Union Pacific to respond to calls on Thursday and 
Saturday nights from 8:00 pm to 11:00pm.  Mr. Devault was only able to contribute information 
regarding BNSF practices in dealing with train blocking intersections.  Staff hopes to have a Union 
Pacific Railroad representative at the City Council meeting. 
 
Planning staff studied the surrounding area for potential options regarding an additional ingress/egress 
into the subject neighborhood.  The most logical option appears to be extending North 16th Street 
southward, approximately 1200 feet, to fill in the gap to the other end of North 16th Street at East 
Jackson Avenue in the Tal-Gin Heights Addition.    
  
Availability of Public Facilities (CP Goal 4.1) 
An existing 8-inch water line is located along the property line adjacent North 16th Street, East Nugent, 
and North 18th Street.  An existing sewer line exists on the properties to the east side of North 18th 
Street. 
 

 
 



12/03/15 
Item #7 

Regular Agenda 
Page 4 of 4 

PUBLIC NOTICE:  Fifteen (15) notices of the Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing were 
sent out to property owners within 200-feet of the subject property as required by State law and City 
Ordinance.  As of Monday, November 16, 2015, One notice has been received in favor of the proposed 
rezoning and eight notices have been returned in opposition to the proposed rezoning.  Opposition to 
the rezoning request expressed concerns of existing narrow street widths, issues with trains blocking 
access to the neighborhood, and adding additional homes to the area without proper ingress/egress.   

The newspaper printed notice of the public hearing on October 22, 2015, in accordance with state law 
and local ordinance. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable 

ATTACHMENTS:  
Site and Surrounding Property Photos 
Zoning & Notification Map 
Location map with Aerial  
Future Land Use and Character Map    
Thoroughfare & Trails Map 
Utility Map 
Response letters 
Ordinance 



SURROUNDING PROPERTY AND USES: 
The following table shows the subject property, existing zoning and current land uses: 

Direction Zoning 
Current Land 

Use Photo 

Subject 
Property 

AG 
Undeveloped 
Property 

East AG 

Rural 
Residential 
and 
Undeveloped 
Property 

E Munroe Ave 

E Nugent Ave 

N 18th St 



Page 2 of 4 
 

Direction Zoning 
Current Land 

Use Photo 

 

West LI  
Railroad 
Tracks 

 

 

N 18th St 



Page 3 of 4 
 

Direction Zoning 
Current Land 

Use Photo 

South 
AG and 
SFA-3  

Rural 
Residential 
and 
Undeveloped 
Property 

 

     

     

E Munroe Ave 

E Nugent Ave 

E Nugent Ave 



Page 4 of 4 
 

Direction Zoning 
Current Land 

Use Photo 

North AG 
Undeveloped 
Property 

 
 



1702
PropID:
78723

1708
PropID:
56249

1608
PropID:
25908

818
PropID:
55573

902
PropID:
24190

904
PropID:
52187

906
PropID:
52188

908
PropID:
52189 912

PropID:
78462

920
PropID:
45776

912
PropID:
238051

901
PropID:
33167

1415
PropID:
125427

1519
PropID:
125428

1515
PropID:
122595

1611
PropID:
122376

1601
PropID:
33171

1709
PropID:
125430

1407
PropID:
240339

1415
PropID:
240341

1419
PropID:
240342

1423
PropID:
240343

1427
PropID:
240344

1431
PropID:
240345

1412
PropID:
240349

610
PropID:
148033

903
PropID:
16243

1401
PropID:
115244

1002
PropID:
115181

618
PropID:
15359

615
PropID:
128207

600
PropID:
63001

1320
PropID:
91259

1410
PropID:
240483

614
PropID:
240335

610
PropID:
240336

606
PropID:
240337

602
PropID:
240338

518
PropID:
240351

619
PropID:
148026

615
PropID:
148027611

PropID:
148028

607
PropID:
148029

603
PropID:
148030

1319
PropID:
148031
1315

PropID:
148032

614
PropID:
148034

618
PropID:
148035

619
PropID:
148036

615
PropID:
148037

611
PropID:
148038

1311
PropID:
148039
1309

PropID:
148040
1305

PropID:
148041

1211
PropID:
492961209

PropID:
35289

1207
PropID:
55315

1205
PropID:
47896

1201
PropID:
68632

1601
PropID:
115024

1021
PropID:
111303

1301
PropID:
148042

1411
PropID:
240340

1408
PropID:
240340

1401
PropID:
115242

334-B

883-B

882-A

875-A

876-A

322-2A

322-1

869-A

870-A

871-B

871-C

876-A

874-A874-B

873A-A

873-C873-B
873-A871-A

548-A

548-A

878-A

881-A

880-A

879-A

E MUNROE AVE

N
14

TH
ST

N
 1
2T

H
 S
T

ELLEN CT

N
16

TH
ST

N
18

TH
ST

E NUGENT AVE

N
 1
2T

H
 S
T

E NUGENT AVE

N
 1
4T

H
 S
T

U
n
io

n
P
a
c
if

ic
R
R

U
n
io

n
P
a
c
if

ic
R
R

C

SF-2

LI

AG

SFA-3

2F

2F

2F

AG

Ü

Date: 10/13/2015
 tlyerly

Zoning Case :
Z-FY-16-02

AG to SF-3

Address :
902 E. Nugent Ave.

GIS products are for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and
represent only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries and other features.

200'
NOTIFICATION MAP

CurrentZoning

HI - CUP

UE

UE - PD

SF-1

SF-1 - CUP

SF-1 - PD

SF-2

SF-2 - PD

SF-3

SF-3 - PD

SF-3 - CUP, PD

SFA

SFA-2

SFA-2 - PD

SFA-3

SFA-3 - PD

2F

2F - CUP

2F - PD

MF-1

MF-1 - CUP

MF-1 - PD

MF-2

MF-2 - CUP

MF-2 - PD

MF-3 - PD

O-1

O-1 - CUP

O-1 - PD

O-2

O-2 - CUP

O-2 - PD

NS

NS - CUP

NS - PD

GR

GR - CUP

GR - PD

GR - CUP, PD

CA

CA - CUP

CA - PD

C

C - CUP

C - PD

C - CUP, PD

LI

LI - CUP

LI - PD

LI - CUP, PD

HI

HI - PD

AG

AG - CUP

MH

MH - CUP

MH - PD

MU

MU - CUP

SD-C

SD-C - CUP

SD-H

SD-H - CUP

SD-T

SD-V

T4

T4 - PD

T4 - CUP

T5-C

T5-C - CUP

T5-C - PD

T5-E

T5-E - CUP

T5-E - PD

NO BASE

CUP

PD

Buffer

CaseArea



U
n
io

n
 P

a
c
if

ic
 R

R

U
n
io

n
 P

a
c
if

ic
 R

R

N
 1
4T

H
 S
T

E NUGENT AVE

N
18
TH

ST

E MUNROE AVE

ENUGENTAVE

N
 1
4T

H
 S
T

N
 1
6T

H
 S
T

902

1415

1608

1401

901

912

920

1519

908

904

906

1410 1611

818

1515

912

1601

1708

619

1401

614

1709

614

Ü

Zoning Case :
Z-FY-16-02

AG to SF-3

Address :
902 E. Nugent Ave.

GIS products are for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and
represent only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries and other features.

LOCATION MAP

 tlyerly
Date: 10/9/2015

Streets

EXPRESSWAY

MAJOR ARTERIAL

COLLECTOR

LOCAL STREET

MINOR ARTERIAL

PRIVATE

RAMP

Railroad

Temple Municipal Boundary

Parcels

ETJ Parcels

CaseArea



Date: 10/9/2015

1702

1708

1608

818

902

904 906
908

912

920

912

901

1415

1519

1515

1611

1601

1709

1407

1415

14191423

610

1401

1002

600

1410

614
610

606

602

619
615

611

607

603

1319

1315
614

618

619

615

611

1211

1209

1207

1205

1203

1021

1411

1401

ELLEN CT

E MUNROE AVE

N
16

TH
ST

N
 1
8T

H
 S
T

N
 1
4T

H
 S
T

E NUGENT AVE

N
 1
4T

H
 S
T

E NUGENT AVE
U
n
io

n
P
a
c
if

ic
R
R

U
n
io

n
P
a
c
if

ic
R
R

Ü
Zoning Case :
Z-FY-16-02

AG to SF-3

Address :
902 E. Nugent Ave.

GIS products are for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and
represent only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries and other features.

Date: 10/9/2015
 tlyerly

FUTURE LAND
USE MAP

EXPRESSWAY

MAJOR ARTERIAL

COLLECTOR

LOCAL STREET

MINOR ARTERIAL

PRIVATE

RAMP

Parcels

Future LUP

Agricultural/Rural

Auto-Urban Commercial

Auto-Urban Mixed Use

Auto-Urban Multi-Family

Auto-Urban Residential

Business Park

Estate Residential

Industrial

Neighborhood Conservation

Parks & Open Space

Public Institutional

Suburban Commercial

Suburban Residential

Temple Medical Education District

Urban Center

CaseArea



Date: 10/9/2015

1702

1708

1608

818

902

904 906
908

912

920

912

901

1415

1519

1515

1611

1601

1709

1407

1415

14191423

610

1401

1002

600

1410

614
610

606

602

619
615

611

607

603

1319

1315
614

618

619

615

611

1211

1209

1207

1205

1203

1021

1411

1401

ELLEN CT

E MUNROE AVE

N
16

TH
ST

N
 1
8T

H
 S
T

N
 1
4T

H
 S
T

E NUGENT AVE

N
 1
4T

H
 S
T

E NUGENT AVE
U
n
io

n
P
a
c
if

ic
R
R

U
n
io

n
P
a
c
if

ic
R
R

Ü
Zoning Case :
Z-FY-16-02

AG to SF-3

Address :
902 E. Nugent Ave.

GIS products are for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and
represent only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries and other features.

Date: 10/9/2015
 tlyerly

Parcels

Thoroughfare Plan

Expressway

Major Arterial

Proposed Major
Arterial

Minor Arterial

Proposed Minor
Arterial

Collector

Proposed
Collector

CaseArea

THOROUGHFARE
AND TRAILS MAP



GF

GF

GF

GF

GF

GF

GF

GF

8

1
2

2

6

8

U
n
io

n
 P

a
c
if

ic
 R

R

U
n
io

n
 P

a
c
if

ic
 R

R

N
 1
4T

H
 S
T

E NUGENT AVE

N
18
TH

ST

N
 1
4T

H
 S
T

E MUNROE AVE

ENUGENTAVE

N
 1
6T

H
 S
T

902

1415

901

1608

1401

1021

1601

912

1709

1002

9201401

1410

1519

1702

1708

1611

908

904
906

818

1515

912

614

619

618

610

619

614

615

1415

611

600

606

1411

615

1407

610

1211

Ü

Zoning Case :
Z-FY-16-02

AG to SF-3

Address :
902 E. Nugent Ave.

GIS products are for informational purposes and
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and
represent only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries and other features.

UTILITY MAP

 tlyerly
Date: 10/9/2015

Manhole

Gravity Main

GF Hydrant

Main

Parcels

CaseArea























1 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO.     

 
(PLANNING NO. Z-FY-16-02) 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A REZONING FROM AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT 
TO SINGLE FAMILY THREE DWELLING DISTRICT, ON A TRACT OF 
LAND SITUATED IN THE MAXIMO MORENO SURVEY, ABSTRACT 14, 
BELL COUNTY, TEXAS, AND LOCATED AT 902 EAST NUGENT AVENUE; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, 
THAT: 

 
Part 1: The City Council approves a rezoning from Agricultural District (AG) to 

Single Family Three Dwelling District (SF-3), on a tract of land situated in the Maximo 
Moreno Survey, Abstract 14, Bell County, Texas, located at 902 E. Nugent Avenue, as 
outlined in the map attached hereto as Exhibit ‘A,’ and made a part hereof for all purposes. 

 
Part 2: The City Council directs the Director of Planning to make the necessary 

changes to the City Zoning Map. 
 

Part 3: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the 
sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if 
any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared 
invalid by the final judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
invalidity shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or 
sections of this ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City Council 
without the incorporation in this ordinance of any such phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph 
or section. 
 

Part 4: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 

 
Part 5: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 

Ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the 
time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 3rd day of 

December, 2015. 



2 
 

 
 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 17th day of December, 2015. 

     
THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 

 
              

____________________________ 
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 

 
ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
                 
Lacy Borgeson      Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   

 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
12/03/15 
Item #8 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 
DEPT. /DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:    
 
Jonathan Graham, City Manager 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING: Consider adopting an ordinance 
amending the approval process for economic development incentives for property redevelopment in 
the Jeff Hamilton Park area. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Conduct public hearing and adopt ordinances as presented in item 
description, on first reading, and schedule second reading and final adoption for December 17, 2015. 
  
ITEM SUMMARY:  The proposed amends portions of the City’s comprehensive economic development 
ordinance related to our Empowerment Zone (Jeff Hamilton Park area) incentive program. 
 
In May of 2015, the City Council adopted an ordinance creating an incentive zone in the Jeff Hamilton 
Park area designed to encourage redevelopment that might otherwise not occur in the absence of 
incentives. The ordinance encourages redevelopment in the Jeff Hamilton Park area incentive zone 
primarily through the availability of incentives (Chapter 380) where the City participates with dollars or 
in-kind services to encourage redevelopment. The ordinance creates enabling authority, but is subject 
to the availability of funds that may be appropriated from year to year by the City Council as part of the 
annual budget process. 
 
Incentives include: 
 

 Conveyance of City-owned lots to builders  
 Waiver of platting, zoning & permit fees 
 Demolition of structures by City crews 
 Waiver of water & wastewater tap fees 
 Release of mowing & demolitions liens 
 Providing solid waste containers at no charge (clean up, construction or demolition) 
 Lot clearing by City Crews 

 
The proposed change to the ordinance includes eliminating the provision that each incentive agreement 
requires City Council approval and instead delegates that authority to the City Manager. 
 
 



12/03/15 
Item #8 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

FISCAL IMPACT: Incentives proposed under this program would be in the form of in-kind services or 
through forgoing potential revenue.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
Ordinance  



  1

 ORDINANCE NO.      
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE APPROVAL PROCESS FOR ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES FOR PROPERTY REDEVELOPMENT IN 
THE JEFF HAMILTON PARK AREA; PROVIDING A REPEALER; 
PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING AN 
OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 

 Whereas, the approval process of the City’s comprehensive economic development 
ordinance related to our Empowerment Zone (Jeff Hamilton Park area) incentive program 
needs to be amended; 
 

Whereas, in May 2015, the City Council adopted an ordinance creating an incentive 
zone in the Jeff Hamilton Park area designed to encourage redevelopment that might otherwise 
not occur in the absence of incentives; 

 
Whereas, this ordinance encourages redevelopment in the Jeff Hamilton Park area 

incentive zone primarily through the availability of incentives where the City participates with 
dollars or in-kind services to encourage redevelopment - the ordinance also creates an enabling 
authority, but is subject to the availability of funds that may be appropriated from year to year 
by the City Council as part of the annual budget process; 
 
 Whereas, certain incentives include: 
 

 conveyance of City-owned lots to builders; 
 waiver of platting, zoning and permit fees; 
 demolition of structures by City crews; 
 waiver of water and wastewater tap fees; 
 release of mowing and demolition liens;  
 providing solid waste containers at no charge (clean-up, construction or 

demolition); 
 lot clearing by City crews; 

 
 Whereas, the proposed change includes eliminating the provision that each incentive 
agreement requires City Council approval and instead delegates that authority to the City 
Manager; and 

 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest 
to approve this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 
 



  2

 
 
 Part 1: The City Council amends the approval process for economic development 
incentives for property redevelopment in the Jeff Hamilton Park area to delegate to the City 
Manager the authority to approve incentive agreements. 

 
Part 2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 

ordinance are to the extent of such conflict hereby repealed. 
 
Part 3: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 

paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any 
of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this ordinance, since 
the same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation in this 
ordinance of any such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 
 

Part 4: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 
 

Part 5: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 3rd day of 
December, 2015. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 17th day of December, 2015. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              
       DANIEL A. DUNN, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   

 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

12/03/15 
Item #9 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

 
DEPT. /DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:    
 
Jonathan Graham, City Manager 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:   FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Consider adopting an ordinance 
amending the City’s strategic investment zones incentive policies. 
  
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Conduct public hearing and adopt ordinances as presented in item 
description, on first reading, and schedule second reading and final adoption for December 17, 2015. 
  
ITEM SUMMARY:  The proposed ordinance amends portions of the City’s comprehensive economic 
development ordinance related to our Strategic Investment Zone (SIZ) incentive program. The 
proposed substantive changes to the ordinance include: 
 

 Creation of a Downtown zone with incentives targeting conditions specific to area, including 
enhanced façade improvement incentives 

 Consolidation of the portions of the five current zones (South 1st, Avenue G/H, North 3rd, 
MLK, and Adams, Central, and C Avenues) which fall outside of the proposed Downtown zone 
into a single incentive zone area with consistent incentives and standards 

 Expansion of existing zones 
 Clarification of application process 
 General clean-up of ordinance 
 

As with our previously adopted ordinance, this proposed ordinance is designed to encourage 
redevelopment of strategically important neighborhoods and corridors that might otherwise not occur 
in the absence of incentives. The proposed ordinance encourages redevelopment in the SIZ incentive 
area primarily through: (1) the availability of agreements that provide tax abatement for commercial and 
industrial property on the increased value of eligible real and personal property; and (2) the availability 
of matching grant incentives (Chapter 380) where the City participates with dollars or in-kind services 
to encourage redevelopment. The proposed ordinance creates enabling authority, but is subject to the 
availability of funds that may be appropriated from year to year by the City Council as part of the annual 
budget process. 
 
In addition to the possibility of five year tax abatement for large, significant projects, the proposed 
Chapter 380 matching grants for economic development and in-kind services are very similar to those 
employed in our current program. The grant matrix includes funds or services related to façade 
replacement or upgrading, sign improvements, landscaping improvements, asbestos abatements, 
demolitions and sidewalk replacement. Availability of these matching funds would be on a first-
come/first-served basis for eligible projects.  
 



12/03/15 
Item #9 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

The proposed grant matrix is as follows: 

TYPE OF GRANT 
Downtown Zone 
Single Facade 

Downtown Zone 
Double Facade 

Commercial Zone 

Façade $25,000 $40,000 $15,000 

Sign $2,500 $2,500 $2,500 

Landscaping $2,000 $3,000 $5,000 

Asbestos $4,000 $4,000 $4,000 

Demolition $2,500 $5,000 $2,500 

Sidewalk $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 

Design $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 

Fee Waiver $2,000 $2,000 $2,000 

Maximum Grant  $53,000 $71,500 $46,000 

Required Minimum Investment $20,000 $35,000 $20,000 

A map of the proposed boundaries of the SIZ incentive zones is attached to this narrative as Exhibit A 
and shows the proposed Downtown zone, the proposed consolidation of the zones, and the proposed 
expansion of the zones. 

Finally, in our proposed amendments to the City’s Comprehensive Economic Development Ordinance, 
changes were made to clarify the application process and for non-substantive general clean-up of the 
ordinance.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  A total of $193,363 is currently available in account 110-1500-515-2695 for Strategic 
Investment Zone grants. Tax abatement agreements, if entered into in the future on property in this 
corridor, would rebate taxes on the increase value of eligible real and personal property in the area and 
would not require a financial outlay by the City. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Map 
Ordinance 





1

ORDINANCE NO.   

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE CITY’S STRATEGIC INVESTMENT ZONES 
INCENTIVE POLICIES; PROVIDING A REPEALER; PROVIDING A 
SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN 
MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

Whereas, amendments to portions of the City’s comprehensive economic development 
ordinance related to our Strategic Investment Zone (“SIZ”) incentive program are needed - the 
proposed substantive changes include: 

 creation of a Downtown zone with incentives targeting conditions specific to area,
including enhanced façade improvement incentives;

 consolidation of the portions of the five current zones (South 1st, Avenue G/H, North
3rd, MLK, and Adams, Central, and C Avenues) which fall outside of the proposed
Downtown zone into a single incentive zone area with consistent incentives and
standards;

 expansion of existing zones;
 clarification of application process;
 general clean-up of ordinance;

Whereas, these proposed changes are designed to encourage redevelopment of 
strategically important neighborhoods and corridors that might otherwise not occur in the 
absence of incentives; 

Whereas, these proposed changes will encourage redevelopment in the SIZ incentive 
areas primarily through the availability of agreements that provide tax abatement for 
commercial and industrial property on the increased value of eligible real and personal 
property, and the availability of matching grant incentives (Chapter 380) where the City 
participates with dollars or in-kind services to encourage redevelopment; 

Whereas, the proposed changes creates enabling authority, but is subject to the 
availability of funds that may be appropriated from year to year by the City Council as part of 
the annual budget process; 

Whereas, in addition to the possibility of a five year tax abatement for large, significant 
projects, the proposed Chapter 380 matching grants for economic development and in-kind 
services are very similar to those employed in our current program - the grant matrix includes 
funds or services related to façade replacement or upgrading, sign improvements, landscaping 
improvements, asbestos surveys and abatements, demolitions and sidewalk replacement; 

Whereas, availability of these matching funds would be on a first-come/first-served 
basis for eligible projects; 



  2

 
Whereas, proposed amendments to the City’s Comprehensive Economic Development 

Ordinance are being made to clarify the application process and for non-substantive general 
clean-up of the ordinance; and  

 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest 
to approve this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council approves amendments to the City’s Strategic Investment 
Zones Incentive Policies as set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein for 
all purposes. 

 
Part 2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 

ordinance are to the extent of such conflict hereby repealed. 
 
Part 3: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 

paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any 
of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this ordinance, since 
the same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation in this 
ordinance of any such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 
 

Part 4: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 
 

Part 5: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 3rd day of 
December, 2015. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 17th day of December, 2015. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
              
       DANIEL A. DUNN, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 


	Z-FY-16-04 Attachments.pdf
	Draft Code Amendments (CAB redlined changes).pdf
	Article 1 General Provisions
	Sec. 1.1. Title
	Sec. 1.2. Purpose
	1.2.1 This UDC is established in accordance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan for the purpose of promoting the health, safety and general welfare of the City. It is designed to:
	A. Lessen the congestion in the streets;
	B. Secure safety from fire, panic and other dangers;
	C. Provide adequate light and air;
	D. Prevent the overcrowding of land and avoid undue concentration of population; and
	E. Facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, water, wastewater, schools, parks and other public requirements.


	Sec. 1.3. Compliance
	1.3.1 No land may be hereafter used or occupied and no structure may be hereafter designed, erected, altered, used, or occupied except in compliance with all standards established in this UDC.
	1.3.2 No land may be used or occupied and no structure may be designed, erected, altered, used, or occupied except in compliance with all conditions set forth and approved by City Council through ordinance or resolution.

	Sec. 1.4. Enforcement
	1.4.1 The Director of Planning, in coordination with the Chief Building Official and the Director of Public Works, will be responsible for the administration, interpretation, and enforcement of this UDC. The City Manager may make a final staff ruling,...
	1.4.2 The City Attorney may institute appropriate action in a court of competent jurisdiction to enforce the provisions of this UDC with respect to any applicable violation that occurs within any area subject to the provisions of this UDC.

	Sec. 1.5. Violations and Penalties
	1.5.1 All violations are subject to the enforcement and penalties established in Chapter 1, Sec. 1-9 of the City Code of Ordinances.

	Sec. 1.6. Authority
	1.6.1 This UDC is adopted under authority of the constitution and laws of the State of Texas, including particularly Chapters 211, 212, 213, 216 and 242 of the Local Government Code, and pursuant to the provisions of the Charter of the City.
	1.6.2 Wherever this UDC cites a local, state or federal statute that is later amended or superseded, the citation is deemed to refer to the amended statute or the statute that most closely corresponds to the superseded statute.

	Sec. 1.7. Jurisdiction
	1.7.1 Within City Limits
	1.7.2 Within the City’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction

	Sec. 1.8. Definition Reference
	Sec. 1.9. Rules of Language and Statutory Construction
	1.9.1 The following general rules of statutory construction apply when interpreting this UDC.
	A. Words in the present tense include the future. The reverse is also true.
	B. Words in the singular number include the plural number. The reverse is also true.
	C. The word "building" includes the word "structure.”
	D. The word "lot" includes the words "plot" or "tract.”
	E. The words “must” and “may not” are mandatory and the word “may” is permissive.
	F. The word “district” means zoning district.
	G. The word "City" means the City of Temple, Texas.
	H. The text material of this UDC controls over illustrative material.
	I. Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, the use of terms such as “including,” “such as,” or similar language are intended to provide examples, not to be exhaustive lists of all possibilities.
	J. Commentaries are sometimes included in this UDC as a means of clarifying certain provisions or providing supplemental information thought to be useful for UDC users. Text marked as “commentary” has no regulatory effect. It is intended solely as a g...
	K. All references to other city, county, state or federal regulations in this UDC refer to the most current version and citation for those regulations, unless expressly indicated otherwise. If the referenced regulations have been repealed and not repl...
	L. All references to “days” are to be deemed working days unless otherwise expressly stated. The time in which an act must be completed is computed by excluding the first day and including the last day. If the last day is a Saturday, Sunday or holiday...
	M. Wherever a provision appears requiring the head of a department or another official or employee of the City to perform an act or duty, that provision is construed as authorizing the department head or official to delegate that responsibility to a d...

	1.9.2 In construing this UDC, all provisions are given equal weight, unless the context clearly demands otherwise.

	Sec. 1.10. Completion of Building Under Construction
	Sec. 1.11. Vested Rights
	1.11.1 Adoption of Chapter 245
	1.11.2 Purpose
	A. It is the intent of the City to consider approval of all development permits, except as provided in this UDC or by State law, on the basis of those standards and regulations that are in effect on the date that original application or a master plan ...
	B. While the City provides for the expiration of development permits under certain terms and conditions as provided in Sec. 1.11.3, the City will not shorten the normal life of any permit in the series of permits needed for a developmental project, af...

	1.11.3 Expiration of Permit Applications
	A. The intent of this Section is to provide an expiration date for applications for development permits which otherwise lack an expiration date, in accordance with Local Government Code Section 245.002(e).
	B. Whenever the City requires the filing of an application for a development permit, no rights shall accrue to the applicant until an administratively complete application, in terms of form and content, is filed with the City. An application for a dev...
	1. The applicant fails to provide documents or other information necessary to comply with the City’s technical standards related to the form and content of the permit application;
	2. The City provides written notice to the applicant within 10 business days after the application is filed that specifies what documents or information is missing from the application, and provides the date that the application will expire; and
	3. The applicant fails to provide the document or additional information by the date specified in the City’s written notice to the applicant.


	1.11.4 Dormant Projects
	A. In accordance with Section 245.005, “Dormant Projects,” of Chapter 245 of the Local Government Code, the City adopts an expiration date of two years from the date of issue of any development permit issued by the City if no progress has been made to...
	B. For purposes of this Section, “progress towards completion of the project,” includes any one of the following:
	1. The applicant submits an application for a Final Plat is to the Planning & Zoning Commission;
	2. The applicant makes a good faith attempt to file with the Planning & Zoning Commission an administratively complete application for a permit necessary to begin or continue towards completion of the applicant’s project,
	3. The applicant has incurred costs towards developing the infrastructure needed for the development including but not limited to roadways, utilities or other infrastructure needed to serve, in whole or part, the project;
	4. The applicant posts fiscal security with the City to ensure the applicant’s performance of an obligation required by the City; or
	5. The applicant has paid utility connection fees to the City.


	1.11.5 Process for Certifying Vested Rights Associated with a Project
	A. The applicant used its property or filed an application as provided in Texas Local Government Code Section 43.002 prior to annexation of that property, and that the regulations against which vested rights are claimed are not subject to an exemption...
	B. The applicant filed an application as provided in Texas Local Government Code Chapter 245 prior to adoption of the regulations against which vested rights are claimed, that regulations against which vested rights are claimed are not subject to an e...


	Sec. 1.12. Severability

	Article 2 Development Review Bodies
	Sec. 2.1. General
	Sec. 2.2. City Council
	2.2.1 Establishment, Membership and Procedure
	2.2.2 Final Action
	A. UDC Text Amendment;
	B. I-35 Appeal;
	C. Zoning District Map Amendment;
	D. Planned Development;
	E. Conditional Use Permit;
	F. Approval of plats requiring exceptions; and
	G. Extension of time for completing plat review process.


	Sec. 2.3. Zoning Board of Adjustment
	2.3.1 Establishment
	2.3.2 Final Action
	A. Variance; and
	B. Appeal of Administrative Decision.

	2.3.3 Membership
	A. Appointment and Term
	1. For the purposes of this Section, except as otherwise indicated, the terms “member” and “alternate” are synonymous.
	2. The Zoning Board of Adjustment consists of five members and four alternates, each to be appointed by resolution of the City Council for a term of two years. Vacancies are filled for the unexpired term of any member, whose place becomes vacant for a...

	B. Removal

	2.3.4 Proceedings
	A. Chair of the Board and Vice-Chair
	B. Meetings
	C. Quorum and Vote Required
	1. A minimum of 75 percent of the members of the Zoning Board of Adjustment must hear each case.
	2. The concurring vote of 75 percent of the members of the Zoning Board of Adjustment is necessary to approve a Variance or an Appeal of Administrative Decision.

	D. Rules of Proceeding
	E. Minutes


	Sec. 2.4. Planning and Zoning Commission
	2.4.1 Establishment
	2.4.2 Powers and Duties
	A. Review and Recommendation
	1. UDC Text Amendment;
	2. I-35 Appeal;
	3. Zoning District Map Amendment;
	4. Planned Development; and
	5. Conditional Use Permit.

	B. Final Action
	1. Preliminary Plat;
	2. Final Plat;
	3. Replat Without Plat Vacation; and
	4. Plat Vacation.


	2.4.3 Policies and Procedures
	2.4.4 Overrule of Planning & Zoning Commission Denial Recommendation

	Sec. 2.5. Development Review Committee
	2.5.1 Establishment
	2.5.2 Review and Recommendation
	A. Planned Development;
	B. Conditional Use Permit;
	C. Preliminary Plat;
	D. Final Plat;
	E. Replat Without Plat Vacation;
	F. Minor or Amending Plat; and
	G. Plat Vacation.

	2.5.3 Membership
	A. Chair
	B. Other Members
	1. Director or Construction Safety;
	2. Director of Public Works;
	3. Director of Parks and Leisure Services;
	4. Director of Information Technology;
	5. City Attorney;
	6. Fire Chief; and
	7. Any other City staff or external agencies the Chair deems necessary for the professional review of an application.


	2.5.4 Proceedings

	Sec. 2.6. TMED Review Committee
	2.6.1 Establishment
	2.6.2 Final Action

	Sec. 2.7. Chief Building Official
	2.7.1 Building Permits; and
	2.7.2 Sign Permits.

	Sec. 2.8. Director of Planning
	2.8.1 Powers and Duties
	A. Review and Recommendation
	1. UDC Text Amendment;
	2. Zoning District Map Amendment;
	3. Planned Development;
	4. Conditional Use Permit;
	5. Preliminary Plat;
	6. Final Plat;
	7. Replat Without Plat Vacation;
	8. Plat Vacation;
	9. Building Permit;
	10. Sign Permit; and
	11. Variance.

	B. Final Action
	1. Minor or Amending Plat;
	2. Administrative Adjustment;
	3. Sidewalk Waiver requests or may refer the request to the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council; and
	4. Determination of Comparable Temporary Uses.




	Article 3 Development Review Procedures
	Sec. 3.1. Common Review Procedures
	3.1.1 Application Initiation
	A. Who May Initiate
	B. Application Forms
	C. Application Fees

	3.1.2 Plats Approved Unless Disapproved Within 30 Days
	3.1.3 Appeals
	A. Administrative Decisions
	B. Quasi-Judicial Decisions
	C. Building Exterior Materials
	D. I-35 Corridor Overlay Zoning District
	E. 1st and 3rd Street Overlay

	3.1.4 Revocation of Permit or Approval

	Sec. 3.2.  UDC Text Amendment
	3.2.1 Applicability
	3.2.2 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	B. Planning and Zoning Commission Review
	C. City Council Final Action

	3.2.3 Public Notice and Public Hearing
	A. Planning and Zoning Commission
	B. City Council

	3.2.4 Limitation on Resubmittal

	Sec. 3.3.  Zoning District Map Amendment (Rezoning)
	3.3.1 Applicability
	3.3.2 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	B. Planning and Zoning Commission Review
	C. City Council Final Action

	3.3.3 Public Notice and Public Hearing
	A. Planning and Zoning Commission
	1. Mailed Notice
	2. School District Notice
	3. Published Notice

	B. City Council

	3.3.4 Protest
	A. A Zoning District Map Amendment application requires a three-fourths vote of the City Council in order to be approved if a written protest has been signed and submitted by the owners of a minimum of  20 percent of either:
	1. The area of the properties covered by the proposed change;  or
	2. The area of the properties immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed change and extending 200 feet from that area.

	B. In computing the percentage of land area under Subsection A above, the area of streets and alleys must be included.

	3.3.5 Limitation on Resubmittal

	Sec. 3.4. Planned Development
	3.4.1 Applicability
	3.4.2 Review Process
	A. Except as described below, the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council review of a Planned Development application must follow the review process, public notice, public hearing, protest and limitation on resubmittal requirements for a Zonin...
	B. The Director of Planning must review the Planned Development application and, with input from the Development Review Committee, make a recommendation to the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. Development Review Committee review must f...
	C. In approving a Planned Development, the City Council may require additional standards deemed necessary to create a reasonable transition to, and protection of, adjacent property and public areas, including but not limited to, access and circulation...

	3.4.3 Development Plan
	A. A Development Plan of the entire property within the Planned Development must be submitted concurrently with a Planned Development application.
	B. A Development Plan may be approved for a portion of a Planned Development district where the district is divided by a major thoroughfare and the Development Plan includes all the property located on one side of the street.
	C. In approving a Planned Development district, a standard may not be modified unless this UDC expressly permits such modification, and in no case may a standard be modified if this UDC prohibits such modifications.
	D. Approval of a Development Plan will determine the design elements listed in 3.4.2C above.

	3.4.4 Binding Nature of Approved Development Plan
	3.4.5 Review Criteria
	A. The plan complies with all provisions of the Design and Development Standards Manual, this UDC and other ordinances of the City.
	B. The environmental impact of the development relating to the preservation of existing natural resources on the site and the impact on the natural resources of the surrounding properties and neighborhood is mitigated.
	C. The development is in harmony with the character, use and design of the surrounding area.
	D. Safe and efficient vehicular and pedestrian circulation systems are provided.
	E. Off-street parking and loading facilities are designed to ensure that all such spaces are usable and are safely and conveniently arranged.
	F. Streets are designed with sufficient width and suitable grade and location to accommodate prospective traffic and to provide access for firefighting and emergency equipment to buildings.
	G. Streets are coordinated so as to compose a convenient system consistent with the Thoroughfare Plan of the City.
	H. Landscaping and screening are integrated into the overall site design:
	1. To provide adequate buffers to shield lights, noise, movement or activities from adjacent properties when necessary; and
	2. To complement the design and location of buildings.

	I. Open space areas are designed to ensure that such areas are suitable for intended recreation and conservation uses.
	J. Water, drainage, wastewater facilities, garbage disposal and other utilities necessary for essential services to residents and occupants are provided.

	3.4.6 Modification of Approved Development Plan
	A. Consideration of modification to an approved Development Plan must take into consideration the effect of the proposed modification on the remainder of the property. Amendments to the approved Development Plan or any Planned Development conditions w...
	B. The Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council, in approving modifications to the Development Plan or Planned Development conditions, must be guided by the purpose intended by the base zoning district and general intent of this UDC.

	3.4.7 Expiration

	Sec. 3.5.  Conditional Use Permit
	3.5.1 Applicability
	A. The Conditional Use Permit (CUP) provides a means for developing certain uses in a manner in which the conditional use will be compatible with adjacent property and consistent with the desired character of the area according to the Comprehensive Pl...
	B. Conditional uses are identified in the use table in Article 5.

	3.5.2 Review Process
	A. Except as described below, the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council review of a CUP application must follow the review process, public notice, public hearing, protest and limitation on resubmittal requirements for a Zoning District Map A...
	B. Application for a CUP must occur in conjunction with the submittal of a site plan.
	C. The Director of Planning must review the CUP application and, with input from the Development Review Committee, make a recommendation to the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. Development Review Committee review must focus on the oper...
	D. A Building Permit or Certificate of Occupancy may not be issued for any use that requires a CUP unless a CUP has first been approved in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

	3.5.3 Duration
	3.5.4 Review Criteria
	A. The conditional use is compatible with and not injurious to the use and enjoyment of the property, and does not significantly diminish or impair property values within the immediate vicinity.
	B. The establishment of the conditional use does not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property.
	C. Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and other necessary support facilities have been or will be provided.
	D. The design, location and arrangement of all driveways and parking spaces provide for the safe and convenient movement of vehicular and pedestrian traffic without adversely affecting the general public or adjacent development.
	E. Adequate nuisance prevention measures have been or will be taken to prevent or control offensive odors, fumes, dust, noise and vibration.
	F. Directional lighting is provided so as not to disturb or adversely affect neighboring properties.
	G. There is sufficient landscaping and screening to insure harmony and compatibility with adjacent property.

	3.5.5 Additional Conditions
	3.5.6 Revocation and Modification
	A. The CUP was obtained or extended by fraud of deception;
	B. One or more of the conditions imposed by the permit has not been met or has been violated; or
	C. The CUP previously authorized is determined to be detrimental to the public health, safety and/or welfare.

	3.5.7 Modification of Approved CUP
	3.5.8 Limitation on Resubmittal

	Sec. 3.6.  Subdivision Plat Review
	3.6.1 Applicability
	A. Pursuant to the authority granted in Chapter 212 of the Local Government Code, the owner of a tract of land located within the City limits or in the extraterritorial jurisdiction who divides the tract in two or more parts must have a plat prepared ...
	1. A subdivision;
	2. Lots; or
	3. Streets, alleys, squares, parks or other parts of the tract intended to be dedicated to public use or for the use of purchasers or owners of lots fronting on or adjacent to the streets, alleys, squares, parks, or other parts.

	B. A division of a tract under this subsection includes a division regardless of whether it is made:
	1. Using a metes and bounds description in a deed of conveyance;
	2. In a contract for a deed, by using a contract of sale or other executory contract to convey; or
	3. Using any other method.


	3.6.2 Exemptions from Required Plat
	A. A division of land into lots all of which are five acres or more in the City limits and 10 acres or more in the ETJ, where each lot has public street access and no public improvement is being dedicated;
	B. Establishment of a cemetery complying with all state and local laws and regulations;
	C. Acquisition of land for a governmental purpose by dedication, condemnation or easement; or
	D. Partitions of land among co-tenants by a court.

	3.6.3 Application Process
	A. Pre-Application Conference;
	B. Preliminary Plat (where applicable per 3.6.5);
	C. Final Plat and Construction Plans;
	D. Acceptance of subdivision as complete; and
	E. Acceptance of public improvements for ownership and maintenance

	3.6.4 Pre-Application Conference
	3.6.5 Preliminary Plat
	A. A preliminary plat is required for:
	B. Preliminary Plat Requirements
	C. Review Process
	1. Director of Planning Review
	2. Planning and Zoning Commission Final Action
	a. If no exceptions to the subdivision design and improvements standards found in Article 8 have been requested as set forth in Sec. 3.6.7 below, the Planning and Zoning Commission must hold a public meeting and approve, approve with conditions or den...
	b. If exceptions to the subdivision design and improvements standards found in Article 8 have been requested as set forth in Sec. 3.6.7 below, the Planning and Zoning Commission must hold a public meeting and make a recommendation to the City Council.
	c. Approval of a Preliminary Plat does not constitute automatic approval of the Final Plat.

	3. City Council Final Action

	D. Expiration
	E. Extension of Plat Term
	1. Final Platting and Construction
	a. The Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council, as appropriate, must approve a Final Plat for a phase of the subdivision that is reasonable in size and layout and must find that the Final Plat substantially conforms to the Preliminary Plat.
	b. The developer must begin construction of the required subdivision improvements.
	c. Each Final Plat phase extends the term of the Preliminary Plat for two additional years from the date the last Final Plat phase was approved.

	2. Administrative Extension
	a. The owner or the developer of property for which an unexpired Preliminary Plat has been approved may apply for, and the Director of Planning may approve, a two-year extension of the life of the Preliminary Plat. In making a decision as to whether t...
	i. The state of the national and regional economy and housing market;
	ii. The state of the local economy and housing market, including:
	(A) The number of new lots platted within the City limits;
	(B) The number of building permits for single-family residences issued within the City limits; and
	(C) The inventory of platted single family lots within the City limits.

	iii. The availability (or lack thereof) of financing for construction of subdivision improvements, home construction, or for end-purchasers of single-family residences during the previous two years;
	iv. The inventory of unsold homes and lots in Temple; and
	v. The owner’s or developer’s prior experience in completing multiphase subdivisions.

	b. An applicant denied a request for an extension of the life of a Preliminary Plat may appeal the Director of Planning’s decision to the City Manager whose decision is final.



	3.6.6 Final Plat
	A. Review Process
	1. Development Review Committee Review
	2. Director of Planning Review
	3. Planning and Zoning Commission Final Action
	a. If no exceptions to the subdivision design and improvements standards found in Article 8 have been requested as set forth in Sec. 3.6.7 below, the Planning and Zoning Commission must hold a public meeting and approve or deny the Final Plat.
	b. If exceptions to the subdivision design and improvements standards found in Article 8 have been requested as set forth in Sec. 3.6.7 below, the Planning and Zoning Commission must hold a public meeting and make a recommendation to the City Council.

	4. City Council Final Action

	B. Conformance to Preliminary Plat
	C. Construction Plans
	D. Expiration
	1. Water and wastewater services are available to serve the property being permitted; and
	2. A letter of credit, escrow account or other means suitable to the City Attorney to ensure funds are available for completion of the remaining subdivision improvements is filed with the Director of Public Works in accordance with paragraph 3.6.9D.2 ...


	3.6.7 Exceptions
	A. An applicant may request an exception to the subdivision design and improvement standards found in Article 8. The applicant must submit written justification for such exception along with the plat application. Exceptions may be granted only when in...
	B. The City Council may approve, approve with conditions or deny the request after consideration of the following factors:
	1. That there are special circumstances or conditions affecting the land involved such that the strict application of the provisions of Article 8 would have a substantial adverse impact on the applicant's reasonable use of the land;
	2. That the granting of the exception will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare, or injurious to other property in the area; and
	3. That the granting of the exception will not have the effect of preventing the orderly subdividing of other land in the area in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

	C. In considering the above criteria, the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council must take into account, at least, the nature of the proposed use of the land involved, existing uses of land in the vicinity, the number of persons who will ...

	3.6.8 Resubmission of Plats
	A. Significant Change or In Proposal
	B. Extended Delays in Processing by Applicant

	3.6.9 Procedures Following Final Plat Approval
	A. Certificate of Approval
	B. Coordination with County
	C. Final Plat Copies
	D. Acceptance of Improvements
	1. One Mylar reproducible print of the subdivision construction plans, marked "drawings of work as built," and one copy of the as-built drawings in the same digital format required in subsection C above for the approved Final Plat.
	2. The City Attorney may approve security for warranty of a subdivision, payable to the City, for one year in an amount of 35 percent of the total construction cost in one of the following forms:
	a. Cash deposit to the city;
	b. An irrevocable letter of credit issued by any bank duly chartered under the laws of the State of Texas.
	c. A bond that will guarantee such funds to the city.



	3.6.10 Obligation by City for Maintenance of Improvements
	3.6.11 No City Obligation

	Sec. 3.7.  Replat Without Plat Vacation
	3.7.1 Applicability
	A. A replat of a subdivision or part of a subdivision may be recorded and is controlling over the preceding plat without vacation of that plat if the replat:
	1. Is signed and acknowledged by only the owners of the property being replatted; and
	2. Does not attempt to amend or remove any covenants or restrictions.

	B. The subdivision standards imposed are those in effect at the time of original platting of the subdivision.

	3.7.2 Review Process
	A. Development Review Committee Review
	B. Director of Planning Review
	C. Planning and Zoning Commission Final Action

	3.7.3 Public Hearing and Public Notice
	A. Criteria
	1. Any of the area to be replatted was zoned UE, SF-1, SF-2, SF-3, SFA, SFA-2, SFA-3, 2F, or TH ; or
	2. Deed restrictions limited any lot in the preceding plat to not more than two residential units per lot.

	B. Mailed Notice
	C. Published Notice

	3.7.4 Protest
	A. A Zoning District Map Amendment application requires a three-fourths vote of the City Council in order to be approved if a written protest has been signed and submitted by the owners of a minimum of  20 percent of either:
	1. The area of the properties covered by the proposed change;  or
	2. The area of the properties immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed change and extending 200 feet from that area.

	B. In computing the percentage of land area under subsection 3.3.4A above, the area of streets and alleys must be included.

	3.7.5 Expiration
	A. Water and wastewater services are available to serve the property being permitted; and
	B. A letter of credit, escrow account or other means suitable to the City Attorney to ensure funds are available for completion of the remaining subdivision improvements is filed with the Director of Public Works in accordance with paragraph 3.6.9D.2 ...


	Sec. 3.8.  Minor or Amending Plat
	3.8.1 Applicability
	A. Minor Plat
	1. A Minor Plat is any plat for four or fewer lots fronting on an existing street and not requiring the creation of any new street or the extension of public facilities.
	2. The Director of Planning may approve a Minor Plat involving extension of an existing City street or the addition of a turning lane to an existing street, provided that all other standards of Article 8 are met, including specifically the requirement...
	3. Any plat that requires an exception from the subdivision design and improvement standards of Article 8, any public utility dedication or any public dedication of land may not be processed as a Minor Plat.

	B. Amending Plat
	1. Correct an error in a course or distance shown on the preceding plat;
	2. Add a course or distance that was omitted on the preceding plat;
	3. Correct an error in a real property description shown on the preceding plat;
	4. Indicate monuments set after the death, disability or retirement from practice of the surveyor responsible for setting monuments;
	5. Show the location or character of a monument that has been changed in location or character or that is shown incorrectly as to location or character on the preceding plat;
	6. Correct any other type of scrivener or clerical error or omission on a previously approved plat, including lot numbers, acreage, street names and identification of adjacent recorded plats;
	7. Correct an error in courses and distances of lot lines between two adjacent lots if:
	a. Both lot owners join in the application for amending the plat;
	b. Neither lot is abolished;
	c. The amendment does not attempt to remove recorded covenants or restrictions; and
	d. The amendment does not have a material adverse effect on the property rights of the other owners in the plat;

	8. Relocate a lot line to eliminate an inadvertent encroachment of a building or other improvements on a lot line or easement;
	9. Relocate one or more lot lines between one or more adjacent lots if:
	a. The owners of all those lots join in the application for amending the plat;
	b. The amendment does not attempt to remove recorded covenants or restrictions; and
	c. The amendment does not increase the number of lots;

	10. Make necessary changes to the preceding plat to create six or fewer lots in the subdivision or a part of the subdivision covered by the preceding plat if:
	a. The changes do not affect applicable zoning and other regulations of the municipality;
	b. The changes do not attempt to amend or remove any covenants or restrictions; and
	c. The area covered by the changes is located in an area that the Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council has approved, after a public hearing, as a residential improvement area;

	11. Replat one or more lots fronting on an existing street if the:
	a. Owners of all those lots join in the application for amending the plat;
	b. Amendment does not attempt to remove recorded covenants or restrictions;
	c. Amendment does not increase the number of lots; and
	d. Amendment does not create or require the creation of a new street or make necessary the extension of municipal facilities.



	3.8.2 Review Process
	A. Development Review Committee Review
	B. Director of Planning Final Action
	1. The Director of Planning may approve a Minor or Amending Plat.
	2. The Director of Planning may not deny a Minor or Amending Plat. Any such plat that does not meet the requirements of this UDC must be forwarded to the Planning and Zoning Commission for recommendation and to the City Council for final action.


	3.8.3 Expiration

	Sec. 3.9.  Plat Vacation
	3.9.1 Applicability and Review Process
	A. The proprietors of a tract covered by a plat may vacate the plat at any time before any lot in the plat is sold.
	B. If lots in a plat have been sold, the plat, or any part of the plat, may be vacated on the application of all the owners of the lots in the plat with approval obtained in the manner prescribed for the original plat.
	C. The plat is vacated when a signed, acknowledged instrument declaring the plat vacated is approved and recorded in the manner prescribed for the original plat.
	D. On the execution and recording of the vacated instrument, the vacated plat has no effect.

	3.9.2 Expiration

	Sec. 3.10.   Sidewalk Waiver
	3.10.1 Applicability
	3.10.2 Review Process
	3.10.3 Review Criteria
	A. Special topographical or other conditions exist on the property being platted, developed or redeveloped, such that a literal enforcement of this section would result in unnecessary hardship.
	B. The purpose of this UDC is observed and substantial justice is done.
	C. The waiver is in the public interest.
	D. The anticipated volume of vehicular and pedestrian traffic in the area based on the proposed development and the current or future uses of surrounding property as set forth in the Comprehensive Plan, Zoning District Map and Citywide Trails Master P...
	E. The likelihood that a proposed new sidewalk will connect to other sidewalks in the adjoining areas within five years.
	F. The likelihood of the area for which a waiver is being requested to serve as a pedestrian link between public or private facilities in adjoining areas.
	G. Whether due to the width or the anticipated reconstruction of adjoining roadways, construction of a sidewalk on the property under consideration makes economic sense.


	Sec. 3.11.  TMED Site Plan Review
	3.11.1 Applicability
	3.11.2 Review Process
	A. Subdivision Plat Required
	B. Director of Planning Determination of Completeness
	1. The Director of Planning must determine whether a TMED Site Plan application is complete and satisfies the initial submittal requirements within five working days of the application being properly submitted and received by the City.
	2. If the application is determined incomplete, the Director of Planning must notify the applicant in writing. The notification must list all missing or incomplete items.
	3. The Director of Planning may request additional information not specifically stated in the application submittal requirements if such information is required for the accurate review of the proposal.
	4. Upon receipt of a complete application, the Director of Planning must distribute the application to the DRC, to review the site plan for compliance with the provisions of Sec. 6.3.

	C. Development Review Committee Review
	D. Director of Planning Final Action

	3.11.3 Review Criteria
	A. The application exhibits conformance with the standards of the TMED  zoning district, the Comprehensive Plan and other adopted planning policies;
	B. Utilities and services, including, but not limited to, sewer, water service, police and fire protection are available and adequate to serve the proposed use; and
	C. The application exhibits no substantial negative impacts on the historic, cultural or architectural nature of the site or surrounding area, or successfully mitigates such impacts.

	3.11.4 TMED Site Plan Application Life
	3.11.5 TMED Site Plan Permit Expiration and Extension
	A. All TMED Site Plan Permits are valid for two years from the date the permit is issued.
	B. A modification to an approved TMED Site Plan Permit replaces the previous TMED Site Plan Permit and is valid two years from the date the latest permit modification is approved.
	C. The Director of Planning may approve a one-time, 180-day extension application if the TMED Site Plan Permit remains valid under the existing TMED standards at the time of the request.
	D. The Director of Planning may deny any extension request. If denied, the applicant may appeal the decision to City Council.
	E. Any subsequent extension request requires a separate application to be forwarded to the City Council for consideration. At no time may an extension request be greater than 180-days.

	3.11.6 Warrants and Variances
	A. There are two types of deviations from the requirements of the TMED zoning district requirements: warrants and variances.
	B. The request for a warrant or variance does not subject the entire application to public hearing, but only that portion necessary to rule on the specific issue requiring the relief.
	C. Whether a deviation requires a warrant or variance shall be determined by the Director of Planning in accordance with the following standards:
	1.  Warrants
	a. A warrant is a ruling that would permit a practice that is not consistent with a specific provision of the TMED standards in Sec. 6.3 but is justified by the purpose of the TMED zoning district. The TRC has the authority to approve, approve with co...
	b. Warrant requests are permitted for the following:
	i. Maximum residential density;
	ii. Increase in maximum height;
	iii. Alternative fence materials;
	iv. Alternative materials for hike and bike trails;
	v. Alternative building materials;
	vi. Monument sign in T5-e;
	vii. Multi-tenant sign in T5-e; and
	viii. Signs for Recreational and Entertainment uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1.3.


	2. Variances
	a. Review of a Variance request in relation to a TMED Site Plan must be in accordance with Sec. 3.15. Such Section applies in its entirety with the exception of height, signage and landscaping.
	b. Variance requests are permitted for the following:
	i. Minimum yard and setbacks;
	ii. Minimum lot area;
	iii. Maximum lot coverage;
	iv. Secondary street frontage build out; and
	v. Permitted encroachment into setbacks.


	3. No Warrant or Variance Request Permitted
	a. Primary street frontage build out;
	b. Minimum residential density;
	c. Permitted uses in a district;
	d. Maximum dimensions of traffic lanes;
	e. Required provision of rear alleys;
	f. Maximum requirements for parking;
	g. Requirements of parking location;
	h. Public frontage requirements; and
	i. Type of sign permitted in T4 or T5-c.




	Sec. 3.12.  Administrative Adjustment
	3.12.1 Applicability
	A. The Director of Planning has the authority to authorize minor building encroachments of up to 15 percent into the front, side or rear setbacks.
	B. The Director of Planning must refer to the Zoning Board of Adjustment as a Variance to be reviewed in accordance with Sec. 3.15 any request involving an encroachment exceeding 15 percent of the required setback.

	3.12.2 Application Submittal
	3.12.3 Review Process
	A. The Director of Planning must approve, approve with conditions or deny an Administrative Adjustment application.
	B. When an encroachment is between 10 percent and 15 percent of the required setback, the Director of Planning may notify adjacent property owners and consider their input in making a decision.

	3.12.4 Review Criteria

	Sec. 3.13.  Building Permit
	3.13.1 Applicability
	A. Approved Plat
	B. Development Plan Approval
	C. Unplatted Property
	1. September 1st, 1983;
	2. City annexation; or
	3. Extension of the City’s extraterritorial jurisdiction.


	3.13.2 Site Plan Required with Building Permit for Nonresidential or Multiple Family Uses
	A. Applicability
	1. In addition to the above requirements, a Building Permit may not be issued for any nonresidential or multiple family property until a Site Plan has been submitted for review and approval by the Director of Planning.
	2. Site Plan submission and review for projects in the Temple Medical and Educational (TMED) Overlay District will be conducted in accordance with Sec. 3.11.
	3. Site Plan submission and review for projects in the I-35 Corridor Overlay District will be conducted in accordance with Sec 6.7.4.

	B. Site Plan Requirements
	1. The applicant must submit a legible Site Plan together with a Site Plan check list certified for completeness with the applicant’s signature.
	2. The Site Plan may be submitted in advance or concurrently with the building permit application.
	3. The Site Plan must be drawn to scale, dimensioned and labeled and include all information needed to ensure compliance with Articles 7 and 8 of this UDC, the Comprehensive Plan, other master plans, the Design and Development Service Manual, and all ...


	3.13.3 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	1. The Director of Planning must determine whether a Site Plan is complete and satisfies the submittal requirements.
	2. If the Site Plan is determined incomplete, the Director of Planning must notify the applicant in writing. The notification must list all missing or incomplete items.
	3. The Director of Planning may request additional information that is required for the accurate review of the proposal.
	4. Upon receipt of the complete Site Plan, the Director of Planning must review the Site Plan and the submitted Building Permit application for compliance with development standards and make a recommendation to the Chief Building Official.

	B. Chief Building Official Final Action
	1. The Chief Building Official must approve, approve with conditions or deny the Building Permit.


	3.13.4 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	B. Chief Building Official Final Action

	3.13.5 Construction Plans

	Sec. 3.14.  Sign Permit
	3.14.1 Applicability
	A. It is unlawful for any person to erect, relocate structurally alter or change the face panel or copy of any sign requiring a Sign Permit within the City without first obtaining a Sign Permit.
	B. A Sign Permit is not required for repair, repainting or maintenance that does not entail structural change or for changing the copy on a permitted message board sign as described in Sec. 7.6.

	3.14.2 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	B. Chief Building Official Final Action

	3.14.3 Review Criteria
	3.14.4 Expiration
	3.14.5 Sign Permit Application Contents
	A. Name, address and telephone number of the applicant and name and firm of person erecting sign;
	B. If applicant is not the owner of real property where sign is proposed to be erected, written consent of the property owner;
	C. Location of building, structure, address or legal lot and block to which or upon which the sign or other advertising structure is to be attached or erected;
	D. Site plan, indicating street frontage, property lines, sight visibility triangles, proposed and existing public street rights-of-way, location of sign on property, relationship of proposed sign to ingress and egress points and relationship of propo...
	E. Copy of stress diagrams or plans containing information necessary for the Chief Building Official to determine safety and structural integrity of sign;
	F. Indicate whether the sign will require electricity, and if so, obtain an electrical permit as required;
	G. Copy of Texas Department of Transportation approved permit if state law requires a state permit; and
	H. Such other information as the Chief Building Official may require to show full compliance with this Section and all other City standards.


	Sec. 3.15.   Variance
	3.15.1 Applicability
	A. In accordance with the provisions of the Chapter 211 of the Local Government Code, the Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA) has the authority to hear and take final action on requests for a Variance from standards to the height, yard, area, coverage, s...
	B. Exceptions to the subdivision design and improvement standards in Article 8 are not Variances and must be requested in accordance with Sec. 3.6.7.
	C. Any Variance request less than or equal to 15 percent of any front, side or rear setback may be treated as an Administrative Adjustment in accordance with Sec. 3.12.

	3.15.2 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	B. Zoning Board of Adjustment Final Action

	3.15.3 Public Notice and Public Hearing
	A. Mailed Notice
	B. Published Notice

	3.15.4 Review Criteria
	A. Required Findings
	1. Special Circumstances on Subject Property
	2. Other Property in Vicinity
	3. Comprehensive Plan
	4. No Material Detriment
	5. Purpose of UDC
	6. Signs

	B. Limitations

	3.15.5 Limitation on Resubmittal

	Sec. 3.16.  Appeal of Administrative Decision
	3.16.1 Applicability
	A. Pursuant to the authority granted to the City in Chapter 211 of the Local Government Code, the Zoning Board of Adjustment may hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is error in any final order, requirement, decision or determination made...
	B. Appeal of a decision of the Director of Planning on building exterior material requirements set forth in Sec. 7.8 or the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district, must be in accordance with the procedure described in paragraph 3.1.3C and D.

	3.16.2 Review Process
	A. Initiation
	B. Effect of Appeal
	C. Zoning Board of Adjustment Final Action
	1. Following notice in accordance with Sec. 3.16.3, the Zoning Board of Adjustment must hold a public hearing and reverse or affirm, in whole or in part, or modify the order, requirement, decision or determination of the administrative official.
	2. The Zoning Board of Adjustment must take final action on the appeal within 15 days of initiation.
	3. In exercising its final decision, the Zoning Board of Adjustment has the same authority as the administrative official.
	4. At the public hearing any party may appear in person or by agent or by attorney.


	3.16.3 Public Notice and Public Hearing


	Article 4 Zoning Districts
	Sec. 4.1. General
	4.1.1 Zoning Districts Established
	A. The following zoning districts are established under authority of Chapter 211 of the Local Government Code. The use and dimensional regulations as set forth in this Article are uniform in each district.
	B. Where the phrase “residential zoning district” is used in this UDC, it means the zoning districts listed under the “Residential Zoning Districts” heading on the table below.
	C. Where the phrase “nonresidential zoning district” is used in this UDC, it means the zoning districts listed under the “Nonresidential Zoning Districts” heading on the table below.

	4.1.2 Zoning District Map
	A. The boundaries of the zoning districts established in Sec. 4.1 are delineated upon the official Zoning District Map of the City. The Zoning District Map is hereby adopted by reference and declared a part of this UDC as fully as if the map were set ...
	B. The official Zoning District Map is available on the City’s website. The Director of Planning must post all amendments to the map as soon as possible after the effective date of the Zoning District Map amendment.
	C. Reproductions for information purposes may, from time to time, be made of the official Zoning District Map.

	4.1.3 Zoning District Boundaries
	A. Boundaries indicated as approximately following the centerlines of streets, highways or alleys are construed to follow such centerlines.
	B. Boundaries indicated as approximately following platted lot lines are construed as following such lot lines.
	C. Boundaries indicated as approximately following City limits are construed as following City limits.
	D. Boundaries indicated as following railroad lines are construed to follow the centerline of the public street right-of-way or if no centerline is established, the boundary is interpreted to be midway between the public street right-of-way lines.
	E. Boundaries indicated as following shore lines are construed to follow such shore lines, and in the event of change in the shore line are construed as moving with the actual shore line; boundaries indicated as approximately following the centerlines...
	F. Boundaries indicated as parallel to or extensions of features indicated in A through E above are so construed. The scale of the map determines distances not specifically indicated on the original Zoning District Map.
	G. Whenever the City Council vacates a street, alley or other public street right-of-way or whenever such area is franchised for building purposes, the zoning district line adjoining each side of such street, alley or other public way is automatically...
	H. Where physical features on the ground vary from information shown on the official Zoning District Map or when there arises a question as to how or whether a parcel of property is zoned and the application of this Section cannot resolve such questio...


	Sec. 4.2. Newly Annexed Territory
	A. All territory hereafter annexed to the City must be temporarily classified in the AG, Agricultural zoning district, until the City Council establishes a permanent zoning district for the property. The procedure for establishing permanent zoning on ...
	B. In an area temporarily classified as AG, Agricultural zoning district:
	1. A person may not erect, construct or proceed or continue with the erection or construction of any building or structure or add to any building or structure or cause the same to be done in any newly annexed territory to the City without first applyi...
	2. The Chief Building Official may only issue a Building Permit or Certificate of Occupancy for a structure or use  permitted in the AG, Agricultural zoning district, unless and until the City Council rezones such territory to a zoning district other ...
	3. When annexation and permanent zoning of territory is under consideration, both annexation and zoning may be recommended and acted upon simultaneously.


	Sec. 4.3. Zoning District Purpose Statements
	4.3.1 AG, Agricultural
	A. The Agricultural zoning district allows single-family detached residences and related accessory structures. The Agricultural zoning district is the typical zoning district assigned to property upon annexation.
	B. The Agricultural zoning district consists generally of areas containing rural land uses or undeveloped acreage that is not anticipated to be put to an urban use in the near future. This district is intended for areas that are farther from the City ...

	4.3.2 UE, Urban Estate
	4.3.3 SF-1, Single Family Dwelling 1
	4.3.4 SF-2, Single Family Dwelling 2
	4.3.5 SF-3, Single Family Dwelling 3
	4.3.6 SFA, Single Family Attached Dwelling 1
	4.3.7 SFA-2, Single Family Attached Dwelling 2
	4.3.8 SFA-3, Single Family Attached Dwelling 3
	4.3.9 2F, Two-Family Dwelling
	4.3.10 TH, Townhouse Dwelling
	4.3.11 MF-1, Multiple Family Dwelling 1
	4.3.12 MF-2, Multiple Family Dwelling 2
	A. The Multiple Family Dwelling 2 zoning district permits more modest sized dwelling units and an increased number of units within the multiple family complexes, allowing approximately 20 units per acre in buildings three to four stories.
	B. The Multiple Family Dwelling 2 zoning district  should be designed for a higher density use of the land with amenities and facilities such as  major thoroughfares, parks, transit and utilities close by and adequate for the volume of use.

	4.3.13 MF-3, Multiple Family Dwelling 3
	A. The Multiple Family Dwelling 3 zoning district permits conventional and high density high rise apartment development (from five to 10 stories) allowing approximately 40 units per acre. Other permitted uses include boarding house, hotel or motel and...
	B. The Multiple Family Dwelling 3 zoning district is utilized in areas intended for high intensity uses. Located along major arterials for direct vehicular access, this district is suitable near major employment centers, the downtown urban core and ot...

	4.3.14 O-1, Office 1
	A. The Office 1 zoning district permits low rise garden-type office development providing professional, financial, medical and other office services to residents in nearby neighborhoods.
	B. The Office 1 zoning district should be located convenient to residential areas and should be complimentary to the character of the residential neighborhood served. This district is designed to be a transitional zone allowing low intensity administr...

	4.3.15 O-2, Office 2
	A. The Office 2 zoning district permits a variety of low, mid and high rise office development. Apartments are allowed. Buildings in the O-2 District may be built to any legal height. Office buildings over 40 feet in height must provide additional yar...
	B. The Office 2 zoning district is intended to allow for office uses in an area that is primarily business or high density residential. This district provides for professional, financial, medical and other office services and may include corporate off...

	4.3.16 NS, Neighborhood Service
	A. The Neighborhood Service zoning district permits limited retail services, usually for a small neighborhood area, with uses such as a convenience store, bank, barber or beauty shop, small cleaners or florist, as well as any residential use except ap...
	B. The Neighborhood Service zoning district is the most restrictive retail district and is intended to provide day-to-day retail and service needs for residential neighborhood service areas. This district should be located convenient to residential ar...

	4.3.17 GR, General Retail
	A. The General Retail zoning district is the standard retail district and allows most retail uses including retail sales, restaurants, grocery store, department store or offices and residential uses except apartments.
	B. The General Retail zoning district is intended to serve larger service areas than neighborhoods. This district should be located at the intersection of major arterials and should provide total on-site traffic maneuvering such that traffic entering ...

	4.3.18 C, Commercial
	A. The Commercial zoning district permits all retail and most commercial land uses including auto dealerships with complete servicing facilities, building material sales, light manufacturing and heavy machinery sales and storage. Also, residential use...
	B. The Commercial zoning district is intended to serve citywide or regional service areas. This district should be located along major highways and should provide total on-site traffic maneuvering such that traffic entering and exiting the facility sh...

	4.3.19 CA, Central Area
	4.3.20 LI, Light Industrial
	A. The Light Industrial zoning district permits light industrial uses. Residential uses are not allowed except boarding or rooming houses.
	B. The Light Industrial zoning district acts as a transition from other commercial or retail uses to industrial uses. This district is intended to be located away from areas of low and medium density residential development. The location should be car...

	4.3.21 HI, Heavy Industrial
	A. The Heavy Industrial zoning district permits heavy industrial uses as defined by performance standards in Sec. 7.1. Residential uses are not allowed.
	B. The Heavy Industrial zoning district is intended for those industrial uses that may need to be buffered. Lots should be large enough to contain air, noise, odor, and vibration pollution to a reasonable amount. Location should include access to majo...

	4.3.22 MH, Manufactured Home
	A. The Manufactured Home zoning district allows HUD-Code manufactured home developments, HUD-Code manufactured home land lease communities, single family residences and family or group homes. Manufactured home land lease communities require a minimum ...
	B. The Manufactured Home zoning district is intended to provide moderately priced housing opportunities in areas with less development. This district should serve as a buffer between single family residential development and retail and office uses.

	4.3.23 MU, Mixed Use
	A. The Mixed Use zoning district permits the combination of different but compatible land uses within a single building, site or district to increase efficiency of land use and encourage neighborhood-enhancing economic activity. A variety of housing o...
	B. The Mixed Use zoning district is utilized for an area encompassing a minimum of 25 contiguous acres of land. Redevelopment standards for the district accommodate infill.

	4.3.24 TMED, Temple Medical and Educational District
	4.3.25 PD, Planned Development Overlay
	A. The Planned Development Overlay zoning district is a flexible zoning district, designed to respond to unique development proposals, special design considerations and land use transitions by allowing evaluation of land use relationships to surroundi...
	B. The City Council may apply the Planned Development Overlay zoning district to any tract of land. This district is intended to be either an extension of a particular district, or a transition between districts with different use intensities. Parking...
	C. The Planned Development Overlay zoning district is established:
	1. In order that the public health, safety and general welfare may be furthered in an era of increasing urbanization and to encourage innovations in residential and nonresidential development;
	2. So that the greater variety in type, design and layout of buildings and the conservation and more efficient use of open space meet the growing demands of the population;
	3. In order to encourage a more efficient use of land and of public services, and to reflect changes in the technology of land development so that resulting economies may result;
	4. To lessen the burden of traffic on streets and highways; and
	5. To encourage a procedure that can relate the type, design and layout of residential and nonresidential development to a particular site and the particular demand at the time of the development in a manner consistent with the preservation of the pro...


	4.3.26 H, North Central Temple Historic Overlay
	A. The H, North Central Temple Historic Overlay zoning district is designed to protect, enhance and perpetuate historic areas, places and landmarks that represent or reflect distinctive and important elements of the City's cultural, social, economic, ...
	B. Development standards for property within the North Central Temple Historic Overlay zoning district must conform first, to the procedures and requirements contained in Chapter 17, Historic Preservation, of the Code of Ordinances; and secondly, to s...

	4.3.27 FP, Flood Plain Overlay
	4.3.28 I35, I-35 Corridor Overlay

	Sec. 4.4.  Measurements and Special Cases
	4.4.1 Minimum Lot Area
	A. Minimum lot area standards are established in the tables in Sec. 4.5 and Sec. 4.6.
	B. Lot area is measured as the total area within the lot lines of the lot excluding any street rights-of-way. A lot existing on September 19, 1991, may not be reduced in area below the minimum lot area requirements.
	C. A nonconforming lot of record as defined in Article 11 having less area than required may solely be used for a single-family dwelling.

	4.4.2 Minimum Lot Width
	A. Minimum lot area standards are established in the tables in Sec. 4.5 and Sec. 4.6.
	B. Lot width is measured as the distance between the side lot lines measured at the front building line parallel to the front property line or to the cord of the front property line. A lot existing on September 19th, 1991, may not be reduced in width ...
	C. A nonconforming lot of record as defined in Article 11 having less lot width than required may solely be used for a single-family dwelling.

	4.4.3 Minimum Lot Depth
	A. Minimum lot depth standards are established in the tables in Sec. 4.5 and Sec. 4.6.
	B. Lot depth is measured as the distance from the front lot line to the rear lot line. Where the front and rear lot lines are not parallel, the lot depth is measured by drawing lines from the front to the rear lot lines, at right angles to the front l...
	C. A lot existing on September 19th, 1991, may not be reduced in depth below the minimum lot depth requirements. A nonconforming lot of record as described in Article 11 having less lot depth than required may solely be used for a single-family dwelling.

	4.4.4 Minimum Yards
	A. Open and Unobstructed
	B. Types of Yards
	1. Front;
	2. Side;
	3. Side (corner); and
	4. Rear.

	C. Measurement of Yards
	D. Features Allowed Within Required Yards
	1. Window sills, belt courses, cornices and other architectural features projecting  a maximum of 12 inches into the required side yard; and
	2. Roof eaves or canopies projecting a maximum of 24 inches into the required side yard and a maximum of 48 inches into the required front yard.
	3. Window sills, belt courses, cornices, roof eaves or canopies and other architectural features projecting a maximum of 36 inches into the required rear yard.
	4. Fences that comply with the standards in Sec. 7.7.

	E. Setback Averaging
	1. If buildings on a residential block face have observed an average setback which is greater or lesser than the minimum front yard required for the district in which the street frontage is located, then the average setback of all buildings fronting u...
	2. All vacant lots are assumed to have a minimum front yard specified for the district in computing the average front yard. These provisions may not be interpreted as requiring a front yard greater than 50 feet nor may they be interpreted as requiring...

	F. Yard Requirements for Special Cases
	1. Required Front Yards
	a. In all districts except the Agricultural zoning district where the frontage on one block face is divided by two or more zoning districts, the front yard must comply with the requirements of the most restrictive district for the entire block face.
	b. Where a plat or ordinance establishes a building line and such line requires a front yard setback greater or lesser in depth than is prescribed in Sec. 4.5 for the district in which the building line is located, the required front yard must comply ...
	c. The required front yard setback must be increased in the O-2 and MF-3 zoning districts one foot for each three feet of additional building height over 35 feet.
	d. In the C, CA, LI and HI districts a structure may not be erected nearer than 30 feet to the centerline of any street on which such structure fronts.
	e. Where a lot abuts the turnaround at the end of a cul-de-sac street, the front yard setback required in any of the residential zoning districts may be reduced by a maximum of 10 feet if the lesser setback is shown on the final plat recorded with the...
	f. Where lots have double frontage, a required front yard is provided on both streets unless a building line for accessory buildings has been established along one street frontage on the plat or by ordinance, in which event only one required front yar...

	2. Required Side Yards
	a. O-2 District
	b. CA, C, LI and HI Districts
	i. In the CA zoning district, a minimum side yard of five feet must be provided on the side adjacent to a residential zoning district. If the building height exceeds 40 feet, the side yard setback must increase one foot for each three feet over 40 fee...
	ii. In C, LI and HI zoning districts, a minimum side yard of 10 feet must be provided on the side adjacent to a residential zoning district. If the building height exceeds 40 feet, the side yard setback must increase one foot for each three feet over ...


	3. Required Rear Yards
	a. In the O-1, O-2, NS, GR, CA, C, LI or HI districts a minimum rear yard of 10 feet is required adjacent where a nonresidential use is abuts a residential zoning district or use. Where an alley exists, a rear yard is not required.
	b. In the O-2 zoning district, where nonresidential uses back upon a common district line dividing the district from a single-family residential zoning district, a minimum rear yard of 40 feet is required.



	4.4.5 Maximum Building Coverage
	4.4.6 Maximum Floor Area Ratio
	A. Except as provided in this Section, a structure may not be erected, added to or altered to exceed the maximum floor area ratio (FAR) standards set forth in the table below.
	B. A structure used for off-street parking may not be computed as area subject to FAR standards.

	4.4.7 Maximum Height
	A. Height is measured as the vertical distance of a building measured from the average established grade at the street line or from the average natural front yard ground level, whichever is higher, to (1) the highest point of the roof's surface if a f...
	B. In the zoning districts where maximum building height is restricted to two or three stories, cooling towers, roof gables, chimneys and bent stacks may extend for an additional height not to exceed 40 feet above the average grade line of the building.
	C. A basement must be counted as a story in computing building height. A cellar may not be counted as a story in computing building height.
	D. Water stand pipes and tanks, steeples, domes and spires and school buildings and institutional buildings may be erected to exceed three stories in height in residential areas restricted to two or three stories in height, provided that one additiona...
	E. Airport height zoning regulations in the vicinity of Draughon-Miller Municipal Airport act as an overlay district and may affect maximum allowable building heights. Any development within three miles of the existing runways must comply with airport...

	4.4.8 Intersection Visibility Triangle
	A. An intersection visibility triangle is established at all intersections where the streets, alleys and driveways intersect. It includes that portion of public street right-of-way and any corner lot in the triangular area formed by extending the curb...
	B. A vehicle, fence, wall, screen, view obstruction, or foliage is not allowed within the intersection visibility triangle at elevations between three feet and eight feet above the average street grade. Obstructions of this nature are a public traffic...
	C. Obstruction of an intersection visibility triangle must be abated within 10 days after written notice.


	Sec. 4.5. Residential Dimensional Standards
	4.5.1 Single-Family Detached Dwelling
	4.5.2 Single-Family Attached Dwelling
	4.5.3 Patio Home
	4.5.4 Two-Family Dwelling
	4.5.5 Multiple-Family Dwelling, 1-2 Stories
	4.5.6 Multiple-Family Dwelling, 3-4 Stories
	4.5.7 Multiple-Family Dwelling, 5-10 Stories

	Sec. 4.6. Nonresidential Dimensional Standards

	Article 5 Use Standards
	Sec. 5.1. Use Table
	5.1.1 Prohibited Uses
	A. Mobile home;
	B. Temporary sales that are unrelated and accessory to the primary use of the property except as provided for below:
	1. Temporary uses identified in Section 5.6 Temporary Uses; and
	2. Temporary sales associated with fundraising campaigns sponsored by non-profit organizations subject to the general conditions identified in Section 5.6.2.

	C. Tattoo parlor.

	5.1.2 Legend for Interpreting Use Table
	5.1.3 Use Table

	Sec. 5.2. Classification of New and Unlisted Uses
	5.2.1 The Director of Planning may refer the question concerning any new or unlisted use to the Planning and Zoning Commission requesting an interpretation of the appropriate zoning classification for such a use.
	5.2.2 The Director of Planning must submit to the Planning and Zoning Commission a statement of facts listing the nature of the use and whether it involves dwelling activity, sales, processing, type of product produced, amount and nature of storage, a...
	5.2.3 The Planning and Zoning Commission must consider the nature and described performance of the proposed use; its compatibility with the uses permitted in the various districts, and amend the use table in accordance with the UDC Text Amendment proc...

	Sec. 5.3. Specific Use Standards
	5.3.1 Family or Group Home
	5.3.2 HUD-Code Manufactured Home Development or Land Lease Community
	A. Minimum Area, Density and Setbacks
	1. The minimum lot area for a HUD-Code manufactured home development or land lease community is one acre.
	2. For a HUD-Code manufactured home development, only one HUD-Code manufactured home is allowed per lot or unplatted property.
	3. A HUD-Code manufactured home development or land lease community must observe a minimum front yard setback of 50 feet.
	4. A HUD-Code manufactured home development or land lease community must observe a minimum side yard setback of 20 feet.
	5. A HUD-Code manufactured home development or land lease community must observe a minimum rear yard setback of 10 feet, unless adjacent to property zoned AG, UE, SF-1, SF-2 or SF-3, in which case a minimum rear yard setback of 20 feet is required.

	B. Perimeter Screening
	1. HUD-Code Manufactured Home Land Lease Community
	a. Walls and Fences. Fences and walls must be constructed of wood, masonry, stone or pre-cast concrete with integrated color, texture and pattern.  Structural screening must be a minimum 6 feet in height above the adjacent grade. Fences or walls used ...
	b. Landscaping and Berming. Landscaping must include canopy trees and shrubs or a combination of canopy trees, shrubs and berms. Landscape screening must consist of a minimum of one canopy tree and six shrubs for every 40  linear feet of boundary, inc...
	c. Landscaping must be in conformance with Section 7.4.5- General Planting Criteria.

	2. HUD-Code Manufactured Home Development
	a. Landscaping.  Landscape screening must consist of a minimum of one canopy tree and five shrubs for every 30 linear feet along all sides of the manufactured home.
	b. Fencing and Landscaping Combination. The required number of trees may be reduced by 30% when used in a combination with a decorative fence that is a minimum of 4 feet in height; constructed of wood, wrought iron or galvanized ornamental steel; and ...
	c. Landscaping must be in conformance with Section 7.4.5- General Planting Criteria.


	C. Dimensions
	1. HUD-Code manufactured homes placed in a new or expanded manufactured home development or land lease community must be “double-wide” units a minimum of 24 feet in width with no structure more than 15 years of age when installed.
	2. HUD-Code manufactured homes placed on an existing lot or pad in a manufactured home development or land lease community must be single-wide or double-wide units with no structure more than 15 years of age when installed.

	D. Transport Equipment
	E. Roof
	F. Siding
	G. Foundation
	H. Skirting
	I. Storage Building

	5.3.3 Multiple-Family Dwelling
	A. A minimum side yard setback of 15 feet must be provided for multiple-family dwellings between any building wall containing openings for windows, light and air and any side lot line except that any such building face or wall not exceeding 35 feet in...
	B. Where a building wall contains no openings for windows, light or air, a minimum side yard setback of 10 feet must be provided between such wall and the side lot line.
	C. Where a multiple-family dwelling exceeding three stories in height is erected, the side yard must be increased one foot for each two feet the structure exceeds three stories but no side yard need exceed 50 feet as a result of this provision.
	D. Where multiple-family dwellings exceed three stories in height, a rear yard setback equal to one foot for each two feet in height is required, except that such rear yard setback need not exceed 50 feet as a result of this provision, and except furt...
	E. In the following zoning districts, the maximum building coverage for multiple-family dwellings must conform to the following schedule. Open off-street parking or loading areas may not be computed as area subject to building coverage standards.

	5.3.4 Patio Home
	5.3.5 Single-Family Attached Dwelling
	5.3.6 Townhouse
	A. A complex of townhouses may not exceed 300 feet in length.
	B. A minimum side yard setback of five feet must be provided at the end of each complex of townhouses so that the end of any two adjacent complexes are a minimum 10 feet apart.

	5.3.7 Zero Lot Line Dwelling
	5.3.8 Mini-Storage Warehouse
	5.3.9 Child Care Facility: Family Home or Group Day Care Home
	A. The residence or structure containing the family home or group day care child care facility must contain a minimum of 150 square feet of gross floor area for each child. This use excludes a foster home and group home.
	B. For a family home childcare facility, a safe off-street loading and unloading location must be provided. Off-street parking in addition to normally required parking for the residence is not required.
	C. For a group day care home child care facility, a paved off-street location, such as a circle drive or another suitable location, must be provided for safe loading and unloading. Maneuvering room must be provided on the property for parking and load...
	D. The home occupation standards in Sec. 5.5.4 apply to a family home child care facility and a group day care home that takes place in a residence.
	E. In the LI and HI zoning districts, a group day care home child care facility may be allowed only when provided in conjunction with service to employees of the principal use.

	5.3.10 Child Care Facility: Day Care Center
	A. Location
	B. Construction Codes
	C. Play Area
	D. TDHS Standards
	E. Accessory Use

	5.3.11 Pre-School
	5.3.12 Transitional, Emergency, or Social Service Shelter
	A. A transitional, emergency, or social service shelter may be permitted in accordance with the use table in Sec. 5.1 subject to the following considerations.
	1. The transitional, emergency, or social service shelter must be a minimum of 1,000 feet from the following uses:
	a. Alcoholic beverage sales (on-premise or off-premise consumption);
	b. All residential uses or zoning districts as specified in the zoning district table in Section 4.1.1 and in the use table in Section 5.1.3;
	c. Child care uses;
	d. Elementary or secondary schools (public or private); and
	e. Other transitional, emergency, or social service shelters.


	B. A transitional, emergency, or social service shelter may be permitted in accordance with the use table in Sec. 5.1 subject to the following standards.
	1. Space must be provided inside the transitional, emergency, or social service shelter so that prospective and current residents are not required to wait on sidewalks or any other public right-of-way.
	2. The transitional, emergency, or social service shelter must be equipped with a functioning central heating, ventilation and air conditioning system.
	3. The occupancy load and construction of the building must meet the most recent version of the International Fire Code and Building Code adopted by the City, including all Fire Safety requirements.
	4. A minimum of one shelter staff member must be present per 25 clients on-premise of the transitional or emergency shelter. A minimum of one shelter staff member must be present at the shelter at all times.
	5. Emergency shelters are facilities designed and operated in a manner that clients are provided temporary housing for stays of up to thirty (30) consecutive days.
	6. Transitional shelters are facilities designed and operated in a manner that clients are provided temporary housing for periods up to one year.
	7. Occasional, unplanned short term stays that exceed the thirty day or one year normal stay by clients of emergency and transitional shelters shall not constitute a violation of this ordinance.


	5.3.13 Compost Operation
	A. Compost operations classified as Exempt, Notification or Registration facilities under Title 30, Part I, Chapter 332, Composting, of the Texas Administrative Code are subject to the requirements in Chapter 332 for Registration facilities.
	B. The owner of a compost operation classified in Chapter 332 as Permit facilities must present and maintain a current Texas Commission on Environment Quality (TCEQ) permit.
	C. Chapter 332, excluding Subchapter D—Operations Requiring a Permit and Subchapter F—Household Hazardous Waste Collection, and the  TCEQ current Quality Assurance Program Plan are adopted by reference.
	D. For purposes of the City’s administration of registration requirements, the following definitions are substituted for terms defined in Title 30 Texas Administrative Code § 332.2, except where provisions refer to the Commission’s administration of A...
	1. Commission means the City of Temple.
	2. Executive Director and Chief Clerk means the Director of Public Works.
	3. Permit, when referring to City’s administration of Registration requirements, means Conditional Use Permit.


	5.3.14 Recycling Collection Location or Operation
	A. The buying and receiving area must be set back a minimum of 50 feet from the public street right-of-way.
	B. A minimum separation of 75 feet is required between any processing operation and the property line of any adjacent property zoned for residential purposes.
	C. The internal circulation area within a tract used for a recycling collection location must consist of a non-permeable surface of either asphalt or concrete.

	5.3.15 Alcoholic Beverage Sales for On-Premise Consumption
	A. The following standards apply to all establishments with on-premise consumption of alcoholic beverages.
	1. The permittee must design and operate the establishment in such a manner that the use of the premises does not substantially increase traffic congestion or create overcrowding in the establishment or the immediately surrounding area.
	2. The permittee must comply with applicable licensing and permit provisions of the Alcoholic Beverage Code within six months from the date of the issuance of the Conditional Use Permit, such limitation in time being subject to City review and possibl...
	3. The permittee bears the burden of showing that the establishment does not exceed the limitation on gross receipts from sales of alcoholic beverages applicable to its Conditional Use Permit. The permittee must maintain accounting records of the sour...
	4. The permittee must demonstrate that the granting of the permit would not be detrimental to the public welfare of the citizens of the City.
	5. The permittee must, at all times, provide an adequate number of employees for security purposes to adequately control the establishment to prevent incidents of drunkenness, disorderly conduct and raucous behavior. The permittee must consult with th...
	6. The establishment must provide adequate parking spaces in accordance with the standards in Sec. 7.5.
	7. The permittee must operate the establishment in such a manner as to prevent excessive noise, dirt, litter and odors in the establishment or in the surrounding area and operate the establishment in such a manner as to minimize disturbance to surroun...
	8. The City Council may deny or revoke a Conditional Use Permit in accordance with Sec. 3.5 if it affirmatively determines that the issuance of the permit is:
	a. Incompatible with the surrounding uses of property; or
	b. Detrimental or offensive to the neighborhood or contrary to the health, safety and general welfare of the City and its inhabitants.

	9. A Conditional Use Permit runs with the property and a change in the owner or lessee of a permitted establishment does not affect the Conditional Use Permit.
	10. All Conditional Use Permits must be further conditioned that the permit may be canceled, suspended or revoked in accordance with the revocation clause set forth in paragraph 8 above.

	B. In addition to the standards in subsection A above, the following standards apply to all establishments where the gross revenue from the on-premise sale of alcoholic beverages is less than 75% of the total gross revenue of the establishment, includ...
	1. The establishment must not be within 300 feet of a place of worship, public school or public hospital.
	2. The distance between the establishment where alcoholic beverages are sold and the place of worship or public hospital must be measured along the property lines of the street fronts and from front door to front door, and in a direct line across inte...
	3. If the permit or license holder is located on or above the fifth story of a multistory building, in a direct line from the property line of the public school to the property line of the place of business, in a direct line across intersections, and ...

	C. In addition to the standards in subsection A above, the following standards apply to all establishments where the gross revenue from the on-premise sale of alcoholic beverages is 75% or more of the total gross revenue of the establishment.
	1. The establishment must not be within 300 feet of a place of worship, elementary or secondary school, public hospital, public park or any residentially zoned or developed lot.
	2. The distance between the establishment where alcoholic beverages are sold and a protected use must be measured in a straight, direct line from the property line of the establishment to the nearest property line of a place of worship, elementary or ...
	3. An establishment in a multi-storied building on other than the ground floor must be treated as though it were on the ground floor for purpose of the measurement between property lines.


	5.3.16 Outdoor Shooting Range
	A. Only handguns (pistols and revolvers) are permitted to be used at the outdoor shooting range. No shotguns, rifles or automatic weapons are permitted at the range.
	B. No armor piercing or incendiary ammunition is allowed.
	C. Ammunition larger than 0.460 caliber is not allowed.
	D. No minimum lot area is required. The range, range site and uninhabited downrange safety area must be under uniform control and ownership, so as to maintain its permanency.
	E. The range area includes the firing line; target line, backstops, side berms and walls; and baffles and other safety barriers. No portion of a range area may be nearer than 100 feet to any public street right-of-way or adjacent property line.
	F. The firing of handguns is prohibited during the hours between seven p.m. and seven a.m.
	G. The range may be used only under the supervision of trained personnel.
	H. Appropriate certifications must be obtained from the Texas Department of Public Safety.
	I. Adequate accident and liability insurance must cover operators in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 per single occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate per year (combined single limit for personal injury, death or property damage).
	J. Conditional use permit may be revoked at any time in accordance with Sec. 3.5.
	K. The range must conform in all respects to TCEQ standards and regulations.
	L. The range must be handicap accessible and provide required handicapped parking and restrooms.
	M. The range operator is responsible for proper disposition of spent casings and projectiles.
	N. The range operator is responsible for ensuring no alcoholic beverages are present on the entire range site.
	O. Violation of any federal, state or local law is grounds for revoking the Conditional Use Permit.
	P. No portion of range may be located in a floodway.
	Q. Projectiles must be contained within the berm or enclosure within the range site.
	R. If berms or baffles consist of tires, tires must be covered with earthen material.
	S. A fence designed in accordance with the standards in Sec. 7.7 must surround the range site and downrange safety area. Such fence must be of suitable height and material to exclude persons or livestock from unauthorized entry. Warning signs must be ...

	5.3.17 Alcoholic Beverage Sales for Off-Premise Consumption, Package Store
	A. Such use must comply with Chapter 4, “Alcoholic Beverages,” of the City Code.
	B. Outdoor lighting must comply with the standards in subsection 6.7.5K.
	C. If applicable, a pick-up window must be visible from the public right-of-way, and may not be placed in alleys.
	D. The drive-through lane must provide a minimum of 60 feet of stacking space as measured from the pick-up window.
	E. An escape (bypass) lane must be provided parallel to the drive-through lane, if applicable, from the beginning of the drive-through lane.
	F. Parking (in any zoning district including in CA) must be provided on-site, not less than one space for each 250 square feet of retail space (plus the number of parking spaces required for non-retail space as specified in Sec. 7.5).
	G. Window signs are prohibited.
	H. Lighted signs must be turned off at closing time. This requirement does not apply to multi-tenant signs that meet the requirements of Sec. 7.6.3 of this UDC.
	[Ord. No. 2015-4707]

	5.3.18 Cleaning, Pressing and Pick Up Shop
	5.3.19 Auto Sales, New or Used (Outdoor Lot)
	5.3.20 Auto Sales Facility, New or Used
	5.3.21 Fuel Sales
	5.3.22 Major Vehicle Repair
	A. Vehicle repair must be conducted within a building.
	B. All buildings must be set back a minimum of 20 feet from:
	1. Residentially zoned or developed property; and
	2. Public property such as a school or park.

	C. Vehicle parts, wrecked vehicles, commodities, materials and equipment may be stored behind a building in the rear area if screened from public view from any street, residentially developed or zoned property, or adjacent or opposite public property ...
	D. There is no size limit for vehicles being repaired.

	5.3.23 Minor Vehicle Servicing
	A. Vehicle servicing must be conducted completely within an enclosed building.
	B. Vehicles being serviced may not exceed one and one-half tons.
	C. All buildings must be set back a minimum of 25 feet from:
	1. The  public street right-of-way;
	2. Residentially zoned or developed property; and
	3. Public property such as a school or park.

	D. No outside storage or display of any kind is permitted.
	E. No parking of damaged motor vehicles is permitted, except on a temporary basis not to exceed 72 hours.

	5.3.24 Wrecking or Salvage Yard
	5.3.25 Kiosk
	A. All of the Dimensional and General Development Standards in Article 4 and Article 7 of this UDC apply to a kiosk as if it were the principal use of the property.
	B. Drive-through kiosks must provide 3, 8-ft by 22-ft. queuing spaces per kiosk service window.
	C. Wall signs on the wall of a kiosk itself are the only sign type allowed for advertising the services of the kiosk. Wall signs on a kiosk are limited to a maximum of 25 percent of the surface area of each wall. Wall signs are permitted only on the s...
	D. Pedestrian access to the kiosk use must be included from all pedestrian facilities, including but not limited to sidewalks.


	Sec. 5.4. Personal Wireless Service Facilities
	5.4.1 Purpose
	A. To enhance the ability of the providers of telecommunications services to provide such services to the community safely, effectively and efficiently;
	B. To encourage the users of support structures and antennas to collocate where possible, and to locate all facilities, to the extent possible, in areas where adverse impact on the community is minimal;
	C. To identify standards in order to ensure equitable treatment of providers of functionally equivalent telecommunications services; and
	D. To minimize the visual impact of towers through design, screening and landscaping.

	5.4.2 Prohibited Districts
	A. UE, Urban Estate;
	B. SF-1 through SF-3, Single-Family Dwelling;
	C. SFA through SFA-3, Single-Family Attached;
	D. MH, Manufactured Home;
	E. TH, Townhouse;
	F. 2F, Two-Family Dwelling; and
	G. MF-1 though MF-3, Multiple Family Dwelling.

	5.4.3 I-35 Interstate Corridor Overlay District Standards
	A. Except as provided in this section, Freestanding Personal Wireless Service Facilities are prohibited in the 135, Interstate Corridor Overlay.
	B. Freestanding Stealth Personal Wireless Service Facilities may be considered in all I 35 Interstate Corridor Overlay Sub-Districts by the Director of Planning. The Director of Planning will determine whether or not a proposed freestanding stealth fa...
	C. In addition to Freestanding Stealth Personal Wireless Service Facilities, freestanding monopoles are permitted in the Industrial Sub-District.

	5.4.4 Chief Building Official Review and Final Action
	5.4.5 Conditional Use Permit
	A. A Conditional Use Permit reviewed in accordance with Sec. 3.5 is required for personal wireless service facilities proposed to be located:
	1. In the H, North Central Temple Historic Overlay zoning district; or
	2. In a manner that is not eligible for administrative approval as set forth in Sec. 5.4.3 above.

	B. Every application must be evaluated for compatibility of height with surrounding areas and provision for collocation.
	C. A personal wireless service facility must meet the design standards in Sec. 5.4.5 below.
	D. The radius for mailed notice of a Zoning Map Amendment as described in Sec. 3.3.3 must be increased to 500 feet for an application for a Conditional Use Permit for personal wireless service facilities. The procedure for notice to surrounding proper...

	5.4.6 Design Standards
	A. Boundary and Use Setbacks
	1. A guy or guy anchor for a facility must not be closer than 20 feet to a bounding property line.
	2. The distance between the base of a self-supported tower and the property line of any residential zoning district or use must not be less than 3 times the height of the tower structure.

	B. Security Screening Fence
	1. A solid, wood or masonry fence, a minimum of eight feet in height, must completely enclose the base of every tower.
	2. In a residential zoning district or on property that abuts a residential zoning district or use, a solid wood or masonry fence, a minimum of eight feet in height, must complete enclose all mechanical equipment and accessory structures.
	3. A security screening fence for a facility built or permitted after May 17th, 2001, may not be less than 6 feet in height.
	4. A security fence must be built to safely discourage unauthorized access to facilities by climbing.
	5. External and internal gates and doors that provide access to a facility must be equipped with a self-locking or self-latching mechanism for purposes of preventing unauthorized access.
	6. Screening is not required for a facility located on a building that is not designed or built primarily to support the facility, if the ancillary equipment, including but not limited to the equipment enclosure, is not visible from an abutting proper...

	C. Screening
	1. As much of the total facility as possible must be screened or located so as to not be visible from prevalent views.
	2. Landscaping must be continuously maintained in a healthy, growing condition and be trimmed as necessary to comply with ordinances governing height of grass, corner sight obstruction and street and sidewalk obstruction.

	D. Collocation
	1. Height is not sufficient to meet applicant’s engineering requirements;
	2. Structural strength is not sufficient to support applicant’s proposed facilities and cannot be reinforced in accordance with engineering requirements;
	3. Other aspects of structure do not meet applicant’s technical design requirements;
	4. Electromagnetic interference would result from collocation;
	5. Fees or costs for sharing or adapting are unreasonable; any cost that is less than the cost to construct and develop a new tower is presumed to be reasonable;
	6. Owners of alternative structures are unwilling to accommodate the applicant’s needs within 30 days after the date such owners received applicant's written request; or
	7. Other factors render alternative support structures unsuitable.


	5.4.7  Abandonment of Tower
	A. At such time as the facility is no longer utilized for service, the tower owner or operator must submit written notification to the Chief Building Official within 30 days of non-use.
	B. In the event the use of any facility has been discontinued for a period of 180 consecutive days, the tower is deemed abandoned. The Chief Building Official is responsible for making a determination of the date of abandonment. The Chief Building Off...
	C. Upon such abandonment, the owner or operator of the tower has 90 days to complete either of the following:
	1. Request to reactivate the use of the tower or transfer the tower to another owner or operator with the use of the tower being identical to that approved for the original applicant; or
	2. Dismantle and remove the tower and associated facilities.

	D. If a facility remains abandoned after the 90 day period, the City may require the removal of the facility. All aspects of the facility, including but not limited to paving material, support structures, wires, fencing and platforms must be removed f...

	5.4.8 Removal After Revocation of Permit

	Sec. 5.5. Accessory Uses and Structures
	5.5.1 Use Table for Accessory Uses
	A. Residential Accessory Uses
	B. Nonresidential Accessory Uses
	C. Residential Accessory Uses
	D. Nonresidential Accessory Uses

	5.5.2 Minimum Setback Requirements
	A. The following minimum setback requirements apply to accessory structures.
	B. Notwithstanding the standards in the table in subsection A above, the following standards apply to residential accessory structures.
	1. Where a one-hour fire wall is provided, a side yard setback on one side of a lot only and a rear yard setback is not required for an accessory building.
	2. Detached accessory buildings must be separated from the principle building by a minimum distance of 10 feet
	3. Where a garage or carport is designed and constructed to be side- or alley-loaded, such garage or carport must be set back from the side street or alley a minimum distance of 18 feet to facilitate access without interference to the use of the stree...

	C. Except for a carport or fence for a dwelling in the MU zoning district, an accessory building in a nonresidential zoning district must:
	1. Be located in the rear half of the property;
	2. Be separated from the principle building and any accessory building by a minimum distance of 25 feet; and
	3. Meet the requirements of Chapter 12, Fire Prevention and Protection, of the Code of Ordinances, dependent upon the uses of the building, and meet the general development standards of Article 7 as they relate to accessory buildings.


	5.5.3 Accessory Dwelling Units in Nonresidential Districts
	A. All Nonresidential Districts Except for CA
	1. Only one accessory dwelling unit is permitted per lot.
	2. An accessory dwelling unit may not occupy more than 49 percent of the total gross floor area of the main structure.
	3. An employee of the business occupying the main structure and that employee’s family are the only persons who may occupy an accessory dwelling unit.
	4. Parking is required for the accessory dwelling unit in accordance with Sec. 7.5.4.

	B. CA District
	1. More than one accessory dwelling unit is allowed per lot.
	2. Parking is required for each accessory dwelling unit in accordance with Sec. 7.5.4.


	5.5.4 Home Occupations
	A. General Standards
	1. A home occupation must take place in the main structure only.
	2. The use of a dwelling unit for a home occupation must be clearly incidental and subordinate to its use for residential purposes, and must under no circumstances change the residential character of the dwelling.
	3. Additional persons from outside the family living at the home may not be employed at the home occupation.
	4. A sign advertising the home occupation is not permitted.

	B. Prohibited Characteristics
	C. Prohibited Uses
	1. Repair garage;
	2. Beauty shop;
	3. Barber shop; or
	4. Sexually oriented business.


	5.5.5 Stable, Residential or Noncommercial
	A. The stable building must be set back from all adjacent property lines a minimum of 50 feet and a minimum of 100 feet from any adjacent residence.
	B. The site must be a minimum of one acre in area.


	Sec. 5.6. Temporary Uses
	5.6.1 Permit Required
	A. The following temporary uses require a Temporary Use Permit:
	1. Seasonal Product Sales; and
	2. Farmers’ market.

	B. The following temporary uses require a Commercial Building Permit:
	1. Asphalt or concrete batching plant (temporary); and
	2. Temporary field or construction office.

	C. The following uses or features are exempt from regulation under this section and do not require a Temporary Use Permit or a Commercial Building Permit but must comply with the general requirements set forth in Sec. 5.6.2 and any specific limitation...
	1. Temporary Real estate sales offices or model homes; and
	2. Seasonal product sales in accordance with Sec. 7.7.7.

	D. The Chief Building Official may suspend or revoke a Temporary Use Permit immediately upon determination that general and specific conditions set forth in Sec. 5.6 have been violated.

	5.6.2 General Requirements
	A. If the property is developed, the temporary use must be located in an area that is not actively used by an existing principal use and that would support the proposed temporary use without encroaching or creating a negative impact on existing buffer...
	B. The temporary use must not endanger or be materially detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare or injurious to property or improvements in the immediate vicinity of the temporary use, given the nature of the activity, its location on the...
	C. The height and placement of any merchandise/seasonal products, tents, or temporary structures must not encroach upon the intersection visibility triangle.
	D. Off street parking must be adequate to accommodate the proposed temporary use. This requirement does not apply to Temporary Real Estate Sales Offices or Model Homes.
	E. The temporary use must not cause undue traffic congestion increase accident potential.
	F. Permanent changes to the site are prohibited.  This requirement does not apply to Temporary Real Estate Sales Offices or Model Homes.
	G. No signs in connection with a temporary use are permitted except in accordance with the provisions of Article 6 and Article 7 of this UDC.
	H. No temporary uses may be located in the floodway.

	5.6.3 Use Table for Temporary Uses
	A. Unless otherwise stated, permitted temporary uses for Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning Districts will comply with applicable use standards provided in Article 5.
	B. The following temporary uses are permitted by right, permitted subject to limitations, permitted subject to limitations, or require a Conditional Use Permit issued in accordance with Sec. 3.5.

	5.6.4 Seasonal Product Sales
	A. Seasonal product sales are limited to agricultural or horticultural products including but not limited to pumpkins, Christmas trees, nursery stock or produce sales.
	B. Seasonal product inventory must be located a minimum of 10 feet from the property line.
	C. Seasonal product sales may not be located in the public right-of-way.
	D. Temporary use permits for a season product sales are limited to a single vendor.
	E. Temporary use permits for seasonal product sales are valid for up to three consecutive months.
	F. Temporary use permits may be renewed once annually.
	G. Applicants are limited to two temporary use permits per site per year.
	H. A seasonal product vendor must obtain the written permission of the property owner.

	5.6.5 Temporary Field Office or Construction Office
	5.6.6 Temporary Real Estate Sales Office or Model Home
	5.6.7 Farmers’ Market
	A. A farmers’ market sponsor or organizer must obtain the written permission of the property owner.
	B. All tents, booths, tables, and other temporary structures used in the operation of an outdoor farmers' market must be removed from the farmers' market site at the conclusion of each day the market is in operation.
	C. All trash, fruit or produce remnants, debris, and general litter must be removed from the farmers' market site at the conclusion of each day the market is in operation. The sponsoring committee or organization is responsible for ensuring the genera...
	D.  A farmers’ market is permitted use in the TMED zoning district and the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district subject to all the general and specific requirements identified in Sec. 5.6.
	E. Temporary Use Permits for farmers’ markets are valid for a period of one year.



	Article 6 Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning Districts
	Sec. 6.1. MH, Manufactured Home
	6.1.1 Applicability
	6.1.2 Use Table
	6.1.3 Prohibited Uses
	6.1.4  Dimensional Standards

	Sec. 6.2.  MU, Mixed Use
	6.2.1 Use Table
	6.2.2 Prohibited Uses
	6.2.3 Dimensional Standards
	A. Minimum Front Yard
	B. Minimum Side Yard
	C. Minimum Rear Yard
	D. Minimum Building Separation

	6.2.4 Nonresidential Uses
	A. A Conditional Use Permit approved in accordance with Sec. 3.5 is required for nonresidential uses on property abutting a residential use or residential zoning district.
	B. Hours of operation are limited to the hours between 6:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m.
	C. Exterior lighting must be arranged to reflect away from residentially used property.
	D. Outdoor storage must be screened from the view of neighboring property and streets.

	6.2.5 Accessory Uses

	Sec. 6.3.  TMED, Temple Medical and Educational
	6.3.1 Boundary
	6.3.2 Establishment of Transect Zones
	A. T4 General Urban Zone
	B. T5-e Neighborhood Edge Zone
	C. T5-c Urban Center Zone
	D. Special Districts
	1. S&W Memorial Hospital and Texas A&M Health Science Center (SD-h)
	2. The Central Texas Veterans Health Care System (SD-v)
	3. Temple College (SD-c)
	4. Temple Independent School District (SD-t)


	6.3.3 Applicability
	A. The provisions of the TMED zoning district apply to nonresidential and multiple-family development as established in the table below.
	B. The provisions of the TMED zoning district apply to single-family development as established in the table below.

	6.3.4 TMED Site Plan Review Process
	6.3.5 General Regulations
	A. Applicability
	B. General to all Districts
	C. Permitted Encroachments Into Setbacks
	1. The table below establishes encroachments that are permitted in required setbacks. Encroachment must comply with all other standards of this and other applicable Sections of this UDC.
	2. Buildings are not permitted to overlap property lines.

	D. Building Configuration

	6.3.6 Use Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Prohibited Uses
	1. Agricultural Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1.3;
	2. Auto parts sales;
	3. Commercial Uses as listed in the use table in Sec.5.1.3;
	4. Industrial Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1.3;
	5. Kiosk;
	6. Natural Resource Storage and Extraction Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1.3;
	7. Package store;
	8. Two-family dwelling (Duplex); and
	9. Vehicle Sales and Service Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1.3.

	C. Legend for Interpreting Use Table
	D. Use Table
	E. Specific Use Standards
	1. Uses are limited to a maximum of gross floor area of 10,000 square feet.
	2. In addition to vehicle space in front of drive-through window, three spaces are required for stacking in the drive-through. The drive-through is only permitted to the rear or side of the principal building.
	3. Multiple-family dwellings are permitted only if they are part of a mixed use development in which 40 percent of the nonresidential uses are constructed with or prior to multiple-family construction.
	4. Hotels are permitted in accordance with the following provisions:
	a. External balconies and walkways must be set back 200 feet from any residential zoning district.
	b. Hotel staff must be present on-site 24 hours a day.
	c. All rooms must be accessed through an internal hallway, lobby or courtyard. Exterior entrances to individual rooms are prohibited.
	d. The hotel site must contain a minimum of three amenities from the list below:
	i. Indoor/outdoor pool;
	ii. Spa/sauna;
	iii. Weight room/fitness center;
	iv. Playground;
	v. Sports court;
	vi. Plaza/atrium;
	vii. Game room;
	viii. Conference room (1,000 square foot minimum); or
	ix. Full service restaurant (minimum seating capacity of 35).


	5. All commercial surface parking lots must adhere to screening requirements in subsection 6.3.10E.
	6. Overhead doors are prohibited.
	7. Accessory dwelling units are only permitted on lots with single-family detached structures. Accessory dwelling units are not permitted in the required garage. Accessory dwelling units must comply with all setback and coverage requirements. Accessor...
	8. Parking structures must integrate commercial uses on the first floor on primary and secondary frontages. Parking structures must be treated the same as nonresidential structures for the application of TMED standards.
	9. The Specific Use Standards in Sec. 5.3 apply to use these uses.
	10. The drive-through is only permitted to the rear or side of the principal building and must be screened in accordance with parking lot screening requirements in subsection 6.3.10E.
	11. Fuel stations are only permitted on South 31st Street. Fuel pumps must be located to the rear or side of the principal building and must be screened in accordance with parking lot screening requirements in subsection 6.3.10E. The number of pumps i...
	12. Multiple-family dwellings are not permitted on the first floor of structures fronting on collectors or arterials without approval of a Warrant.
	13. All structured parking on public frontages in SD districts must adhere to screening requirements in subsection 6.3.10E. In addition to screening requirements, one additional ornamental tree must be planted every 25 feet.
	14. All nonresidential standards apply.

	F. Uses Not Addressed
	G. Outdoor Storage
	H. Outdoor Retail Display
	1. Commodities must not be displayed outdoors for sale in a transect zone or Special District where such sale is not an allowed use.
	2. Commodities must not be displayed outdoors for sale in the TMED zoning district, except that temporary outdoor display for a sidewalk sale is permitted that does not extend more than five feet from a front façade and reserves at least five feet of ...

	I. Home Occupations

	6.3.7 Circulation Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Thoroughfare Standards
	1. Cul-de-sacs are prohibited in the TMED zoning district.
	2. New thoroughfares must comply with the Design and Development Standards Manual.

	C. Block Perimeter
	D. Access and Connectivity
	1. General
	a. Access and Connectivity standards do not apply to Special Districts.
	b. Nonresidential driveway connections to adjacent property must be provided.
	c. All driveway connections must be constructed and stubbed or connected to any existing stub.
	d. Driveway spacing must be based on the Design and Development Standards Manual and the appropriate alignment with any existing or proposed median breaks as approved by the City Engineer.
	e. The requirement for a driveway connection may be waived by the Director of Planning when unusual topography or site conditions would make such a driveway or access easement useless to adjoining properties.

	2. Specific to T5-e on First Street


	6.3.8 Parking and Loading Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Required Parking Ratios
	1. Required Parking Ratios do not apply to Special Districts.
	2. The standards in Sec. 7.5.4 apply with the following exceptions:
	a. The minimum requirements for all nonresidential uses and multiple-family uses are reduced by 25 percent.
	b. If parking in excess of 100 percent of the minimum parking spaces required is provided, additional landscaping area and planting equivalent to two percent of the parcel’s impervious cover must be provided per each additional parking space.


	C. Parking Space Dimensions
	D. Parking Requirements for New or Unlisted Uses
	E. Off-Street Loading Regulations
	1. Common or shared loading and delivery entrances must be provided between adjacent buildings or developments.
	2. Off-street loading areas and truck staging areas must be located in the rear yard and must not be visible from the public right-of-way.

	F. Shared Parking
	G. Parking Location
	1. General
	a. Surface parking areas must be screened from all public rights of way by a building or screen in accordance with Screening Standards.
	b. Surface parking areas must be constructed with curb and gutter.

	2. Single-Family Detached or Attached Dwelling, Townhouses, Row Houses and Live/Work Units
	3. Mixed Use, Multiple-family and Nonresidential Uses
	a. Mixed use, multiple-family and nonresidential driveways must be no wider than 24 feet in the first layer.
	b. All parking areas and garages must be located at the second or third layer of the principal frontage, and must be accessed by rear alleys.

	4. Alleys

	H. Specific to Zone T5-e on First Street
	1. A single row of teaser parking not exceeding 40 feet in pavement depth is permitted parallel to South 1st Street.
	2. Where parking is located in the front of the building there must be a minimum setback of ten feet from the right-of-way line to the parking area.

	I. On-Street Parking
	1. On-street parking spaces may be located on streets as identified in the table in subsection 6.3.11B.5.
	2. On-street parking may be used to satisfy 50 percent of the off-street parking standards for nonresidential uses excluding multiple-family dwellings.
	3. On-street parking may only be achieved through parallel parking.


	6.3.9 Bicycle Facility Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Bicycle Facilities
	1. The table below establishes minimum required bicycle rack spaces.
	2. Bicycle facilities must be placed in clearly designated, safe and convenient locations, so that no tenant entrance is greater than 200 feet from a bike facility.
	3. Bike facilities must be separated from motor vehicle parking in order to protect both bicycles and vehicles from accidental damage. Facilities must be separated from the building or other walls, landscaping, other features a minimum of three feet t...
	4. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for the specific bicycle facility models and styles that are permitted in the TMED zoning district.


	6.3.10 Private Property Landscape Standards
	A. Applicability
	B.  General Site Landscape
	1. A minimum percentage of the total area of the private property on which development, construction or reconstruction is proposed must be dedicated to landscape area including trees, shrubs, groundcover, sod or other living plant material.
	2. The table below establishes minimum site landscape requirements for the TMED transect zones.

	C. Tree Mix
	1. Private property trees must be selected from the table in subsection 6.3.12B.
	2. A minimum of 50 percent of required trees must be selected from the medium or large size tree list.
	3. A minimum of 50 percent of required trees must be evergreen species.

	D. Parking Lot Landscaping
	1. Landscaped parking islands are required in all parking lots.
	2. One landscaped island must be provided for every 10 parking spaces. Islands may be located throughout the parking lot except all parking rows must begin and terminate in a curbed landscape island.
	3. Islands must be a minimum of 170 square feet in area and eight feet in width back-of-curb to back-of-curb. One small or medium tree from the approved planting list is required in each island.
	4. All islands must be raised at least six inches, curbed and planted with approved landscaping materials.
	5. Parking islands shrubs, trees and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Sec. 6.3.10.

	E. Parking Lot Screen
	1. All parking must be screened from public rights-of-way a minimum 36 inches in height, through one of the following methods:
	a. Planting screen of evergreen shrubs;
	b. Masonry wall;
	c. Combination of evergreen shrubs and berm; and
	d. Combination of evergreen shrubs and wall.

	2. Planted screening must be capable of providing a solid, opaque 36-inch screen within two years, and must be planted in a prepared bed that is at least three feet in width.
	3. Parking lot screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Sec. 6.3.10.
	4. In addition to required parking lot screen shrubs, four small canopy street trees are required in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual on First Street at all intersections.

	F. Screening of Mechanical Equipment
	1. All roof, ground and wall-mounted mechanical equipment (e.g., air handling equipment, compressors, duct work, transformers and elevator equipment) must be screened from view or isolated so as not to be visible from any residential districts or uses...
	2. Roof-mounted mechanical equipment must be shielded from view on all sides using parapet walls.
	3. Wall or ground-mounted equipment screening must be constructed of:
	a. Vegetative screens; or
	b. Brick, stone, architecturally finished concrete, or other similar masonry materials; and
	c. All fence or wall posts must be concrete-based masonry or concrete pillars.

	4. Exposed conduit, ladders, utility boxes and drain spouts must be painted to match the color of the building.
	5. Mechanical equipment screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Sec. 6.3.10.

	G. Screening of Waste Containers
	1. Waste containers must be located on the rear of the building and screened from public view to minimize visibility. If the property has two public frontages the waste container must be placed on the side of the structure.
	2. Waste containers must be located a minimum of 50 feet away from any residential use or district’s property lines with the exception of multiple-family.
	3. Waste containers must be screened on all four sides, using an enclosure that screens the waste container from view at the property line.
	4. Screening must be at least as tall as the waste container(s) and comprised of materials and color schemes that are visually and aesthetically compatible with the overall project that incorporate the following:
	a. Brick;
	b. Stone;
	c. Stucco;
	d. Architecturally finished concrete; or
	e. Other similar masonry materials.

	5. Waste containers with fence posts must be rust-protected metal, concrete based, masonry or concrete pillars; and waste containers must have six-inch concrete filled steel pipes (bollards) that are located to protect the enclosure from truck operati...
	6. Waste container enclosures must have steel gates with spring-loaded hinges or the equivalent and fasteners to keep them closed. When in use, tie-backs must be used to secure the steel gates in the open position.
	7. Waste container screening must be maintained by the owner at all times.
	8. The ingress, egress, and approach to all waste container pads must conform to fire lane requirements.
	9. Waste container pad and aprons requirements must be constructed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual.
	10. Waste container screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Sec. 6.3.10.

	H. Screening of Loading Docks
	1. Loading and service areas must be located at the rear of the building and screened from public view to minimize visibility. If the property has two public frontages the waste container must be placed on the side of the principal building.
	2. Loading areas must not be located closer than 50 feet to any single-family lot, unless wholly within an enclosed building.
	3. Off-street loading areas must be screened from view from any street or adjacent property of differing land use.
	4. All loading areas must be enclosed on three sides by a wall or other screening device a minimum of eight feet in height.
	5. Loading areas that are visible from any public right-of-way must also include a combination of evergreen trees and shrubs that will result in solid opaque vegetative screening a minimum of eight feet in height within two years of planting. The plan...
	6. Loading dock screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Sec. 6.3.10.

	I. Fence and Wall Standards for All Uses
	1. Fences and walls on the primary and secondary frontage may have a maximum height of three feet.
	2. Fences and walls to the rear of the site may have a maximum height of six feet, unless they are required for loading dock screening.
	3. Fencing and walls must not be placed within the required line of sight as determined by the sight triangle established in Sec. 4.4.8.
	4. Chain link, barbed wire, razor wire and metal or corrugated panels are prohibited.

	J. Nonresidential and Multiple-Family Uses
	1. Fences and walls must be constructed of decorative blocks, brick, stone, vinyl, woodcrete and wrought iron. Alternative materials may be approved by Warrant.
	2. Breaks in the fence or wall must be made to provide for required pedestrian connections to the perimeter of the site and to adjacent developments.

	K. Single-Family Uses

	6.3.11 Public Frontage Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Public Frontage
	1. Public frontage is the space between the existing or proposed back-of-curb and the property line.
	2. Total public frontage depth is measured from back-of-curb. If existing right-of-way does not accommodate all requirements, private property must be used to account for the additional required depth.
	3. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for examples of Public Frontage requirements.
	4. Curb and gutter installation is required.
	5. The table below establishes five public frontage types and assigns standards to each public frontage type.

	C. Public Frontage Implementation
	D. Public Frontage Landscape Standards
	1. Street Trees
	a. One tree per 25’ linear street frontage is required.  Tress must be planted in a regularly spaced pattern. Spacing of trees may be offset to allow a view corridor into the primary entry of a nonresidential use.
	i. Type A, B, C and D Public Frontage
	ii. Type E Public Frontage.

	b. Public frontage trees must be planted within the required street yard planting strip adjacent to the back-of-curb.
	i. Type A Public Frontage
	ii. Type B, C, D, and E Public Frontage

	c. Large canopy trees must be planted if overhead utilities are not present. Medium canopy trees must be planted if overhead utilities are present.

	2. Planting Area
	a. Type A, B, C and D Public Frontage
	b. Type E Public Frontage


	E. Public Frontage Sidewalk Standards
	1. Sidewalks must extend the entire length of the development’s frontage on a public street and must be constructed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual and related provisions in this UDC.
	2. Sidewalks must be constructed before the Chief Building Official issues a Certificate of Occupancy.
	3. Sidewalks must connect to existing adjacent sidewalks, or be designed and placed to allow connection to future adjacent sidewalks.
	4. Sidewalks of different widths must be transitioned within a length of sidewalk by two expansion joints not less than six feet apart as required by Texas Accessibility Standards.
	5. Sidewalks must connect to parking within the lot and to primary entrances of each nonresidential building.
	6. Pedestrian walkways must also connect the principal building entrances to all associated outdoor amenities, such as courtyards and other outdoor gathering places.
	7. Residential sidewalks must be installed from the primary entrance of the residence to the perimeter street sidewalk system.

	F. Public Frontage Amenities
	1. Benches must be provided at all intersections within the public ROW surrounding the development. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for the specific bench models and styles that are permitted in the TMED zoning district.
	2. Trash receptacles must be placed next to required seating areas. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for the specific trash receptacle models and styles that are permitted in the TMED zoning district.
	3. Pedestrian-scale lighting must be provided at all intersections and at 100’ intervals along all public and private roadways within the development. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for the specific pedestrian-scale lighting models and style...

	G. Public Frontage Hike and Bike Trail Implementation

	6.3.12 General Planting Criteria
	A. Applicability
	B. Approved Tree List – Article 7: General Development Standards: Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria: B Approved Tree List.
	C. Approved Groundcover List
	D. Approved Shrubs – Article 7: General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; C Approved Shrub List.
	E. Approved Lawn Grass – Article 7; General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; E approved Lawn Grass.
	F. Landscape Installation – Applicable to TMED
	1. Trees
	a. All required large trees must be a minimum of three inches in diameter at breast height or 65-gallon container size at planting.
	b. All required medium trees must be a minimum of two and one-half inches in diameter at breast height at planting.
	c. All required small trees must be a minimum of two inches in diameter at breast height at planting at planting.

	2. Shrubs
	3. Groundcover
	4. Lawn Grass
	a. Grass areas must be planted with drought resistant species normally grown as permanent lawns, such as Bermuda, Zoysia or Buffalo.
	b. Grass areas must be sodded, plugged, sprigged, or seeded. However, solid sod must be used in swales, berms or other areas subject to erosion.

	5. Landscape Maintenance
	a. All new plant material must be planted and maintained in accordance with the latest edition of the American National Standards Institute requirements for Tree, Shrub, and Other Woody Plant Maintenance (ANSI A300 Parts 1 through 6).
	b. All required public frontage and private frontage landscaping must be maintained in good condition after installation. The owner must replace any plant material that ever becomes diseased, deteriorates or dies within 30 days of death of the plant m...

	6. Irrigation


	6.3.13 Architectural Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Materials Required
	1. The exterior finish material on all facades is limited to brick, stone, cementitious siding and stucco.
	2. Cementitious siding is limited to a maximum 20 percent per façade plane for multiple-family and nonresidential uses.
	3. A minimum of two distinct materials are required on all facades. Materials may be combined on each facade only horizontally, with the heavier below the lighter.
	4. Balconies and porches must be made of painted wood, concrete or metal.

	C. Accent Materials
	1. Tile;
	2. Exterior Insulation Finishing System (EIFS);
	3. Wood Siding or shingles;
	4. Architecturally finished concrete block;
	5. Architectural metal; and
	6. Other materials may be approved by warrant.

	D. Building Design

	6.3.14 Parking and Garage Standards
	6.3.15 Private Property Common Area Standards
	A. Private property common area requirements do not apply to Special Districts or single-family detached and single-family attached residential uses in T4 and T5.
	B. Common area requirements are in addition to required public and private landscaping.
	C. Multiple open space areas may be created, however all open space areas must contain a minimum of 100 sq ft.
	D. Common areas must have defined edges, either through grade change, perimeter edging or the integration of buildings as perimeter edging.
	E. The table below establishes minimum private property common area standards for the TMED zoning district.

	6.3.16 Sign Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Permitted Sign Types
	C. Specific Sign Type Standards
	1. Sandwich Board Sign
	2. Projecting Sign
	3. Wall Sign
	4. Monument Sign
	a. Monument signs may be approved by Warrant only. If approved, they are limited to one per lot with a maximum of 50 square feet per sign face, a maximum height of six feet and a maximum width of two feet.
	b. A monument sign must not interrupt the required tree planting and spacing or be located within three feet of a hike and bike trail.
	c. Sign material must consist of a limestone or brick base and columns that are architecturally compatible to the principal building. Other materials may be approved by Warrant if architecturally compatible.

	5. Multi-Tenant Sign
	a. Multi-tenant signs may be approved by Warrant only. If approved they must be limited to one per lot and a maximum of 60 square feet per sign face, 8 feet in height and 2 feet in width.
	b. Such sign must not interrupt the required tree planting and spacing or be located within 3 feet of a Hike and Bike Trail.
	c. Signage material must consist of limestone or brick that is architecturally compatible to the Principal Building. Other materials must be approved by warrant if architecturally compatible.

	6. Directional Sign
	7. Exceptions
	8. Lighting
	9. Prohibited Signs


	6.3.17 Street Light Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Street Light Policy

	6.3.18  Utility Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Underground Utilities Required


	Sec. 6.4. PD, Planned Development Overlay
	6.4.1 Permitted Uses
	6.4.2 Dimensional Standards and Design Elements

	Sec. 6.5.  H, North Central Temple Historic Overlay
	6.5.1 Zoning District Map Amendments
	6.5.2 Modification of Base Zoning District

	Sec. 6.6.  FP, Floodplain Overlay
	6.6.1 FP Designation
	6.6.2 Permitted Uses
	A. Agricultural Uses as listed in the Use Table in Sec. 5.1;
	B. Off-street parking incidental to principal uses permitted in the district;
	C. Utility Uses as listed in the Use Table in Sec. 5.1;
	D. Public or private park or playground, community center, or public golf course;
	E. Natural Resource Storage and Extraction Uses as listed in the Use Table in Sec. 5.1 with Flood Plain Administrator approval in writing before such operation is begun;
	F. Recreational and Entertainment Uses as listed in the Use Table in Sec. 5.1 that take place outdoors if approved by Conditional Use Permit in accordance with Sec. 3.5; and
	G. Heliport if approved by Conditional Use Permit in accordance with Sec. 3.5.

	6.6.3 Flood Plain Administrator Review and Final Action
	6.6.4 Removal From Overlay
	A. An area may be removed from the flood plain "FP" prefix designation when by the provision of drainage works, grading, flood protection or specific drainage study, the City Engineer determines that the flood hazard has been alleviated. Removal of th...
	B. The fact that land is, or is not, within a district having a flood plain "FP" prefix may not be interpreted as assurance that such land or area is, or is not, subject to periodic local flooding.


	Sec. 6.7.  I35, Interstate 35 Corridor Overlay
	6.7.1 Boundary
	A. Tracts of land that abut or adjoin a public street or an intersection with I-35;
	B. Tracts of land that are developed used, managed, or marketed as a group that includes a tract of land that abuts or adjoins a public or private access street or an intersection with I-35; or
	C. Tracts of land that shares parking space with a tract of land that abuts or adjoins a public or private access street or an intersection with I-35.

	6.7.2 Sub-Districts
	A. Civic Sub-District
	B. Industrial Sub-District
	C. Freeway Retail/Commercial Sub-District
	D. City Entry Sub-District

	6.7.3 Applicability
	6.7.4 Design Review
	A. Design Review Process
	1. This Section establishes a design review process to ensure that all development within the I-35 Corridor Overlay District meets requirements set forth in these design standards. The review covers site planning, architecture, landscaping, exterior l...
	2. The design review process is divided into four steps:
	a. Design Orientation;
	b. Conceptual Design Review;
	c. Preliminary Design Review; and
	d. Construction Documents Review.

	3. Formal submittals for design review must be provided at each of the steps in the design review process listed above. Official approvals must be obtained in writing for each of these steps.
	4. All requests for design review approvals must be submitted in writing to the City.
	5. The applicant must provide all required submittals to the City in a single package that includes the following information:
	a. Property owner’s name, mailing address, business telephone and home telephone numbers;
	b. Lot number (location of proposed construction);
	c. Name, address and phone number of architect or owner’s representative;
	d. Scale, north arrow, preferably at a scale of 1"=100' or smaller; and
	e. Architectural plans at a scale ¼ " = 1' or smaller.

	6. Questions, meetings and informal and partial submittals are encouraged to promote early communication and resolution of issues. Verbal responses are unofficial and are subject to change in written response. Only written approvals from the City are ...

	B. Submittal Requirements
	1. Design Orientation
	2. Conceptual Design
	a. When the initial design for the project is prepared, two conceptual drawings must be submitted to the City for formal review. This review covers conceptual site planning, architecture, landscape areas, and sign location.
	b. The purpose of this conceptual design review is to provide the owner and designer with written assurance that the fundamental designs are acceptable, before requiring plans suitable for City permitting. It also provides a clear list of any issues t...

	3. Preliminary Design
	a. Two sets of preliminary design plans must be submitted for this review. These plans must include, but are not limited to the following:
	i. Preliminary Site Plan
	(A) All property lines, easements, setbacks and buildable area limits;
	(B) Location of water, sewer and electrical connections and conceptual distribution layout;
	(C) All buildings, walls, driveways, parking, walks, pools, patios, terraces, signs and any other above grade development;
	(D) Dimensions between existing and proposed construction and between proposed construction and nearest property lines;
	(E) Building height reference elevation; and
	(F) Vicinity map showing relationships of this site to the rest of the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district.

	ii. Preliminary Grading
	(A) Existing and proposed ground level contour concepts; and
	(B) Slope treatment and drainage concepts.

	iii. Preliminary Roof Plan
	(A) Any unusual conditions or construction requirements; and
	(B) All roof mounted equipment and required screening.

	iv. Preliminary Building Elevations
	(A) At least two principal exterior elevations of all proposed buildings (in color);
	(B) Maximum building heights on each elevation drawing; and
	(C) Conceptual finish materials, colors and textures under consideration.

	v. Preliminary Building Sections
	vi. Preliminary Landscape Plan
	(A) Planting concept, including locations and types of all plant materials; and
	(B) Demonstration that plant and wall design along the street frontage meets the streetscape design guideline requirements for the I-35 Corridor Overlay District.

	vii. Fence and Wall Plan
	(A) Locations, materials, colors and heights in relation to on-site grades; and
	(B) Relationships to walls, fences and grades on adjacent parcels.

	viii. Sign Plan
	(A) Locations in relation to on-site grades; and
	(B) Elevations and details of sign graphics with data table of permitted and proposed.

	ix. Tree Survey


	4. Construction Documents
	a. When the preliminary design is further refined and the final construction drawings and specifications for the project have been prepared, they must be submitted to the Chief Building Official for review and final decision. This review covers all de...
	b. The purpose of construction documents design review is to provide the owner and designers with written assurance that the final design is acceptable for construction and that any conditions placed on the previous review have been addressed.
	c. Two sets of final construction plans must be submitted for this review. They must contain, but are not limited to a Final Site Plan showing:
	i. Final locations of all structures, terraces, patios, driveways, parking and walk ways;
	ii. Dimensions from buildings and paved areas to setbacks and property lines;
	iii. Water, sewer and electrical connection points and distribution lines;
	iv. Locations of all above-ground mechanical equipment, including electrical transformers, fuel tanks, water tanks, filtration equipment, backflow  prevention devices, air-conditioning units and irrigation controllers; and
	v. Any other drawings required by the City for construction permitting.

	d. After the Final Site Plan is approved, an approval letter must be submitted to the owner within 12 working days, giving written assurance the Final Site Plan drawings have been found acceptable for construction. At this time the building plans may ...



	6.7.5 General Design Requirements
	A. Final Site Plan Review
	1. A Final Site Plan must be submitted, reviewed and approved prior to construction for all developments proposed on a tract of land within the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district.
	2. The Final Site Plan must contain sufficient information demonstrating compliance with all of the applicable requirements of this overlay zoning district and any additional information required by the Director of Planning.
	3. In reviewing the Final Site Plan, the City may consider other factors that may be relevant to a particular application,  which may include the following:
	a. The relationship to neighboring properties;
	b. The zoning and the uses of nearby properties;
	c. The extent to which the proposed use would substantially harm the value of nearby properties;
	d. The extent to which the proposed use would adversely affect the capacity or safety of that portion of the road network influence by the use, or present parking problems in the vicinity of the property;
	e. The extent to which utilities and services, including, but not limited to, sewer, water service, police and fire protection and are available and adequate to serve the proposed use;
	f. The conformance of the proposed use to the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district, the Comprehensive Plan and other adopted planning policies; and
	g. The recommendation of the professional staff.


	B. Tree Preservation
	1. A tree survey and preservation plan is required with the preliminary site plan submittal. The tree survey must be signed and sealed by a licensed landscape architect, arborist, engineer or land surveyor.
	2. The location, diameter, height and common name of all trees with more than a six-inch DBH must be shown on the plan.
	3. The removal of protected trees must be replaced on the property by planting new trees, found in the Plant List in subsection F below, that are equal to the total caliper-inches of the removed trees.
	4. The City has taken inventory of existing vegetation along the IH 35 Corridor to ensure compliance with this Section.

	C. Parking
	1. Curb and gutter six inches in height is required around the perimeter of the parking area and all landscaped parking islands.
	2. Parking aisles must be designed to be perpendicular to the front of the principal building.
	3. Parking to the side and rear of buildings is encouraged and preferred.
	4. Parking areas must be planned so that vehicles are not required to back out of parking spaces directly into a public or private street.
	5. Parking lots must be designed to preserve the maximum amount of existing trees on site as possible.
	6. Parking spaces that face and are adjacent to a building must utilize wheel stops.
	7. Wheel stops are required adjacent to all landscaped areas.
	8. Wheel stops are required adjacent to all sidewalks, except for raised sidewalks at least 6 feet in width (8 feet if parking spaces front both sides).
	9. All parking must be landscaped and screened per the standards set forth in subsection E.12 below.
	10. No parking is allowed in the landscape buffer.

	D. Screening and Wall Standards
	1. Storage in connexes, shipping containers and semi-trailers is not permitted. Portable buildings may not be made into permanent structures in any form.
	2. All garage and service bays, including but not limited to off-street loading bays and service bays used for vehicle repair and servicing, must be located to the rear of the principal building or on the side of the building that is not visible to th...
	3. No outside storage and display, sales, leasing or operation of merchandise outside of sales areas for dealerships for new trucks, cars, boats and motorcycles, are permitted unless such activity is visually screened with a continuous solid screening...
	4. Any public utility stations, such as lift stations and electric sub-stations, must be screened from public view with a masonry wall matching the architectural style and color of the building.
	5. A masonry wall matching the architectural style and color of the building must be located between properties when a multiple-family or nonresidential use abuts a residential use or zoning district. Such wall must not be less than six feet or more t...
	6. Except as provided below, the following site elements must not be clearly visible at eye level from any public street right-of-way or any adjoining residential use or located within 100 feet of any public street right-of-way, unless a masonry scree...
	a.  Vehicle Loading and Unloading Zones and Service Areas
	b. Refuse Storage and Compactors
	c. Mechanical and Utility Equipment
	i. All ground mounted service equipment such as air conditioners, transformers, trash collection equipment, and other service functions must be located at the rear of buildings, and integrated into the building envelope or enclosed service areas, unle...
	ii. If such equipment is visible from a public street right-of-way, the screening materials must be 100 percent opaque. Screens must incorporate shrubbery with year-round foliage, or a wall, fence, or architectural element of the adjacent building, an...
	iii. All roof-mounted equipment must be screened from a vantage point that is six feet above finished street grade with materials that are 100 percent opaque. In all cases, screening must be compatible with building color and materials.



	E. Landscape
	1. A total of 15 percent of the total site area must be landscaped with living approved trees, shrubs and groundcovers. Such landscape areas must consist of approved plants and irrigation covering 100 percent of the required landscaped area.
	2. All required landscaping must be maintained in good condition after installation. The owner must replace any plant material that becomes diseased, deteriorated or dies within 30 days.
	3. Areas not covered by building or pavement must be landscaped.
	4. Drainage facilities are not allowed within the landscape area except those that are necessary to convey drainage in the shortest possible route to or from the public street right-of-way. Drainage facilities include detention ponds, water quality po...
	5. Vegetation must be used to soften the appearance of walls, including those used for screening. This may include either vines trained up the wall or minimum five-gallon shrubs planted a minimum of thirty inches on center.
	6. Foundation plantings are required within a planting area a minimum of six feet in width along 70 percent of the length of any façade visible to the public. Foundation planting may count toward the required minimum site landscape area required in pa...
	7. All landscape and turf areas must be irrigated and maintained on a regularly scheduled basis.
	8. A landscape buffer is required adjacent to any public street right-of-way based on the sub-district’s Area Regulations and as follows.
	a. One minimum three-inch caliper canopy tree, as set forth in the City’s Plan List, must be planted for each 30 feet of frontage along public street rights-of-way as measured along the lot lines.
	b. Required trees must not be planted in a regular interval, but in clusters.
	c. Substituting four ornamental trees per one canopy tree is allowed under power lines.
	d. A minimum 60 percent of required trees must be evergreen with year around foliage.
	e. A minimum 20 percent of the required landscape buffer must have native grass beds or wildflowers.
	f. Berms not less than 24 inches nor more than 48 inches in height at no more than a four to one slope are required in the landscape buffer, covering a minimum of 50 percent of the buffer area.

	9. Any of the following must be screened by a continuous hedge or shrubs, earthen berms, or retaining walls that are two and one-half to four feet in height:
	a. Parking lot or vehicle use area;
	b. Fuel pumps visible from the direction of traffic flow; or
	c. Vehicle drive-through window facing the street or traffic flow.

	10. Meandering sidewalks a minimum of five feet in width are required in accordance with City standards within the landscape buffer the entire length of the street frontage in the following locations.
	a. Along any street in the Civic Sub-District; and
	b. Along any street that intersects or runs immediately parallel with I-35, if the Trails Master Plan recommends a sidewalk adjacent to the property.

	11. The width and composition of a sidewalk required in subsection 10 above must be in accordance with the following standards.
	a. A sidewalk that is a minimum of 10 feet in width is required where the Trails Master Plan shows a Citywide Spine Trail adjacent to the property.
	b. A sidewalk that is a minimum of eight feet in width is required where the Trails Master Plan shows a Community-Wide Connector Trail adjacent to the property.
	c.  A sidewalk that is a minimum of six feet in width is required where the Trails Master Plan shows a Local Connector Trail adjacent to the property.

	12. Landscaped parking islands are required as follows in all parking lots, but are not required adjacent to industrial truck docks. Parking islands may count toward the required minimum landscape area set forth in the sub-district Area Regulations.
	a. Interior Islands
	b. Terminal Islands
	c. Median Islands

	13. All landscape areas must accent building features, entryways and driveways.
	14. Native plants and drought tolerant species are preferable to reduce water requirements.

	F. Approved Tree List – See Article 7; General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; B Approved Tree List.
	G. Approved Groundcover List – See Article 7; General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; C Approved Shrub List.
	H. Approved Shrubs – See Article 7; General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; D Approved Groundcover List.
	I. Approved Lawn Grass – See Article 7; General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; E Approved Lawn Grass.
	J. Signs
	1. Permitted Sign Types
	2. Maximum Signs per Site
	3. Multi-Tenant Sign Provisions
	a. Developments containing three or more businesses, whether in single or multiple buildings, must share freestanding sign structures for advertisement of multiple businesses within the development. This provision applies to businesses located on the ...
	b. Multi-tenant sites are permitted a maximum of one freestanding sign (monument or pylon) per 300 feet of frontage on the I-35 Frontage Road. Both individual business freestanding signs and multi-tenant signs count towards the total for the entire de...
	i. Multi-tenant pylon signs must be oriented to the I-35 Frontage Roads, not to side streets.
	ii. Multi-tenant monument signs may be used at primary entranceways (spacing permitting) on streets not directly fronting I-35.
	iii. Businesses may not advertise on both multi-tenant pylon signs and individual single-site pylon signs;
	iv. One monument sign is permitted per individual business advertised on multi-tenant signs.


	4. Freestanding Sign Materials
	5. Sign Illumination
	6. Pylon Sign Provisions
	7. Prohibited Sign Types
	a. Roof Sign;
	b. Banner or Pole Banner;
	c. Fence Sign;
	d. Inflatable Device;
	e. Message Board; and
	f. Pole Sign.


	K. On Premises Lighting
	1. Directional Control
	a. All luminaires of 1,800 or more lumens must be full-cutoff as installed. For luminaires under 1,800 the bulb must be frosted glass or installed behind a translucent cover. Floodlights must be aimed no higher than 45 degrees below horizontal. This c...
	b. Exterior lighting must have soft, indirect illumination concealed behind landscaping or placed in outdoor lighting fixtures that do not produce direct glare. Lighting must be focused and provide the minimum amount of illumination required for safety.
	c. On-site lighting design must be used to identify and illuminate entries, walks and parking areas. Site lighting used for building illumination must be down wall washing only. No flood lighting or up lighting is permitted.
	d. Security lighting must be designed to avoid glare, and must direct light toward the building or storage area instead of away.

	2. Reasonableness of Intensity
	a. The maximum allowable total lumens generated on each parcel are 80,000 lumens per net acre with full-cutoff lighting. Parcels less than one net acre are allowed full-cutoff lumens in a portion equal to the parcel's portion of a net acre.
	b. Lights mounted on the underside of a roof 15 or more feet from any edge of the roof count one-quarter toward the limit. Lights on the underside of a roof less than 15 feet from the edge of the roof count one-half toward total lumens.
	c. Exterior lighting must have soft, indirect illumination concealed behind landscaping or placed in outdoor lighting fixtures that do not produce direct glare.
	d. Lighting must be focused and provide the minimum amount of illumination required for safety.
	e. Outdoor lighting fixtures must be a maximum of 30 feet in height. All light fixtures located within 50 feet of any residential use must not exceed 15 feet in height.
	f. Lighting that flashes, blinks or moves in any way is not allowed.
	g. Mercury vapor lighting is not allowed.

	3. Light Trespass
	a. The maximum illumination at five feet inside an adjacent residential parcel or public street right-of-way, or beyond, from light emitted from an artificial light source is 0.1 horizontal foot-candles and 0.1 vertical foot-candles. Such illumination...
	b. No line of sight to a bulb is permitted five feet or more beyond a residential property line or public street right-of-way by an observer viewing from a position that is level with or higher than the ground below the fixture. Compliance is achieved...

	4. Sign Lighting
	5. Temporary Lighting
	6. All-Night Lighting
	7. Lighting Exemptions
	a. Swimming pools and other water features, monuments, historic structures, or flags;
	b. Stairs and ramps, as required by the Building Code;
	c. Signs must meet the requirements in Sec. 7.6.3I of this UDC, but all signs are recommended to be fully shielded;
	d. Holiday and temporary lighting must meet the requirements in Sec. 7.6.8 of this UDC;
	e. Sports lighting is exempt from the lumens per net acre limitations as to the playing field only, but full-cutoff fixture design is required and light trespass requirements apply; and
	f. Low voltage landscape lighting, but such lighting should be shielded in such a way as to eliminate glare and light trespass.


	L. Utilities

	6.7.6 Dimensional Illustration
	6.7.7 Civic Sub-District
	A. Permitted and Conditional Uses
	B. Dimensional Standards
	C. Landscape
	1. An additional 10 percent of vegetation is required above the general landscaping requirements in landscape buffer areas.
	2. In addition to those trees already required ornamental trees must be used in the landscape buffer. One, minimum two-inch caliper, ornamental tree must be planted for each 30 feet of frontage along public street rights-of-way as measured along the l...


	6.7.8 Industrial Sub-District
	A. Permitted Uses
	B. Prohibited and Conditional Uses
	C. Dimensional Standards
	D. Architectural Design
	1. Site Development
	a. The location and placement of buildings on individual sites must reflect consideration for roadway access, the preservation of major existing natural vegetation, visual impact and the relationship to surrounding developments.
	b. In order to preserve privacy of residential properties when located adjacent to nonresidential uses in a non-mixed use setting, the building must fit within a 2:1 slope from the residential property line, regardless if distance is greater than that...

	2. Exterior Appearance of Buildings and Structures
	a. All buildings must be architecturally finished on all sides with same materials, detailing and features, with a higher level of finish on the primary facades.
	b. Building entrances must be articulated six feet and defined to present a strong entry presence. All buildings must be designed to incorporate no less than one of the following architectural elements. Buildings over 50,000 square feet must include a...
	i. Canopies, awnings or porticos;
	ii. Overhangs;
	iii. Recesses or projections;
	iv. Arcades;
	v. Peaked roof forms;
	vi. Arches;
	vii. Outdoor patios;
	viii. Display windows;
	ix. Architectural details (such as tile work or moldings) integrated into building façade;
	x. Articulated ground floor levels or base;
	xi. Articulated cornice line;
	xii. Integrated planters or wing walls that incorporate landscape and sitting areas;
	xiii. Offsets, reveals or projecting rib used to express architectural or structural bay; or
	xiv. Accent materials.

	c. Building design must incorporate a basic level of architectural variety. All industrial buildings with facades greater than 250 feet in length, visible from a public street right-of-way, must have wall plane projections or recesses that are a minim...

	3. Building Materials and Colors
	a. Conceptual facade plans, color palette and sample boards must be submitted with the Preliminary Site Plan application. Final facade plan and sample boards must be submitted with final site plan application for all nonresidential uses.
	b. The color of all structures must be generally earth-tone in hue. The Director of Planning may approve accent colors that are not earth tone, but may not approve a façade that displays more than 10 percent of non-earth tone colors. No façade may dis...
	c. The designer may select a variety of exterior materials for use as the dominant material on the facades of a building, but the number of materials on a single building must be limited to no more than three materials in order to achieve a clean desi...
	d. Windows must not be glazed or re-glazed with mirrored or reflective glass.
	e. Maintenance and durability of materials must be considered as important qualities for every element of the design. Special care must be taken to specify the use of vandal resistant building components.
	f. The following is a list of approved building materials and accent materials per façade (not to exceed 20 percent of materials used). The Director of Planning may approve materials not listed below.



	6.7.9 Freeway Retail / Commercial Sub-District
	A. Permitted Uses
	B. Prohibited and Conditional Uses
	C. Dimensional Standards
	D. Architectural Design
	1. Site Development
	a. Development must be sited as to maximize street presence.
	b. The location and placement of buildings on individual sites must reflect consideration for roadway access, the preservation of major existing natural vegetation, visual impact and the relationship to surrounding developments.
	c. In order to preserve privacy of residential properties when located adjacent to nonresidential uses in a non-mixed use setting, the building must fit within a 2:1 slope from the residential property line, regardless if distance is greater than that...

	2. Exterior Appearance of Buildings and Structures
	a. All buildings, including accessory buildings, must be architecturally finished on all sides with the same materials, detailing and features, with a higher level of finish on the primary facades.
	b. As an alternative for facades that are not visible from a public street, a single row of trees may be planted along the building or in the landscape buffer on offset 30-foot centers in a minimum 10-foot landscape edge, where 50 percent of the trees...
	c. Building entrances must be articulated and defined to present a strong entry presence. Such entries must be inset or offset from the front building plane by at least six feet. All buildings must be designed to incorporate no less than three of the ...
	i. Canopies, awnings, or porticos;
	ii. Overhangs;
	iii. Recesses or projections;
	iv. Arcades;
	v. Peaked roof forms;
	vi. Arches;
	vii. Outdoor patios;
	viii. Display windows;
	ix. Architectural details (such as tile work or moldings) integrated into building facade;
	x. Articulated ground floor levels or base;
	xi. Articulated cornice line;
	xii. Integrated planters or wing walls that incorporate landscape and sitting areas;
	xiii. Offsets, reveals or projecting rib used to express architectural or structural bay; or
	xiv. Accent materials (minimum 10 percent of exterior façade).

	d. All buildings must be designed and constructed in tri-partite architecture to express a base, midsection and top. The base and tops of buildings must vary in material, and the heaviest building material must be used as the base. All facades must in...
	i. Articulated ground floor levels;
	ii. Minimum three-foot overhangs at eaves; and
	iii. Articulated cornice lines.

	e. All buildings must be designed to be consistent with the purpose of the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district. Building design must incorporate a basic level of architectural variety. All retail and commercial buildings with facades greater than 20...
	f. Buildings must contain a minimum of 40 percent and up to a maximum of 80 percent of windows on each building elevation, excluding the rear elevation.

	3. Building Materials and Colors
	a. Conceptual facade plans, color palette and sample boards must be submitted with the Preliminary Site Plan application. Final facade plan and sample boards must be submitted with final site plan application for all nonresidential uses.
	b. The color of all structures must be generally earth-tone in hue. The Director of Planning may approve accent colors that are not earth tone, but may not approve a façade that displays more than 10 percent of non-earth tone colors. No façade may dis...
	c. The designer may select a variety of exterior materials for use as the dominant material on the facades of a building, but the number of materials on a single building must be limited to no more than three materials in order to achieve a clean desi...
	d. No single building material may cover more than 80 percent of the front of any building, with the exception of on-site utility or service structures.
	e. Windows must not be glazed or re-glazed with mirrored or reflective glass.
	f. Maintenance and durability of materials must be considered as important qualities for every element of the design. Special care must be taken to specify the use of vandal resistant building components.
	g. The following is a list of approved building materials and accent materials per façade (not to exceed 20 percent of materials used). The Director of Planning may approve materials not listed below.


	E. Vehicle Sales
	1. Parking lot islands must be located at the end of the inventory aisle, span the width of such aisle and have a minimum depth of 10 feet; and
	2. Evergreen shrubs a minimum of five gallons in size must completely fill the island area.

	F. Vehicle Sales in Portion of Sub-district
	1. Inventory Parking Lot Islands
	a. Parking lot islands must be located at the end of the inventory aisle, span the width of such aisle and have a minimum depth of 10 feet.
	b. Evergreen shrubs a minimum of five gallons in size must completely fill the island area.

	2. Landscape Buffer
	a. A landscape buffer a minimum of 10 feet wide is required adjacent to Jack White Boulevard.
	b. A landscape buffer a minimum of five feet wide is required adjacent to North 31st Street.

	3. Garage and Service Bays
	a. Garage and service bays, including but not limited to off-street loading bays and service bays used for vehicle repair and servicing, must face Jack White Boulevard and Bray Street.
	b. A wing wall or opaque landscaping is not required to screen garage and service bays as required in Sec. 6.7.5D, if landscaping along north General Bruce Drive and Jack White Boulevard is designed to screen such garages and bays.



	6.7.10 City Entry Sub-District
	A. Permitted Uses
	B. Prohibited and Conditional Uses
	C. Dimensional Standards
	D. Architectural Design
	1. Site Development
	a. Development must be sited as to maximize street presence.
	b. The location and placement of buildings on individual sites must reflect consideration for roadway access, the preservation of major existing natural vegetation, visual impact and the relationship to surrounding developments.
	c. In order to preserve privacy of residential properties when located adjacent to nonresidential uses in a non-mixed use setting, the building must fit within a 2:1 slope from the residential property line, regardless if distance is greater than that...

	2. Exterior Appearance of Buildings and Structures
	a. All buildings, including “out” buildings, must be architecturally finished on all sides with same materials, detailing and features, with a higher level of finish on the primary facades.
	b. For facades that are not visible from the public streets, a single row of trees can be planted along the building or in the landscape buffer on offset 25-foot centers in a minimum 10-foot landscape edge, where 50 percent of the trees are canopy eve...
	c. The principal building wall is to be setback a minimum of 18 and a maximum of 24 feet from the back of the drive curb.
	d. Building entrances must be articulated and defined to present a strong entry presence. Such entries must be inset or offset from the front building plane by at least four feet. All buildings must be designed to incorporate no less than three of the...
	i. Canopies, awnings or porticos;
	ii. Overhangs;
	iii. Recesses or projections;
	iv. Arcades;
	v. Peaked roof forms;
	vi. Arches;
	vii. Outdoor patios;
	viii. Display windows;
	ix. Architectural details (such as tile work or moldings) integrated into building façade;
	x. Articulated ground floor levels or base;
	xi. Articulated cornice line;
	xii. Integrated planters or wing walls that incorporate landscape and sitting areas;
	xiii. Offsets, reveals or projecting rib used to express architectural or structural bay; and
	xiv. Accent materials (minimum 10 percent of exterior façade).

	e. All buildings must be designed and constructed in tri-partite architecture to express a base, midsection and top (see Exhibit D). The base and tops of buildings must vary in material, and the heaviest building material must be used as the base. All...
	i. Articulated ground floor levels;
	ii. Minimum three-foot overhangs at eaves; and
	iii. Articulated cornice lines.

	f. All buildings must be designed to be consistent with the purpose of the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district. Building design must incorporate a basic level of architectural variety. All retail and commercial buildings with facades greater than 15...
	g. Buildings must contain a minimum of 40 percent and up to a maximum of 80 percent of windows on each building elevation, excluding the rear elevation.

	3. Building Materials and Colors
	a. Conceptual facade plans, color palette and sample boards must be submitted with the Preliminary Site Plan application. Final facade plan and sample boards must be submitted with final site plan application for all nonresidential uses.
	b. The color of all structures must be generally earth-tone in hue. The Director of Planning may approve accent colors that are not earth tone, but may not approve a façade that displays more than 10 percent of non-earth tone colors. No façade may dis...
	c. The designer may select a variety of exterior materials for use as the dominant material on the facades of a building, but the number of materials on a single building must be limited to no more than three materials in order to achieve a clean desi...
	d. No single building material may cover more than 80 percent of the front of any building, with the exception of on-site utility or service structures.
	e. Windows must not be glazed or re-glazed with mirrored or reflective glass.
	f. Maintenance and durability of materials must be considered as important qualities for every element of the design. Special care must be taken to specify the use of vandal resistant building components.
	g. The following is a list of approved building materials and accent materials per façade (not to exceed 20 percent of materials used). The Director of Planning may approve materials not listed below.


	E. Landscape
	1. A minimum of 15 percent of the total site area must be landscaped.
	2. All driveways into the site must have enhanced paving of stone, brick or patterned concrete for a minimum of 50 percent of the driveway throat.
	3. An additional 10 percent of vegetation is required above the general landscaping requirements in landscaped buffer areas.
	4. In addition to those trees already required, small canopy trees must be used in the landscape buffer. One minimum two-inch caliper small canopy tree must be planted for each 30 feet of frontage along public street rights-of-way as measured along th...
	5. One minimum three-inch caliper large or medium canopy tree must be planted for each 25 feet of frontage along public street rights-of-way as measured along the lot lines.

	F. Lighting
	G. Utilities


	Sec. 6.8. 1st and 3rd Overlay District
	6.8.1 Boundary
	6.8.2 Applicability
	A. The provisions of 1st and 3rd Overlay District apply to development types in the table below.
	B.  Improvements to existing buildings are cumulative within a 15-year period when determining which of the following standards apply. Costs of interior improvements count toward the cumulative improvement thresholds, but standards are not triggered u...
	C. When more than one threshold is reached, the most stringent standards apply.
	D. All other provisions of the UDC apply unless otherwise stated.

	6.8.3 1st and 3rd Overlay District Site Plan Review Process
	6.8.4 General Standards
	A. Article 4, Zoning Districts, applies in its entirety with the addition of the following:
	1. Maximum impervious lot coverage for residential uses is 50%.
	2. Maximum impervious lot coverage for non-residential uses is 70%.

	B. Article 5, Use Standards, applies in its entirety.
	C. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.1 Performance Standards applies in its entirety.

	6.8.5 Access and Circulation Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.2 Access and Circulation does not apply.
	C. Thoroughfare Standards
	1. Cul-de-sacs are prohibited in the 1st and 3rd Overlay District.
	2. Flag lots are prohibited in the 1st and 3rd Overlay District.

	D. Access and Connectivity
	1. General
	a. All driveway connections must be constructed and stubbed or connected to any existing stub.
	b. Driveway spacing must be based on the appropriate alignment with any existing or proposed median breaks as approved by the City Engineer and TxDOT.
	c. Each business is permitted one 24’ wide curb cut per street frontage.
	d. If a site has greater than 300’ of frontage on South 1st or greater than 400’ of frontage on North 3rd, it may have two 24’ wide curb cuts for that street frontage.



	6.8.6 Public Frontage Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Public Frontage
	1. Public frontage is generally the space between the existing or proposed back-of-curb and the property line.
	2. Total public frontage depth is measured from back-of-curb. If existing right-of-way does not accommodate all requirements, private property must be used to account for the additional required depth.
	3. Raised curb and gutter installation is required.
	4. The table below establishes public frontage type and assigns standards to each public frontage type.

	C. Public Frontage Landscape Standards
	1. Street Trees
	a. One tree per 25’ linear street frontage is required. Trees must be planted in a regularly spaced pattern. Spacing of trees may be offset to allow a view corridor into the primary entry of a nonresidential use.
	b. Trees must be a single species selected from the table in Section 6.8.9.
	c. Trees must be planted within the required planting strip and buffer zone adjacent to the back of sidewalk based on public frontage type.
	d. Large canopy trees must be planted if overhead utilities are not present. Medium canopy trees must be planted if overhead utilities are present.
	e. Public Frontage Type A - Trees must be planted a minimum 10’ from back-of-curb in the required planting strip.
	f. Public Frontage Type B - Trees must be planted a minimum thirteen feet from back-of-curb in the required planting strip. If TxDOT right-of-way is greater than 13’, the required street trees must be located 1’ away from TxDOT right-of-way. The plant...
	g. Public Frontage Type C - Trees must be planted a minimum twelve feet from back-of-curb in the required planting strip. If TxDOT right-of-way is greater than 12’, the required street trees must be located 1’ away from TxDOT right-of-way. The Plantin...

	2. Planting Area
	a. Public Frontage Planting Strip Type A – must be planted with approved shrubs in accordance with Section 6.8.9 at a rate of one one-gallon container per 3 linear feet of street yard planting area and filled with river rock.
	b. Public Frontage Planting Strip Type B – must be planted in sod or evergreen groundcover in accordance with Section 6.8.9.
	c. Public Frontage Planting Strip Type C – must be planted in sod or evergreen groundcover in accordance with Section 6.8.9.


	D. Parking Lot Screen
	1. All parking must be screened from public rights-of-way a minimum 36” in height, through one of the following methods:
	a. Planting screen of evergreen shrubs;
	b. Masonry wall;
	c. Combination of evergreen shrubs and wall.

	2. Planted screening must be capable of providing a solid, opaque 36” screen within two years, and must be planted in the public frontage planting strip and buffer zone.
	3. Parking lot screening shrubs and landscape area count towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Section 6.8.8 but not towards public frontage planting area.

	E. Public Frontage Sidewalk Standards
	1. Sidewalks must extend the entire length of the development’s frontage on a public street and must be constructed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual and related provisions in this UDC.
	2. Sidewalks must be constructed before the Chief Building Official issues a Certificate of Occupancy.
	3. Sidewalks must be constructed at the back of curb.
	4. Sidewalks must connect to existing adjacent sidewalks, or be designed and placed to allow connection to future adjacent sidewalks.
	5. Sidewalks of different widths must be transitioned within a length of sidewalk by two expansion joints not less than six feet apart as required by state and federal accessibility standards.
	6. Sidewalks must connect to parking within the lot and to primary entrances of each nonresidential building.
	7. Pedestrian walkways must connect the principal building entrances to all associated outdoor amenities, such as courtyards and other outdoor gathering places.
	8. Residential sidewalks must be installed from the primary entrance of the residence to the perimeter street sidewalk system.


	6.8.7 Public Frontage Lighting
	A. Applicability
	1. This subsection applies only to City initiated projects in the 1st and 3rd Overlay District.
	2. Pedestrian-scale lighting must be provided at all intersections and at 100’ intervals along all public and private roadways within the development. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for the specific pedestrian-scale lighting models and style...


	6.8.8 Private Property Landscape Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.3 Landscaping does not apply.
	C. General Site Landscape
	1. A minimum percentage of the total area of the private property on which development, construction or reconstruction is proposed must be dedicated to landscape area including trees, shrubs, groundcover, sod or other living plant material.
	2. The table below establishes minimum site landscape requirements for the 1st and 3rd Overlay District.

	D. Foundation Planting
	1. Foundation plantings are required within a planting area a minimum of four feet in depth along 50% of the length of any façade visible to the public.
	2. Foundation planting shrubs and landscape area count towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Section 6.8.8.

	E. Tree Mix
	1. Private property trees must be selected from the table in Section 6.8.9.
	2. A minimum of 50 percent of required trees must be selected from the medium or large size tree list.
	3. A minimum of 40 percent of required trees must be evergreen species.


	6.8.9 General Planting Criteria
	A. Applicability
	B. Approved Tree List – Article 7: General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; B Approved Tree List.
	C. Approved Shrubs - Article 7: General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; C Approved Shrub List.
	D. Approved Groundcover List
	E. Approved Lawn Grass - Article 7: General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; E Approved Lawn Grass.
	F. Landscape Installation – Applicable to 1st and 3rd Street Overlay
	1. Trees
	a. All required large trees must be a minimum of three inches in diameter (single trunk) at breast height or 65-gallon container size at planting.
	b. All required medium trees must be a minimum of two and one-half inches in diameter (single trunk) at breast height at planting.
	c. All required small trees must be a minimum of two inches in diameter (single trunk) at breast height at planting at planting.

	2. Shrubs
	3. Groundcover
	4. Lawn Grass
	5. Landscape Maintenance
	a. All new plant material must be planted and maintained in accordance with the latest edition of the American National Standards Institute requirements for Tree, Shrub, and Other Woody Plant Maintenance (ANSI A300 Parts 1 through 6).
	b. All required public frontage and private frontage landscaping must be maintained in good condition after installation.
	c. The owner must replace, within 30 days, any plant material that is diseased, deteriorated or dead. The Director of Planning may issue up to a 90-day extension of time for replacement during drought or summer months.

	6. Irrigation


	6.8.10 Off-Street Parking and Loading
	A. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.4 Off-street Parking and Loading applies in its entirety with the following additions.
	1. General
	a. Surface parking areas must be constructed with raised curb and gutter.



	6.8.11 Signs
	A. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.5 Signs applies in its entirety with the following additions and exceptions.
	1. Lighting
	2. Prohibited Signs


	6.8.12 Screening and Buffering
	A. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.6 Screening and Buffering applies in its entirety with the following additions and exceptions.
	B. Screening of Mechanical Equipment
	1. All roof, ground and wall-mounted mechanical equipment (e.g., air handling equipment, compressors, duct work, transformers and elevator equipment) must be screened from view or isolated so as not to be visible from any residential districts or uses...
	2. Roof-mounted mechanical equipment must be shielded from view on all sides using parapet walls.
	3. Wall or ground-mounted equipment screening must be constructed of:
	a. Vegetative screens; or
	b. Brick, stone, architecturally finished concrete, or other similar masonry materials; and
	c. All fence or wall posts must be concrete-based masonry or concrete pillars.

	4. Exposed conduit, ladders, utility boxes and drain spouts must be painted to match the color of the building.
	5. Mechanical equipment screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Section 6.8.8.

	C. Screening of Waste Containers
	1. Waste containers must be located at the rear of the building and screened on all sides, including gates, from public view to minimize visibility. If the property has two public frontages the waste container must be placed on the side of the structu...
	2. Waste containers must be located a minimum of 50 feet away from any residential use or district’s property lines.
	3. Waste containers must be located a minimum of 50 feet away from a multi-family entryway.
	4. Screening must be at least as tall as the waste container(s) and comprised of materials and color schemes that are visually and aesthetically compatible with the overall project that incorporate the following:
	a. Brick;
	b. Stone;
	c. Stucco;
	d. Architecturally finished concrete; or
	e. Other similar masonry materials.

	5. Waste containers with fence posts must be rust-protected metal, concrete based, masonry or concrete pillars; and waste containers must have six-inch concrete filled steel pipes (bollards) that are located to protect the enclosure from truck operati...
	6. Waste container enclosures must have steel gates with spring-loaded hinges or the equivalent and fasteners to keep them closed. When in use, tie-backs must be used to secure the steel gates in the open position.
	7. Waste container screening must be maintained by the owner at all times.
	8. The ingress, egress, and approach to all waste container pads must conform to fire lane requirements.
	9. Waste container pad and aprons requirements must be constructed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual.
	10. Waste container screening shrubs and landscape area count towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Section 6.8.8.

	D. Screening of Loading Docks
	1. Loading and service areas must be located at the rear of the building and screened from public view to minimize visibility. If the property has two public frontages the waste container must be placed on the side of the principal building.
	2. Loading areas must not be located closer than 50 feet to any single-family lot, unless wholly within an enclosed building.
	3. Off-street loading areas must be screened from view from any street or adjacent property of differing land use.
	4. All loading areas must be enclosed on three sides by a wall or other screening device a minimum of eight feet in height.
	5. Loading areas that are visible from any public right-of-way must also include a combination of evergreen trees and shrubs that will result in solid opaque vegetative screening a minimum of eight feet in height within two years of planting. The plan...
	6. Loading dock screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Section 6.8.8.

	E. Fence and Wall Standards for All Uses
	1. Fences and walls on the primary and secondary frontage may have a maximum height of four feet.
	2. Fences and walls to the rear of the site may have a maximum height of six feet, unless they are required for loading dock screening.
	3. Fencing and walls must not be placed within the required line of sight as determined by the sight triangle established in Section 4.4.8.
	4. Chain link, barbed wire, razor wire and metal or corrugated panels are prohibited for all uses.

	F. Nonresidential and Multiple-Family Uses - Fences
	1. Fences and walls must be constructed of wood panels on steel posts, decorative blocks, brick, stone, vinyl, woodcrete and wrought iron.
	2. Breaks in the fence or wall must be made to provide for required pedestrian connections to the perimeter of the site and to adjacent developments.

	G. Single-Family Uses - Fences
	H. Outdoor Storage
	I. Outdoor Retail Display

	6.8.13 Building Exterior Materials
	A. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.7 Building Exterior Materials Applies in its entirety.

	6.8.14 Utility Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Underground Utilities Required

	6.8.15 Exception Requests
	A. Upon application, the Director of Planning may consider an administrative exception for sidewalk width and location. In determining whether to approve, approve with conditions or deny an administrative exception, the Director of Planning must consi...
	1. whether the reduction in width or location is consistent with the purpose of the overlay district; and
	2. building location; and
	3. extent to which parking is affected and cannot be remedied by restriping, relocation, and/or other means

	B. Application Submittal
	C. Any party aggrieved by a decision of the Director of Planning on a development review application in the 1st and 3rd Street Overlay District may appeal to the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council for final action.



	Article 7 General Development Standards
	Sec. 7.1. Performance Standards
	7.1.1 General
	7.1.2 Noise
	A. At no point at the property line may a zoning district receive sound pressure levels that exceed the decibel levels specified in the groups designated in the following table:
	B. Decibel (dB) means a unit of measure of sound pressure, or noise level. An increase by ten decibels doubles the volume.
	C. Measurement of the noise level must be made with a decibel meter meeting American National Standards Institute (ANSI) standards using the A-weighted scale.
	D. The noise levels included in this Section are not applicable to extraction operations or emergency vehicles.

	7.1.3 Smoke and Particulate Matter
	7.1.4 Odorous Matter
	A. A use may not be located or operated in the LI zoning district that involves the emission of odorous matter from a source of operation where the odorous matter exceeds the odor threshold at the bounding property line or any point beyond the tract o...
	B. A use may not be located or operated in the HI zoning district that involves the emission of odorous matter from a source of operation where the odorous matter exceeds a concentration at the bounding property line or any point the tract on which su...
	C. The Chief Building Official determines the odor threshold as set forth in this UDC by observation. In any case where uncertainty may arise or where the operator or owner of an odor emitting use may disagree with the enforcing officer or where speci...

	7.1.5 Fire and Explosive Hazard Material
	A. A use involving the manufacture or storage of compounds or products that decompose by detonation is not permitted in an LI or HI zoning district except that the Fire Chief may approve chlorates, nitrates, perchlorates phosphorus and similar substan...
	B. The storage and use of all flammable liquids and materials such as pyroxylin plastics, nitrocellulose films, solvents and petroleum products is permitted only when such storage or use conforms to the standards and regulations of Chapter 12, Fire Pr...

	7.1.6 Toxic and Noxious Matter
	A. A use permitted in the LI zoning district may not emit a concentration across the property line of the subject property of toxic or noxious matter that exceeds the concentration (exposure) deemed as the threshold limit for an industrial worker as t...
	B. A use permitted in the HI zoning district may not emit a concentration across the bounding property line of the tract on which such operation or use violating state or federal environmental laws. Open storage and open processing operations, includi...

	7.1.7 Vibration
	A. A use in the LI zoning district may not at any time create earthborn vibration that, when measured at the property line of the subject property, exceed the limit of displacement set forth in the following table in the frequency ranges specified.
	B. A use in the HI zoning district may not at any time create earthborn vibration that, when measured at the property line of the subject property, exceed the limit of displacement set forth in the following table in the frequency ranges specified.

	7.1.8 Glare

	Sec. 7.2.  Access and Circulation
	7.2.1 Applicability
	A. The following access and circulation standards must be utilized in the determination of drive approaches in the City of Temple. These standards address factors including curb cut placement, width, angle, number of approaches per tract and other ele...
	B. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section, the Texas Department of Transportation requires access points on state-maintained roads to conform to its access management policies.

	7.2.2 Site Plan Required
	7.2.3 General
	A. If a change in curb cuts or an additional curb cut is proposed which would result in an additional conflict with these regulations, the Planning and Zoning Commission must determine the appropriateness of the request.
	B. The City may impose a more restrictive standard than contained in this Section, in conjunction with review of a subdivision plat, if anticipated development under these standards will result in a dangerous or unsafe condition to the public.
	C. The linear feet of property frontage determines the maximum number of drive approaches allowed under this Section, as shown in the tables in Secs. 7.2.5 and 7.2.6. Platting or replatting that reduces the property frontage may result in a reduction ...
	D. In conjunction with curb cuts approved under this Section, medians, signage, striping or other traffic control devices may be required to be installed at the time of permit approval or at some time in the future as needed for public safety or welfare.
	E. Commercial and Industrial drive approaches as set forth in Secs. 7.2.5 and 7.2.6 must be set at an angle of between 45 and 90 degrees from an abutting two-way public street right-of-way or private access easement. One-way egress or ingress drive ap...
	F. Curb radii for intersections of public streets and alleys are set forth in the table in subsection 8.2.1G.
	G. Where access to properties is desired at more frequent intervals than these standards permit, the property owner may install service roads or acceleration/ deceleration lanes after the applicable authorities, including the  Director of Public Works...

	7.2.4 Residential Drive Approaches
	A. A drive approach for a Residential Use listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1 is prohibited on arterial streets, unless the lot fronts on an arterial street on a final plat approved prior to February 19, 1987.
	B. Joint access curb cuts are encouraged where lots are less than 50 feet in width.
	C. The minimum corner clearance of a residential curb cut is15 feet.
	D. The minimum radius for a residential curb cut is two and one-half feet.
	E. Where a circular residential driveway is proposed for a corner tract, both curb cuts must meet the minimum corner clearance of 15 feet as set forth in paragraph C above.
	F. Please see the Design and Development Standards Manual for curb cut standard details.

	7.2.5 Commercial Drive Approaches
	A. A drive approach for the following commercial uses listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1 must conform to the standards in the table below:
	1. Agricultural Uses;
	2. Commercial Uses;
	3. Education and Institutional Uses;
	4. Office Uses;
	5. Overnight Accommodations;
	6. Recreational & Entertainment Uses;
	7. Restaurant Uses;
	8. Retail Sales & Service Uses;
	9. Transportation and Related Uses;
	10. Utility and Service Uses;
	11. Vehicle Sales and Service Uses.

	B. Maximum drive approach widths and maximum number of drive approaches may be used only where the frontage is sufficient to achieve minimum corner clearance, curb return radii and suggested minimum island width. The width of the combined curb cuts mu...
	C. One-way access curb cuts are permitted, but may not be less than 15 feet in width. The combination of one-way curb cut widths must not exceed the maximum width for a two-way curb cut based on lot frontage.
	D. A minimum edge clearance of five feet must be provided, unless a joint access drive approach is provided.
	E. Joint access curb cuts are encouraged where lots are less than 100 feet in width.

	7.2.6 Industrial Drive Approaches
	A. A drive approach for Industrial Uses and Natural Resource Storage and Extraction Uses set listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1 must conform to the standards in the table below.
	B. Maximum drive approach widths and maximum number of drive approaches may be used only where the frontage is sufficient to achieve minimum corner clearance, curb return radii and suggested minimum island width.
	C. One-way access curb cuts are permitted, but may not be less than 25 feet. The combination of one-way curb cut widths must not exceed the maximum width for a two-way curb cut based on lot frontage.


	Sec. 7.3. Sidewalks
	7.3.1 Applicability
	A. A new building or structure is built requiring a Building Permit as set forth in Sec. 3.13; or

	7.3.2 Sidewalks Not Required
	A. For a new single-family dwelling where all adjacent properties are developed and where no sidewalks have been provided on adjoining property.
	B. For property located within an Industrial Park as set forth in Sec. 8.2.3.

	7.3.3 Waiver of Sidewalk Requirements

	Sec. 7.4.  Landscaping
	7.4.1 Purpose
	7.4.2 Applicability
	A. These standards do not apply to single-family or duplex residential uses located in any zoning district, since these uses typically exceed the required landscaping. All other land uses, including HUD-Code manufactured home developments and land lea...
	B. These standards to not apply to the Draughon-Miller Central Texas Regional Airport.
	C. These landscaping standards are applicable in conjunction with a Building Permit for new development, or an addition that increases site intensity on the lot or tract by 100 percent or more. Site intensity includes, but is not limited to, number of...
	[Ord. 2015-4707]

	7.4.3 Landscape Plan Required
	7.4.4 Landscaping Standards
	A. The developer of each lot subject to these standards is required to provide a minimum landscaped area of five percent of the lot area to be utilized.
	B. If the public street right-of-way is developed with landscaping conforming to these standards, and is combined into an integrated landscape plan with required landscaping, total required landscaping may be reduced to three percent of the lot area. ...
	C. The required landscaped area must be located in the front and side yards, except in the C, LI and HI zoning districts where no front or side yard is required. In these districts, required landscaping must be provided between the principal buildings...
	D. Required landscaped area must consist of living trees, shrubs, turf or other living groundcover, native to Central Texas and Bell County, as described below.
	E. A minimum of one tree is required to be planted in the landscaped area described in paragraph A above or in the parking lot for each 40 feet, or fraction thereof, of linear street frontage. The required number of trees need not be placed uniformly,...
	F. As an alternative to satisfying the requirement above for one tree per 40 linear feet of street frontage, three shrubs, a minimum of five gallons each in size may be substituted.
	G. The height and placement of landscaping must not encroach upon the intersection visibility triangle defined in Sec. 4.4.8.
	H. Where Sec. 7.7 requires a wood or masonry fence, it may be located within the required landscaped area.

	7.4.5 General Planting Criteria
	A. Applicability
	B. Approved Tree List
	C. Approved Shrub List
	D. Approved Groundcover List
	E. Approved Lawn Grass
	F. Landscape Installation
	1. Trees
	a. All required canopy trees must be a minimum of two inches in diameter (single trunk) at breast height or 65-gallon container size at planting.

	2. Shrubs
	3. Groundcover
	4. Lawn Grass


	7.4.6 Phased Projects
	7.4.7 Existing Plant Material
	7.4.8 Maintenance and Irrigation
	A. All required landscaping must be maintained at all times in a living and growing condition.
	B. The owner must replace, within 30 days, any plant material that is diseased, deteriorated or dead. The Director of Planning may issue up to a 90-day extension of time for replacement during drought or summer months.
	C. All required landscaping must be irrigated by an automatic sprinkling system or have access to a hose connection within 100 feet of all landscaping.

	7.4.9 Installment Guarantee
	7.4.10 Phased Projects
	7.4.11 Existing Plant Material
	7.4.12 Maintenance and Irrigation
	7.4.13 Installment Guarantee

	Sec. 7.5.  Off-Street Parking and Loading
	7.5.1 Purpose
	7.5.2 Applicability
	A. Except as provided in this Section, a building or structure may not be erected, altered or converted for any permitted use unless off-street parking is provided as required in this Section.
	B. An established use lawfully existing on September 19, 1991, need not provide required off-street parking as set forth in this Section. In addition, the number of required parking spaces in an off-street parking area in connection with said uses exi...

	7.5.3 Parking Plan Required
	7.5.4 Off-Street Parking Ratios
	A. Rules for Computing Required Parking and Loading Spaces
	1. Developments containing more than one use must provide parking and loading spaces in an amount equal to the total of the requirements for all uses.
	2. Ratios based on number of employees must be based on the largest number of persons working on any shift.
	3. The gross floor area of a structure devoted to off-street parking may be excluded in computing the off-street parking requirements of any use.
	4. The term “seats” includes “seating spaces.” Required parking spaces based on seats must be computed based on the maximum seating arrangement.

	B. Required Parking Ratios
	C. Special Zoning District Provisions
	1. Residential uses other than multiple-family dwellings in the C, Commercial and CA, Central Area zoning districts require a minimum of one parking space per dwelling unit. Minimum off-street parking requirements for multiple-family dwellings and per...
	2. In the MU, Mixed Use zoning district, the following minimum off-street parking requirements apply.
	3. In the MU, Mixed Use zoning district the Director of Planning may grant a 30 percent reduction in  parking for nonresidential and multiple-family uses if the applicant presents an alternate parking plan using shared parking, off-site parking or oth...
	4. The parking requirements in the table in paragraph B above do not apply in the CA, Central Area zoning district.
	5. In the  residential zoning districts and the O-1, Office One; O-2, Office Two and NS, Neighborhood Service  zoning districts, a parking space, garage or carport or other automobile storage space or structure may not be used for the storage of any t...
	6. Private access drives to parking lots, or areas that are accessory to or serve nonresidential uses in a nonresidential zoning district are prohibited through residential zoning districts.


	7.5.5 Off-Street Parking Design Standards
	A. Dimensional and Access Standards
	1. A typical 90 degree parking space must be striped and measure nine feet by 18 feet.
	2. Off-street parking spaces and areas must be designed so that a driver can exit the space or area without backing a vehicle into a public street, right of way or alley. This provision does not apply to residential uses in the following zoning distri...

	B. Curb and Gutter
	1. Curb and gutter six inches in height is required around the perimeter of the parking area and all landscaped parking islands. An alternative design may be proposed by a design engineer to be considered for approval by the Director of Planning. Area...

	C. Material Standards
	D. Where questions arise concerning the minimum off-street parking requirements for any use not specifically listed in the table in paragraph 7.5.4B, the Director of Planning may apply the parking requirements of a similar use to the use in question.
	E. Where a determination of the minimum parking requirements cannot be readily ascertained for new or unlisted uses according to paragraph 7.4.4A above, the minimum off-street parking requirements are established by the same process as provided in Sec...
	[Ord. 2012-4516]

	7.5.6 Off-Street Loading Regulations
	A. Except in the CA, Central Area zoning district, all nonresidential uses except for those specified in paragraph C below must provide and maintain off-street loading areas. Loading areas must be paved with either asphalt or concrete. Such off-street...
	B. The existence of a paved alley a minimum of 20 feet in width adjacent to the property is deemed the equivalent of one berth.
	C. For Overnight Accommodations, Office Uses and Restaurant Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1 located in zoning districts other than in the CA, Central Area zoning district, off-street loading areas must be provided in accordance with the fo...
	D. In the MU, Mixed Use zoning district, off-street loading areas and truck staging areas must be located in the side or rear yard.


	Sec. 7.6.  Signs
	7.6.1 Purpose
	A. Safety
	1. Create a hazard due to collapse, fire, decay or abandonment;
	2. Obstruct firefighting or police surveillance; and
	3. Create traffic hazards by confusing or distracting pedestrians, obstacles or other vehicles or to read traffic signs.

	B. Communications Efficiency
	1. Those signs that provide messages and information most needed and sought by the public are given priorities,
	2. Businesses and services may identify themselves;
	3. Customers and other persons may locate a business or services;
	4. A person or group is not arbitrarily denied the use of the sight lines from the public street right-of-way for communication purposes;
	5. Persons exposed to signs are not overwhelmed by the number of messages presented and are able to exercise freedom of choice to observe or ignore such messages, according to the observer's purpose;
	6. The right of free speech exercised through the use of signs containing non-commercial messages is preserved; and
	7. Community events may be identified to the public at large, at strategic locations throughout the City, as approved by the Chief Building Official.

	C. Landscape Quality and Preservation
	1. Do not interfere with scenic views;
	2. Do not create a nuisance to persons using the public rights-of-way;
	3. Do not create a nuisance to occupants of adjacent and contiguous property by their brightness, size, height or movement;
	4. Are not detrimental to land or property values;
	5. Do not contribute to visual blight or clutter; and
	6. Are architecturally compatible and harmonious with the structure to which they pertain and to neighboring structures.


	7.6.2 Definitions
	7.6.3 General Sign Provisions
	A. Display of Permit
	B. Bond Requirement
	C. Building Code
	D. Unlawful Signs
	1. A sign or other advertising device may not be erected or maintained in violation of the requirements of this Section or of the Sign Permit requirements in Sec. 3.14. An unlawful sign is not a nonconforming sign and must be removed or brought into c...
	2. If the Chief Building Official finds that a sign is erected or maintained in violation of this Section or Sec. 3.14, the Director must give written notice of the violation to the permittee or the owner of the property where the violation exists.
	3. An unlawful sign that is lightweight or portable (for example, banner or H frame sign) must be removed within 24 hours after notice of violation. An unlawful sign that is not lightweight or portable (for example, freestanding or monument sign) must...
	4. If the permittee or owner fails, after notice, to timely abate a violation, the Chief Building Official may undertake enforcement by filing a complaint in municipal court, seeking quasi-judicial enforcement through the Building and Standards Commis...
	5. The Chief Building Official may immediately and without notice or compensation remove any sign that presents an immediate peril to persons or property.

	E. Variances
	F. Non-Commercial Messages Permitted in Substitution
	1. Any sign allowed under this Section may contain, in lieu of any other copy, any lawful noncommercial message that complies with all other requirements of this ordinance Section.
	2. The right that this subsection creates is one of substitution and not one of addition.

	G. Signs Exempt from Regulation
	1. Address and postbox numerals;
	2. Governmental signs that the City, county, state or federal government erects in furtherance of their governmental responsibility;
	3. Public notice or warning that a valid and applicable federal, state or local law, regulation or ordinance requires;
	4. Sign inside a building, not attached to a window or door, and not legible from a distance of more than five feet beyond the lot line of the property on which such sign is located;
	5. Works of art that do not include a commercial message; and
	6. Memorial signs or tablets including headstones in cemeteries.

	H. Maintenance
	1. Maintain all signs and keep them in good repair;
	2. Keep all signs with painted or plastic faces free of fading, rusting, cracking, peeling, gaps and holes;
	3. Repair or remove any sign that has more than 25 percent of its face damaged;
	4. Repair or remove a sign in its entirety with broken or damaged sign faces;
	5. Install blank sign faces on signs with faces removed due to vacancy of the building;
	6. Remove sign poles with open metal frames;
	7. Keep signs with paper or fabric faces free of tears, rips, fading and voids where part of the text or face is missing;
	8. Keep ties or ropes that hold in place signs with fabric faces secure and taut with no loose or missing ties;
	9. Maintained sign poles in a uniform and sound condition;
	10. Repair or remove poles that are dented to the point where they are leaning out of plumb or have damage to the support or hangers
	11. Maintained sign poles free of rust, peeling or fading so that they are uniform in color;
	12. Maintain flags, banners and pole banners free of tears, fading and rips; and
	13. Remove flags, banners and pole banners when they become torn, faded or ripped.

	I. Luminance
	1. An applicant may not erect a lighted sign must within 150 feet of a residential district unless the lighting is shielded from view of the residential district.
	2. A sign or must not be illuminated with lights that:
	a. Glare into or upon the surrounding area or any residential property; or
	b. Distract operators of vehicles or pedestrians on the public right-of-way.



	7.6.4 Prohibited Signs
	A. Abandoned Signs
	B. Animated or Moving Signs
	C. Bench Signs
	D. Cardboard Signs
	E. Glaringly Illuminated Signs
	F. Handmade Signs
	G. Obscene Signs
	H. Obstructing Signs
	I. Outdated Sign
	J. Pole Signs in MU
	K. Portable Signs
	L. Sign Creating a Traffic Hazard
	1. Obstruct free and clear vision at any street intersection;
	2. Interfere with, obstruct the view of or be confused with any authorized traffic sign, signal or device because of its position, shape or color;
	3. Make use of the words "STOP", "LOOK", "DANGER" or any other word, phrase, symbol or character in a manner that interferes with, misleads or confuses traffic; or
	4. Present a traffic hazard by using illumination resembling an emergency signal.

	M. Snipe Signs
	N. Unlisted Sign
	O. Unsafe Signs
	P. Signs On or Over Public Property or Right-of-Way
	1. A sign must not be erected so as to project into the public street right-of-way of any street or alley, except as allowed in the CA, Central Area zoning district. Any projecting sign must not extend outward from any building face to the public stre...
	2. It is unlawful for any person to place a sign, except a governmental sign or subdivision entry sign, on the premises of any public property, including but not limited to park land, median strips and public rights-of-way.
	3. A person may not attach any sign, paper, material, paint, stencil, or write any name, number (except house or street address numbers) or otherwise mark on or obstruct any sidewalk, curb, gutter or street.
	4. A person may not erect a sign over or in the public street right-of-way except for traffic control devices, street signs, directional signs, subdivision entry signs or real estate kiosks that the City or state has authorized.


	7.6.5 Sign Measurement Standards
	A. Sign Area
	1. The area of a sign includes all lettering, wording, designs and symbols, together with the background, whether open or enclosed, on which they are displayed. The area of uprights, bracings and other structures supporting a sign may be omitted in me...
	2. Where a sign consists of individual letters, words or symbols attached to a surface, the sign area is deemed to be the area of the smallest rectangle that completely encompasses all such letters, words or symbols and any accompanying background of ...
	3. The area for a sign with more than one face is measured by adding together the area of all sign faces, except where the angle at which the two sign faces are placed does not exceed 60 degrees or where the sign faces are parallel and not more than 3...

	B. Sign Height
	C. Sign Setback

	7.6.6 Number of Signs
	A. A maximum of three types of signs and a maximum of 12 individual signs may be used per business at a time with a business property frontage of less than 200 feet.
	B. A maximum of four types of signs and a maximum of 15 individual signs may be used per business at a time with a business frontage of 200 feet or more.
	C. Specific standards for the number of permitted freestanding signs are set forth in Sec. 7.6.9.

	7.6.7 Special Height Signs
	A. Only Special Height Signs may exceed the maximum building height permitted in the specific district.
	B. Special Height Signs are allowed in association with Office Uses or Retail Sales and Service Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1 containing six acres or more, or for Fuel Sales, Overnight Accommodation Uses, Restaurant Uses or Vehicle Sales...

	7.6.8 Standards According to Sign Type
	7.6.9 Freestanding (Pole or Ground) Signs
	A. Maximum Height and Area
	1. Freestanding signs must conform to the area-height-setback relationship indicated in the table below, except as allowed for Special Height Signs as set forth in Sec. 7.6.7.
	2. Freestanding signs must not exceed a height of greater than 50 feet above the level of the street upon which the sign faces, or above the adjoining ground level, if such ground level is above the street level.
	3. Freestanding signs must not exceed 300 square feet in area, except as allowed in incentive provisions.
	4. In the MU, Mixed Use zoning district, freestanding signs must be monument style, not exceeding five feet in height.

	B. Minimum Setback
	C. Minimum Separation
	D. Maximum Number Allowed
	E. Multiple Businesses, Services, Tenants
	1. Buildings housing multiple businesses are encouraged to group signage. A 30 percent increase in sign area is allowed for a group sign, advertising a center with multiple businesses, with no corresponding effect on sign setback and height specified ...
	2. The number of freestanding signs allowed may be increased by one of the following credits.
	a. If more than one business, service or tenant occupies a single building on a lot or tract, a maximum two freestanding signs are allowed. The combination of sign area for the two signs must not exceed the maximum allowed area in the table in Section...
	b. If the lot, tract or parcel exceeds 200' of frontage along the street where the sign is proposed, additional freestanding signs are allowed, in accordance with the following table.


	F. Alternate Sign Plan

	7.6.10 Wall Signs
	A. Location and area
	1. A maximum 50 percent of each tenant's store front, side or rear oriented to each street may be utilized for a wall sign. A single wall sign may not exceed 300 square feet in area.
	2. In the MU district, the maximum aggregate area of wall signs is 200 square feet.
	3. A wall sign must not cover wholly or partially any wall opening, nor project beyond the ends or top of the wall to which it is attached in excess of four feet.
	4. A wall sign must not extend more than six inches beyond the building line or be attached to a wall at a height of less than 10 feet above the sidewalk or ground. Alternative placement may be permitted with approval by the Director of Planning for f...


	7.6.11 Standards for Off-Premise Signs
	A. Sign Permit Required
	B. Dimensional Standards
	1. Location
	2. Minimum Spacing
	a. An off-premise sign along Interstate 35 may not be erected within 1,500 feet of another off-premise sign.
	b. An off-premise sign along H. K. Dodgen Loop may not be erected within 2,000 feet of another off-premise sign, except that, in exchange for the removal of one double-faced sign that is larger than 386 square feet and existing along the Loop on March...
	c. Spacing is measured on the same side of the road, between points along the public street right-of-way of the regulated highway perpendicular to the center of the signs.

	3. Area
	4. Height
	5. Setback

	C. Design Standards
	1. Faces
	2. Roof
	3. Light
	4. Traffic Hazard
	5. Scenic Vista
	6. Construction
	7. Encroachment
	a. A part, foundation or support of any off-premise sign may not be placed on, in or over any of the following:
	i. Public property or street rights-of-way;
	ii. Telephone or utility poles; or
	iii. Natural features such as trees and rocks.

	b. Encroachment into a public utility or drainage easement may be allowed with a street use license.


	D. New Off-Premise Signs
	1. Off-Premise Sign Cap
	2. Inventory
	3. Incentives
	a. To encourage removal of off-premise signs that do not comply with current sign standards, the owner of a sign that was lawfully erected in compliance with all standards then in effect or lawfully in place at the time it was annexed into the City ma...
	b. One credit will be awarded for each face that is removed from a lawfully existing off-premise sign. In order to receive a Sign Permit for the erection of an off-premise sign, 1.25 credits must be used per new face.
	c. The Chief Building Official may issue a Sign Permit to any person holding sufficient credits, for erection of an off-premise sign in an eligible location as set forth in paragraph B.1 above, in his or her sole discretion. The Sign Permit must state...
	d. Credits are transferable.
	e. Credit is received when a permittee removes a sign voluntarily, even if the reason is loss of the lease. Credit may not be awarded for the removal of an off-premise sign that was in violation of federal, state or City laws when erected.
	f. To be awarded a credit under the incentive program, a sign owner or operator must notify the City within 60 days of the removal of an off-premise sign and receive a letter from the City awarding a credit. Failure to apply for a credit within 60 day...
	g. The Director of Planning must provide to the Planning and Zoning Commission, as part of the Commission’s annual report, an accounting of unused credits. The Commission’s annual accounting is final if not appealed in writing to the Commission within...


	E. Residential Zoning Districts
	F. Consent
	G. Protected Vegetation
	H. Identification
	I. Alteration
	J. Demolition
	K. Maintenance
	L. Relocation
	1. Does not require payment of a permit fee;
	2. May be erected a minimum of five feet from any highway right-of-way line;
	3. May be constructed with the same number of poles and same type of materials as the existing sign; and
	4. May be erected without enlarging the sign face.
	5. If the proposed off premise sign does not meet all city standards including minimum spacing, area, height and setback, an applicant must receive approval of a Conditional Use permit for the new location.


	7.6.12 Central Avenue Corridor Standards
	A. Purpose
	B. Jurisdiction
	C. Prohibited Signs
	1. In addition to the sign types prohibited citywide in Sec. 7.6.4, the following sign types are prohibited within the Central Avenue Corridor:
	a. Trash receptacle signs;
	b. Flashing signs;
	c. Temporary non-affixed signs;
	d. Satellite dish signs; and
	e. Roof signs.

	2. Flashing and moving signs are prohibited, except that time and temperature and digital scroll displays are permitted in accordance with the standards in the table in Sec. 7.6.8.

	D. Illumination
	E. Materials
	F. Maintenance
	G. Nonconforming Central Avenue Signs
	H. Easement Encroachment Prohibition
	I. Setback Requirements
	1. In addition to the setback requirements for permitted sign types below, the sign must observe the intersection visibility triangle established in Sec. 4.4.8 at each street corner intersection, each driveway opening and each street or alley intersec...
	2. Along Central Avenue, the sign setback is measured as the perpendicular distance between the nearest curb line parallel to Central Avenue and the leading edge of any portion of a sign.

	J. Signs Not Requiring a Permit in Central Ave Corridor
	K. Signs Requiring a Permit in Central Ave Corridor
	L. Sign Area or Height Increase
	1. The maximum area of a low- or high-profile sign may be increased subject to the following conditions.
	a. A separate changeable copy message board may be a maximum of 15 square feet if used.
	b. The maximum area of the sign may be increased two square feet per tenant over one tenant in a single building;
	c. The maximum area of the sign may be increased one square foot for each one foot setback in addition to 16 feet from the curb.
	d. The cumulative effect of the area increase provisions in paragraphs 1 through c above may result in a maximum sign area increase not exceeding 75 square feet for a low-profile sign and 100 square feet for a high-profile sign.

	2. The maximum height of a high-profile sign may be increased subject to the following conditions.
	a. Such signs on properties located west of the west public street right-of-way line of 31st Street may be a maximum height of 35 feet for visibility from IH-35.
	b. Signs located east of the centerline of 21st Street and west of the centerline of 11th Street, in the vicinity of the Central Avenue grade separation, must be no higher than the higher of either:
	i. 15 feet above the nearest natural grade; or
	ii. The top of the nearest curb of Central Avenue where such curb exceeds 15 feet above the natural grade.





	Sec. 7.7.  Screening and Buffering
	7.7.1 Applicability
	7.7.2 Site Plan and Landscape Plan Required
	7.7.3 Fence and Wall Regulations for Single- and Two-Family Dwellings
	A. Front Yard
	B. Behind Front Yard Setback

	7.7.4 Buffering
	A. Location
	B. Design
	1. Buffering may consist of evergreen hedges composed of plants purchased in five-gallon or larger containers, with a minimum planted height of six feet, placed on 36-inch centers.
	2. Buffering may consist of fences or walls constructed of wood, masonry, stone or pre-cast concrete, with integrated color, texture and pattern. Structural buffering must be from 6 to 8 feet in height above the adjacent grade. Fences or walls used fo...


	7.7.5 Materials for Fences, Walls, Screens and Enclosures
	A. Allowed Materials
	1. Plain or coated chain link (installed as manufactured, without affixing materials such as slats and tarps);
	2. Exterior Insulation and finish systems (EIFS);
	3. Fiberglass composite (manufactured for fencing);
	4. Fired brick;
	5. Latticework that does not exceed 2 feet in height and is anchored as a design element at the top of a 6-foot tall fence;
	6. Natural stone;
	7. Pre-cast concrete;
	8. Split faced block;
	9. Smooth faced block;
	10. Support poles made of metal or wood;
	11. Stucco;
	12. Tubular aluminum;
	13. Tubular steel;
	14. Wood planks; or
	15. Wrought iron.

	B. Prohibited Materials
	C. Electric Fences
	1. An electric fence is allowed in the Agricultural zoning district, with proof submitted to the electrical inspector that the fence will be designed to retain animals, be inaccessible to the general public and not pose a hazard to life.
	2. An electric fence is allowed in association with a permitted nonresidential outdoor storage area in the Commercial, Light Industrial and Heavy Industrial zoning districts subject to the following standards.
	a. Unless otherwise specified in this Section, electric fences must be installed in conformance with the specifications set forth in the City’s electrical code and the International Electroctechnical Commission Standard No. 60335-2-76. In addition, th...
	b. The electric fence controller and emergency entry key safe for the electric fence must be located in a single accessible location for the entire fence.
	c. The electric fence must be surrounded by a non-electrical fence or wall six to eight feet in height.
	d. The electric fence must be installed a minimum of one foot from the surrounding non-electric fence or wall, except along the gate. Along the gate, the electric fence must be installed a minimum of three inches from the surrounding non-electric fenc...
	e. The electric fence must be clearly identified with warning signs at intervals of not less than 60 feet.
	f. The electric fence must only be energized during hours when the public does not have legal access to the protected property.


	D. Barbed Wire Fences
	E. Razor Wire Fences
	F. Construction

	7.7.6 Refuse Containers
	A. Refuse container storage areas must be located in a rear or side service area, or alley where available, for all uses other than single-family and two-family dwellings.
	B. A solid wood or masonry fence must screen from public view refuse container storage areas located within 50 feet of the curb line of a public street or visible from the public street Such fence must be at least one foot higher than the refuse conta...
	C. Placement of refuse container storage areas must allow the collection vehicle maneuvering room to avoid backing into a street or other traffic area.
	D. Refuse container storage areas and gates must be built in accordance with specifications in the Design and Development Standards Manual.

	7.7.7 Outdoor Retail Display
	A. Display Consistent with Classification
	B. Commercial Districts
	1. Auto sales, new or used or auto leasing or rental;
	2. Boat sales or rental;
	3. Motorcycle or scooter sales or rental,
	4. Recreational vehicle sales or rental;
	5. Agricultural and horticultural temporary seasonal product sales in accordance with the general and specific conditions set forth in Sec. 5.6.
	6. Farmers’ markets in accordance with the general and specific conditions set forth in Sec. 5.6.
	7. Greenhouse or nursery (retail) or produce stand;
	8. Farm and garden equipment sales or rental;
	9. Outdoor patio and garden furniture sales or rental;
	10. In the O-1, O-2, NS, C and GR zoning districts, temporary display for a sidewalk sale that does not extend more than 10 feet from front façade and reserves at least five feet of sidewalk or walkway for pedestrian use;
	11. In the CA zoning district, temporary display for a sidewalk sale that does not extend more than five feet from front façade and reserves at least five feet of sidewalk or walkway for pedestrian use; or
	12. Other uses not listed above where the display for sale or lease area is situated behind the principal structure and does not exceed a maximum of 10 percent of the gross floor area of the business.

	C. Industrial Districts

	7.7.8 Outdoor Storage
	A. Residential and MU Districts
	B. CA, O-1, O-2 GR, NS, C, LI and HI Districts
	1. Screening in NS, GR, O-1, O-2 and CA
	2. Screening in C and LI
	3. Screening in HI
	4. Business Park Exception

	C. Outdoor Collection Boxes
	1. Where Permitted
	2. Number Permitted and Location
	a. A maximum of one collection box is permitted per any 500 linear feet of street frontage, regardless of property ownership.
	b. Permitted collection boxes must be placed at least 50 feet from all public right-of-way.
	c. Collection boxes are not permitted in required parking spaces.
	d. Collection boxes are not permitted in landscaped areas.

	3. Dimensions and Specifications Maintenance
	a. The maximum dimensions for a permitted collection box are four feet in length, six feet in height or six feet in width.
	b. Permitted collection boxes must be maintained in repaired and painted condition.
	c. Permitted collection boxes must be emptied regularly and not allowed to overflow.
	d. Items deposited outside a collection box must be removed within 24 hours from deposit.

	4. Permits Required
	a. An applicant must apply for and receive a permit for the placement of a collection box.
	b. The permittee must have written authorization from the property owner allowing placement of the collection box.
	c. Placement of a collection box without a permit is a violation by the person who places the box, owns the box, or owns the property where the box is placed.
	d. The permittee placing or maintaining the collection box must display current information including street address and telephone number on the collection box. This information must be readable and clearly visible to the public.
	e. The permittee and property owner are jointly and severally liable and
	f. The maintenance, upkeep, and servicing of the container and cleanup and removal of donations left on the property outside of the container.
	g. The permit expires 365 days after approval. The permittee must apply for and receive another permit prior to the expiration of the original permit. There is no limit on the number of renewals.



	7.7.9 Maintenance

	Sec. 7.8.  Building Exterior Materials
	7.8.1 Applicability
	7.8.2 Building Elevations Required
	7.8.3 Residential Uses
	A. Definition of a Metal Facade Residential Primary or Accessory Building
	B. Metal Façade Residential Accessory Buildings Allowed by Right
	1. For lots of less than two acres, a new or remodeled metal façade residential accessory building is allowed by right if:
	a. A Building Permit is approved in accordance with Sec. 3.13;
	b. The metal façade residential accessory building is placed on the same lot as the primary residential building;
	c. The square footage of the metal façade residential accessory building does not exceed 15 percent of the primary residential building, or a maximum gross floor area of 320 square feet;
	d. The metal façade residential accessory building has a maximum vertical wall height of eight feet;
	e. There is only one accessory building per lot; and
	f. The metal façade residential accessory building is located in the rear half of the lot, and meets all yard setbacks and coverage maximums established in Article 4.

	2. For lots of two acres or more, a new or remodeled metal façade residential accessory building is allowed by right if:
	a. A Building Permit is approved in accordance with Sec. 3.13;
	b. The metal façade residential accessory building is placed on the same lot as the primary residential building;
	c. The square footage of the metal façade residential accessory building does not exceed 5,000 square feet;
	d. The metal exterior accessory building has a maximum vertical wall height of sixteen feet;
	e. There is only one accessory building per lot; and
	f. The metal façade residential accessory building is located in the rear half of the lot, and meets all yard setbacks and coverage maximums established in Article 4.


	C. Metal Façade Primary Residential Buildings Allowed by Right
	1. A Building Permit is approved in accordance with Sec. 3.13;
	2. It is the first structure placed on a lot;
	3. The metal façade primary residential building contains an exterior siding material of an approved steel or a vinyl siding, and applied in a horizontal lap joint treatment as the City adopted International Residential Code requires;
	4. The Director of Planning determines that the metal façade primary residential building is complimentary to the character of the residential neighborhood served, taking into consideration the review criteria set forth in subsection E below; and
	5. The metal façade primary residential building meets all yard setbacks and coverage maximums. Established in Article 4.

	D. Metal Façade Residential Accessory or Principal Buildings Allowed by Special Permit Only
	1. In situations where a metal façade primary or accessory residential building is not allowed as a matter of right, a Special Permit is required to place a metal exterior primary or accessory residential building on a residential lot.
	2. The Director of Planning may approve a Special Permit as part of the Building Permit review process. If the Director of Planning denies a request for a Special Permit, the property owner may appeal the decision to the City Council, who may grant a ...

	E. Special Permit Review Criteria
	1. Current and future uses of the property and adjacent property for which a Special Permit for a metal façade primary or accessory residential building is sought in keeping with the City’s Comprehensive Plan;
	2. Whether other metal exterior primary or accessory residential buildings are currently found within 200 feet of the subject building location;
	3. The visibility of metal sides of proposed metal exterior primary and accessory residential building from public streets or adjoining properties;
	4. Whether 25 percent or more of any exterior wall of the metal façade primary or accessory residential building is made of metal and visible to the surrounding properties or public streets;
	5. The extent to which the appearance of the metal façade mimics the appearance of wood or masonry products for which no Special Permit is required; and
	6. Whether existing or proposed semi-permanent screening (e.g., topography, landscaping, masonry walls, etc.) would shield the metal façade from adjoining properties or public streets from view.

	F. Documentation

	7.8.4 Nonresidential and Multiple-Family Uses
	A. Purpose
	B. Applicability
	1. The standards of this Section apply to building construction that occurs after April 17, 2008. Buildings in existence or permitted before April 17, 2008, may continue to utilize materials other than those listed as approved materials so long as any...
	2. The standards of this Section apply to the first two stories or first 25 feet of vertical height, whichever is lower, of the following types of construction:
	a. New nonresidential or multiple-family buildings; or
	b. Additions to such buildings, whether connected or not, that are determined to be a single building plot.

	3. The standards of this Section apply to primary, secondary and accessory buildings.

	C. Exceptions
	1. Residential buildings other than multiple-family dwellings;
	2. Buildings in a public or quasi-public business park in existence before April 17, 2008;
	3. Buildings located in the AG, Agricultural zoning district; or
	4. Buildings located in the LI, Light Industrial or HI, Heavy Industrial zoning district, if the buildings are more than 500 linear feet away from residentially zoned property (measured starting from the closest edge of the residentially zoned propert...

	D. Designation of Strategic Corridor Streets for Properties Zoned LI or HI.
	a. IH-35;
	b. South 1st Street from South H. K. Dodgen Loop to intersection with South 3rd Street;
	c. South 5th Street from SH 93 to the intersection of West Avenue M;
	d. Central Avenue from IH 35 to Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard;
	e. FM 2305;
	f. FM 1741 (31st Street) from FM 93 to IH 35;
	g. FM 93;
	h. SH 317;
	i. Outer Loop;
	j. Loop 363 (H. K. Dodgen Loop);
	k. SH 53;
	l. FM 2271;
	m. Canyon Creek Drive from South 5th Street to South 31st Street;
	n. Marlandwood Drive, from South 5th Street to South 31st Street;
	o. Lowes Drive;
	p. Raleigh Drive;
	q. Kegley Road;
	r. Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard;
	s. Avenue M;
	t. Avenue G;
	u. Avenue H;
	v. 3rd Street;
	w. 57th Street;
	x. 25th Street; and
	y. SH 36

	E. Extent of Strategic Corridors
	1. Tracts of land that abut or adjoin a public street or highway designated as a strategic corridor;
	2. Tracts of land that are developed, used, managed or marketed as a group that includes a tract of land that abuts or adjoins a public street or highway designated as a strategic corridor; or
	3. Tracts of land that share parking space with a tract of land that abuts or adjoins a public street or highway designated as a strategic corridor.

	F. Standards
	1. Façade
	a. Natural stone;
	b. Fired brick;
	c. Split-faced block;
	d. Tile;
	e. Granite;
	f. Marble;
	g. Stucco;
	h. Exterior Insulation and Finish Systems;
	i. Tilt-wall concrete, including, but not limited to smooth faced, patterned and aggregate materials, and other concrete products, such as thin-set masonry, that simulate brick, stone, marble, granite or tile to appear being laid up unit by unit;
	j. Fibrous masonry product that simulates a wood or stucco material to appear being laid up unit by unit that is equal to or less than 45 percent of the 70 percent minimum coverage ; or
	k. Smooth-faced block that appears to be laid up unit by unit that is equal to or less than 45 percent of the 70 percent minimum coverage.

	2. Combinations
	3. Measurement
	4. Integration
	5. Multiple-Family Dwellings
	6. Rear Façade
	a. Permanent evergreen plantings, a minimum of five feet planted height, spaced 48 inches on center;
	b. Masonry or wood fences or walls, a minimum of six feet in height; or
	c. Alternative screening materials and methods that the Director of Planning approves.


	G. Additional Standards Based on Building Square Footage
	1. A portion of the façade must consist of fired brick or natural stone laid up unit by unit to meet the following proportions in relation to building square footage:
	2. The façade must incorporate articulation consisting of a minimum of two of the following design elements spaced every 45 linear feet for the front façade plus one design element spaced every 45 linear feet for the other facades, excluding the rear ...
	a. Columns;
	b. Canopies;
	c. Arches; or
	d. Awnings.

	3. For buildings less than or equal to 100,000 square feet in area, articulation must project a minimum of two feet from the vertical wall.
	4. For buildings greater than 100,000 square feet in area, articulation must project a minimum of five feet from the vertical wall.

	H. Exceptions
	1. Review Criteria
	a. Visibility from the public street right-of-way and adjoining properties;
	b. Percentage exception requested;
	c. Existing or proposed permanent screening (topography, permanent evergreen landscaping, masonry walls, berms, other screening techniques);
	d. Extent to which facades have building articulation, fenestration or architectural relief, contrasting complementary colors, columns, canopies and arches; and
	e. Whether the material sought furthers an architectural theme.

	2. Material Samples
	3. Technological Advances




	Article 8 Subdivision Design and Improvements
	Sec. 8.1. General Provisions
	8.1.1 Authority
	8.1.2 Applicability
	A. Unless otherwise stated, the standards of this Article apply if a property is proposed to be subdivided in accordance with the procedures set forth in Sec. 3.6, Sec. 3.7 or Sec. 3.8.
	B. This Article is administered in coordination with all other applicable local, state or federal ordinances, codes, standards and regulations. The provisions in this Article are also administered in conjunction with the Comprehensive Plan, Design and...
	C. Plat approval is not required for a division of land into two or more parts for the sole purpose of securing a loan, so long as all of the land remains in the same ownership.

	8.1.3 Type of Improvements Required
	A.  The applicant must provide the following improvements, of adequate width and size, in accordance with the standards of this UDC, the Design and Development Standards Manual, The Drainage Criteria Manual, City Code Chapter 12 (Fire prevention and P...
	1. Building setback lines;
	2. Public streets and alleys;
	3. Sidewalks;
	4. Easements;
	5. Blocks and lots;
	6. Water, wastewater and drainage facilities;
	7. Fire hydrants;
	8. Street lights;
	9. Parks;
	10. Other public places or facilities.

	B. Fire hydrants in the extraterritorial jurisdiction
	1. The proposed plat is not within the City’s fire district;
	2. The City does not provide water service to the area proposed for platting; and
	3. The City has not set forth plans to annex the area proposed for platting in the City’s Municipal Annexation Plan.

	C. The applicant must coordinate street layouts and street planning with the Comprehensive Plan, with other municipalities, and with county, state and federally designated highways, as applicable review bodies may deem in the best interest of the gene...

	8.1.4 Compliance with Exceptions
	A. The City does not repair, maintain, install, provide , or issue permits for any streets or public services in any subdivision for which a Final Plat has not been approved and filed for record in accordance with Sec. 3.6.6, nor in which the standard...
	B. The City does not repair, maintain, install or provide private streets, facilities or improvements.

	8.1.5 Requirements for Recorded Plat to Obtain Permits
	8.1.6 Utility Services
	A. The City does not sell or supply any water or wastewater services to or within any subdivision platted after October 6, 1994, for which a Final Plat has not been approved and filed of record in accordance with Sec. 3.6.6. If an exception to the sta...
	B. The City will not make a water or wastewater connection until City inspection confirms that the requirements as to the installation of water and wastewater mains have been met within the block facing the street on which the property is situated. Th...

	8.1.7 Dedication of Land for Public Use
	8.1.8 Planned Developments
	A. Submittal and Review Provisions
	B. Instruments of Covenants

	8.1.9 Private Streets, Facilities or Improvements
	A. The association bears total responsibility for maintenance in perpetuity of private improvements; and
	B. A program is established that requires the maintenance of private facilities.

	8.1.10 City Coordinates

	Sec. 8.2. Design Standards
	8.2.1 Streets
	A. Street Classifications
	1. Rural Local Street;
	2. Local Street;
	3. Rural Collector Street;
	4. Collector Street;
	5. Arterial Street; and
	6. Major Thoroughfare.

	B. Street Proposed in Comprehensive Plan
	C. Right-of-Way and Pavement Dimensional Standards
	1. The minimum standards for public street right-of-way and street pavement width are as follows:
	2. Pavement width of a street with curbs and gutters is measured from back-of-curb to back-of-curb. Pavement width of a rural street with concrete ribbon edging is measured from outer edge of asphalt to outer edge of asphalt.
	3. Where the Director of Public Works has specifically determined that no substantial problems are created, a maximum of 10 feet on either side of a roadway may be required to be dedicated as utility easement in lieu of a comparable number of feet in ...
	4. Depending on traffic patterns, densities, needs and other related factors, the City may require:
	a. Additional pavement width or public street right-of-way width for major thoroughfares;
	b. Additional public street right-of-way in vicinity of intersections of collector, arterial and major thoroughfares to adequately accommodate turning movements or access; and
	c. Additional easements needed to provide for utilities.


	D. Street Layout
	1. General
	2. Relation to Adjoining Street System
	3. Residential Subdivision Entrances
	4. Projection of Streets
	a. Where adjoining areas are not subdivided, the arrangement of streets in the subdivision must make provisions for the future projection of streets into such unsubdivided areas, unless the Comprehensive Plan provides otherwise.
	b. Subdivisions must provide for the location of a reasonable number of street openings to adjoining properties. Such an opening must occur a minimum of every 1,000 feet or in alignment with existing or proposed subdivision streets along each boundary...
	c. The developer must convey or dedicate land to the appropriate public entity for the future projection of collector and larger streets into adjoining, unsubdivided areas. For the future projection of local streets, the developer must either dedicate...

	5. Prohibition of Reserve Strips
	6. Local Streets

	E. Curvilinear Streets
	1. Curvilinear streets must meet the following standards.
	2. The City Council may approve local streets with smaller radii than required above in accordance with the exception provisions in Sec. 3.6.7. In the case of such an approval, the applicant must pay the additional cost of installing water and wastewa...

	F. Half Streets and Adjacent Streets
	G. Street Intersections
	1. Subdivision layout must provide for a minimum practical number of intersections with arterials, and those intersections should be with collector streets at intervals of a minimum of 800 feet.
	2. Off-center street intersections will not be approved; however, street jogs with centerline offsets of more than 180 feet may be submitted for consideration in accordance with the exception provisions in Sec. 3.6.7.
	3. More than two streets intersecting at one point is not permitted.
	4. A street may not intersect any other street at an angle of less than 60 degrees and curb radii at the corner must be adjusted accordingly.
	5. Major thoroughfare intersections must have property line corner chords with a minimum tangent distance of 30 feet.
	6. Curb radii at intersections, including alley openings, must be a minimum of 15 feet, measured from face of curb, except in nonresidential developments where the radii must be a minimum of 20 feet. Curb radii for drive approaches are set forth in Se...

	H. Cul-de-Sacs
	I. Typical Street Section
	J. Street Grade
	1. Streets other than local streets must have a maximum grade of five percent, unless the natural topography requires steeper grades, in which case a seven and one-half percent grade may be used, if the site distance is adequate and there are no inter...
	2. Local streets may have a maximum grade of seven and one-half percent.
	3. All streets must have a minimum grade of five-tenths of one percent.
	4. Centerline grade changes with an algebraic difference of more than two percent must be connected with vertical curves of sufficient length to provide a minimum of 600 feet sight distance on collectors, arterials and major thoroughfares. A minimum s...
	5. If a cross slope is necessary or desirable from one curb to the opposite curb, such cross slopes must not exceed 12 inches in 30 feet.

	K. Curbs and Gutters
	1. Streets must be edged with curbs and gutters and designed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual. Rural local and rural collector streets must be edged with 12-inch wide concrete ribbons.
	2. Radial curbs and gutters must be constructed at each corner upon each block to which curbs and gutters are constructed.
	3. Lay-down curbs must be constructed across all alleys with street intersections.
	4. State specifications govern construction and alteration of state highways.

	L. Street Construction by Bonded Contractor
	M. Street Post and Markers
	N. Monuments
	O. Streets Within Planned Developments
	P. Provision for Replatting Subdivisions

	8.2.2 Alleys
	A. Generally
	B. Intersection of Alleys
	C. Dead-End Alleys

	8.2.3 Sidewalks and Trails
	A. Purpose
	B. Where Required
	1. Sidewalks must be provided in the public street right-of-way, along both sides of arterial streets and along one side of collector streets.
	2. The location of new sidewalks along a collector street must be in the established pattern, or as the Director of Planning determines, considering available public street right-of-way and existing or future infrastructure, or, all factors being equa...

	C. Dimensional and Construction Standards
	1. Sidewalks along local (if provided) and collector streets must be a minimum of four feet wide.
	2. Sidewalks along arterial streets must be a minimum of six feet wide.
	3. Sidewalks must be built in line with existing sidewalks. In the absence of an adjoining sidewalk, the edge of the sidewalk closest to the street must be a minimum of two feet from the curb. This section should not be construed to prohibit paving th...
	4. Sidewalks must be built in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual.
	5. Construction plans must be submitted with the Building Permit application. Required sidewalks must be constructed before the Chief Building Official issues a Certificate of Occupancy.
	6. Obstructions including, but not limited to utility poles and signs are not permitted in sidewalks.

	D. Sidewalk Not Required
	1. Where the subject property is proposed for single-family residential use in the UE (Urban Estates) zoning district.
	2. Where the subject property is located along streets within Industrial Parks described below:
	a. Northwest Industrial Park – for the purposes of this Section the Northwest Industrial Park consists of properties within or fronting on the boundary depicted below and formed by:
	i. Moore’s Mill Road from Wendland Road to Pegasus Drive;
	ii. Pegasus Drive from Moore’s Mill Road to North General Bruce Drive;
	iii. North General Bruce Drive from Pegasus Drive to Enterprise Road;
	iv. Enterprise Road from North General Bruce Drive to Eberhardt Road;
	v. Eberhardt Road from Enterprise Road to Industrial Boulevard;
	vi. Industrial Boulevard from Eberhardt Road to Wendland Road; and
	vii. Wendland Road from Industrial Boulevard to Moore’s Mill Road.

	b. Southeast Industrial park – for the purposes of this Section, the Southeast Industrial park consists of properties within or fronting on the boundary depicted below and formed by:
	i. East Avenue H from one-half mile west of the western H.K. Dodgen Loop right-of-way line to easternmost city limit line;
	ii. The easternmost city limit line from East Avenue H to Farm to Market Road 3117;
	iii. Farm to market road 3117 from the easternmost city limit line to the eastern State Highway 36 right-of-way line;
	iv. The eastern State Highw36 right-of-way line from the southern city limit line to the eastern H.K. Dodgen Loop right-of-way line;
	v. A straight line from the eastern State Highway 36 right-of-way line to one-half mile west of the western H.K. Dodgen Loop right-of-way line.



	E. Cost Sharing for Sidewalks
	1. On portions of property developed for single-family residential use that adjoin an arterial street, or a County, State, or Federally maintained highway, the developer shall build an arterial width sidewalk, and the City shall bear the cost of sidew...

	F. Waiver of Sidewalk Requirements

	8.2.4 Utility Easements
	A. Each block that does not contain an alley must contain or have access to a utility easement at the rear of all lots, or at other appropriate locations as determined by utility providers or the City Engineer, reserved for the use of all public utili...
	B. Required drainage easements must allow for a minimum of 15 feet in width in addition to any width required for a drainageway structure. This easement may be split between drainageway sides but one side (easement) must be a minimum of 10 feet in wid...
	C. The developer must arrange with the appropriate utility provider for the payment or refund of construction costs of each utility involved.
	D. Where two utility easements intersect or turn at right angles, a diagonal of not less than 10 feet from the normal intersection of the easement line is required. At other angles the Director of Public Works must review the diagonal length.

	8.2.5 Blocks
	A. Intersecting streets determining block lengths must be provided at such intervals as to serve cross traffic adequately and to meet existing streets or contemporary and accepted subdivision practices.
	B. Blocks must be designed with the standards in the Design and Development Standards Manual.
	C. A plat must demonstrate reasonable provisions in the street layout for the public health and safety, particularly the circulation of emergency vehicles and anticipated truck traffic.

	8.2.6 Lots
	A. General Requirements
	B. Access to Lots
	C. Side Lot Lines
	D. Extra Depth and Width in Certain Cases
	1. Where a lot in a residential area backs up to a railroad right-of-way, a high pressure gasoline, oil or gas line, an industrial area or other land use that has a depreciating effect on the residential use of property, and where no marginal access s...
	2. In no case may a residential lot depth in excess of 175 feet be required. Additional lot width, up to 100 feet may be required where a residential lot sides to the conditions described in paragraph 1 above.

	E. Lot Arrangement
	F. Subsequent Platting

	8.2.7 Water and Wastewater
	A. Size of Water Mains
	1. The recommendation of the design engineer for the developer;
	2. Peak demands for domestic and irrigation use of water;
	3. Fire protection and hydrant coverage; and
	4. Growth and development possibilities for the area.

	B. Size of Wastewater Lines
	1. The recommendation of the design engineer for the developer;
	2. Peak demands; and
	3. Growth and development possibilities for the area.

	C. Wastewater Clean Outs
	1. Full-size clean outs may be used in place of manholes at the end of cul-de-sacs where
	a. Wastewater mains run in a straight line;
	b. A maximum of three service lines converge at one point; and
	c. The distance from the proposed cleanout to the nearest manhole is less than 500 feet.

	2. Each home or building drain must be provided with a clean out near the junction of the building drain and building sewer, in accordance with Chapter 7, Article 21, Plumbing Code, of the Code of Ordinances and the Design and Development Standards Ma...

	D. Time of Construction
	E. Fire Hydrants
	F. On-Site Sewage Facilities
	1. A subdivision with a proposed on-site sewage facility must not be approved if adequate wastewater service is available within 500 feet of the property line of the subdivision or if the subdivision contains one or more lots that are less than 22,500...
	2. The Planning and Zoning Commission may approve a subdivision with on-site sewage facilities containing lots that are less than 22,500 but more than 15,000 square feet in area if:
	a. Such subdivision predominantly contains either the Altoya, Bastrop, Lewisville, Mendard or Venas soil series; and
	b. The owner or developer of the subdivision demonstrates by convincing evidence that due to soil type, volume of sewage, topography, building size, density, percolation tests, design of the on-site sewage facility and other relevant factors that a sm...

	3. In no event may such a subdivision be approved containing lots which that are less than 15,000 square feet in size.


	8.2.8 Drainage and Storm Sewers
	A. Drainage structures must be designed and constructed in accordance with the Drainage Criteria and Design Manual and in such locations and of such size and dimensions to adequately serve the subdivision and associated drainage area as demonstrated o...
	B. In new subdivisions, the developer must provide all the necessary easements and rights-of-way required for drainage structures, including storm sewer and open or paved channels.

	8.2.9 Flood Damage Prevention
	8.2.10 Street Lights
	8.2.11 Subdivision Construction Standards
	A. Inspection of Construction Work
	B. Addressing, Street Naming and Subdivision Naming
	C. Administration of Construction Standards
	D. Costs of Installation

	8.2.12 Avigation Release
	8.2.13 Development on H. K. Dodgen Loop
	A. Provision of Loop and Frontage Road Right-of-Way
	1. Any property subdivided or upon which a Building Permit is requested, that fronts on H.K. Dodgen Loop, must be built upon or subdivided in such a manner so as to provide for the main lanes for H.K. Dodgen and frontage road, where necessary, that co...
	2. An owner or developer of property fronting H.K. Dodgen Loop desiring to subdivide, or obtain a Building Permit on said property must submit a plat or site plan to the City for approval. The plat must address public street right-of-way for the main ...

	B. Access Standards
	1. General Requirements
	a. Temporary Access
	b. Shared Access
	c. Internal Circulation
	d. Temporary Deceleration Lane
	e. New Crossovers

	2. Standards and Specifications



	Sec. 8.3.  Park Land Dedication
	8.3.1 Requirements for Park Land Dedication
	A. General Requirements
	1. Whenever an approved residential Final Plat is filed of record with the County Clerk of Bell County, such plat must contain a clear fee simple dedication of an area of land to the City for park purposes. Such area must equal one acre for each 133 p...
	2. All plats must show the area proposed to be dedicated under this Section. The payment of cash may meet the parkland dedication that this Section requires when this Section permits or requires.
	3. The City Council declares the development of an area smaller than three acres for the public park purposes as impractical. Therefore, if a Preliminary Plat proposes fewer than 399 units resulting in a required dedication of less than three acres, t...
	4. Where an area of less than five acres is required to be dedicated, the  Planning and Zoning Commission  may accept the dedication or require payment of cash instead of land dedication in the amount that Sec. 8.3.2 requires if it determines that suf...
	5. The dedication that this Section requires must be made by the filing of the Final Plat clearly showing such parkland dedication or contemporaneously by separate instrument unless additional dedication is required subsequent to the filing of the Fin...
	6. Before any dedication of parkland or payment of cash instead of land dedication may be required, the Planning and Zoning Commission must find at the public meeting at which the subdivision is considered for final approval, that the dedication of pa...
	7. If payment of cash instead of land dedication is determined to be appropriate, the Director of Parks and Leisure Services must determine the location of the park where the funds will be spent within 90 days of the final acceptance of the completed ...
	8. When the Temple Housing Authority or Habitat for Humanity is the developer of a subdivision, park dedication requirements (land or cash) may be waived, and the City must provide or obtain park land, or fund the park fee, to assure provision of neig...

	B. Prior Dedication or Absence of Prior Dedication
	1. Credit may be given for dedication of land or cash paid instead of land dedication that was dedicated or paid pursuant to the previously existing zoning ordinance or subdivision ordinance of the City.
	2. If a dedication requirement arose prior to the passage of this section, the ordinance in effect at the time such obligation arose controls that dedication requirement, except that additional dedication is required if the actual density of the dwell...

	C. General Requirements in the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ)
	1. The area proposed for development is more than one mile from the existing city limits’
	2. The proposed subdivision will create fewer than nine lots; and
	3. The City has not set forth plans to annex the area proposed for development in the City's Municipal Annexation Plan.


	8.3.2 Cash Instead of Land Dedication
	A. A land owner responsible for dedication under this Section may elect to meet the requirements of Sec. 8.3.1 in whole or in part by cash payment instead of land dedication in the amount set forth in subsection B below. Such payment instead of land d...
	B. The dedication requirement may be met by a payment of cash instead of land dedication sufficient to acquire land and provide for adjacent streets and utilities for a neighborhood park to serve the area in which such development is located. Such per...
	C. The City Council, following a recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission, may reduce the per dwelling unit contribution for multiple family dwellings and manufactured home land lease community by a maximum of one half if they are satisfie...
	D. The Director of Parks and Leisure Services may reduce the per dwelling unit contribution for a land lease community by one-half to credit the development for required onsite recreational amenities.

	8.3.3 Comprehensive Plan Considerations
	8.3.4 Special Fund and Right to Refund
	A. There is hereby established a special fund for the deposit of all sums paid instead of land dedication under this section. The fund is known as the Parkland Dedication Fund. All monies set aside in the fund must be used exclusively for park and rec...
	B. The City must account for all sums paid instead of land dedication under this Section with reference to the individual plats involved and the contributing developer. Funds designated for development of an existing neighborhood park must be spent wi...
	C. Funds designated for land acquisition and development of a new neighborhood park must be spent within five years from receipt.
	D. When funds from several different subdivisions are being accumulated to develop a neighborhood park serving several different subdivisions they must be segregated in an account earmarked for that particular project within the parkland dedication fu...
	E. The placing of a parkland dedication fund in a "treasury fund" that the Director of Finance has established is not deemed a violation of this Section, so long as the Director of Finance maintains a separate account for these proceeds for the purpos...

	8.3.5 Additional Requirements
	A. Any land dedicated to the City under this section must be suitable for recreational purposes, such as for parks, playgrounds and usable open space.
	B. The following characteristics of proposed parkland areas are generally unsuitable:
	1. Any area is primarily, (more than 50 percent), located in the hundred year floodplain.
	2. Any areas are of unusable topography or slope that render more than 25 percent of the area unusable for organized recreational activities.
	3. Due to unusual circumstances relating to subsoil, slope or topography, the development of the property for park or recreational purposes would be extremely difficult or expensive as the Director of Public Works and the Director of Parks and Leisure...

	C. The above characteristics of a park land dedication area may be grounds for denial of any Preliminary or Final Plat.
	D. Drainage areas may be accepted as a part of a park if the channel is constructed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual, and if the channel cuts off no significant area of the park from public access. Provided, however, that...
	E. Each park must have ready access to an improved public street so as to provide visual access to a majority of the park area.


	Sec. 8.4. Improvement Guarantees
	Sec. 8.5.  City Participation
	8.5.1 Perimeter Streets
	A. Local and Collector Streets
	B. Arterial and Larger Streets

	8.5.2 Internal Streets
	A. A substantial amount of traffic will be generated from, to or through the subdivision because of existing or future conditions; or
	B. The Comprehensive Plan indicates a need for certain major thoroughfares through or adjacent to the subdivision.



	Article 9 Nonconformities
	Sec. 9.1. General
	9.1.1 The provisions of this Article are adopted pursuant to Local Government Code Chapters 43, 211 and 212.
	9.1.2 Nonconformities are those land uses, structures, signs or lots of record that do not conform with the requirements of this UDC. The adoption of this UDC does not make nonconformities illegal; however, nonconformities must not be modified except ...
	9.1.3 Nothing in this Article prohibits the ordinary repair and maintenance of a nonconformity.

	Sec. 9.2. Nonconforming Uses and Structures
	9.2.1 A nonconforming status for a use or structure exists when:
	A. On September 19, 1991, the use or structure was in existence and lawfully constructed, located and operating in accordance with the provisions of the previously existing zoning ordinance; or
	B. As a result of amendments to this UDC, the use or structure does not comply with the standards of this UDC.

	9.2.2 A nonconforming use or structure lawfully existing and operating prior to the adoption of this UDC may not be increased, enlarged or expanded beyond that, as it existed on September 19, 1991, except in the following circumstances.
	A. To provide off-street loading or off-street parking spaces upon approval of the Zoning Board of Adjustment; or
	B. To remodel or build an addition to an existing residential structure in a LI, Light Industrial or HI, Heavy Industrial district, in conformance with the Area Regulations for Single-Family Dwelling-3 districts.
	C. To replace a mobile home with a HUD-Code manufactured home or a HUD-Code manufactured home with a different HUD-Code manufactured home, on property where the existing mobile home or HUD-Code manufactured home was in existence and lawfully located b...

	9.2.3 Any nonconforming use may be changed to a conforming use and once such change is made, the use must not be changed back to a nonconforming use.
	9.2.4 If a nonconforming use is abandoned, all nonconforming rights cease and the use of the premises must, from that point on, be in conformity with this UDC. Abandonment involves the intent of the user or owner to discontinue a nonconforming operati...
	9.2.5 If a nonconforming structure or a structure occupied by a nonconforming use is destroyed by fire, the elements or other cause, it may not be rebuilt except to conform to the provisions of this UDC. In the case of partial destruction of a nonconf...
	9.2.6 Where a lot, tract or parcel is occupied by a lawful structure, and where the acquisition of public street right-of-way by a City, county, state or federal agency causes such structure to become nonconforming regarding any requirement of this UD...
	9.2.7 The Zoning Board of Adjustment may require the discontinuance of nonconforming uses or structures under any plan whereby the full value of the structure and facilities can be amortized within a definite period of time, taking into consideration ...
	9.2.8 The Zoning Board of Adjustment may permit an extension of the two-year amortization period for nonconforming use as a sexually oriented business under the terms of the City’s regulations governing sexually oriented businesses. The applicant must...
	A. The full amortizable value of structures and fixtures attached such structures if the applicant made such investments prior to September 19, 1991 or prior to the first required public notice by the City Council of its intent to annex the land when ...
	B. The net profits and depreciation realized during the two-year amortization period; and
	C. Any incidental costs associated with termination of the nonconforming use, such as structural demolition expenses or moving expenses of nonfixture property.

	9.2.9 After examining such evidence and hearing discussion by City staff and the applicant, the Zoning Board of Adjustment may, if necessary, grant any extension that the applicant is due under the terms of this subsection.

	Sec. 9.3. Nonconforming Signs

	Article 10 Enforcement, Violations and Penalties
	Sec. 10.1. Enforcement
	10.1.1 See Sec. 1.4 of the UDC. Administration, interpretation and enforcement of this UDC is the shared responsibilities of the Director of Planning and the Chief Building Official, in coordination with the Director of Public Works. Administration of...
	10.1.2 See Sec. 1.4 of the UDC. The City Attorney may institute appropriate action in a court of competent jurisdiction to enforce the provisions of this UDC with respect to any applicable violation that occurs within any area subject to the provision...

	Sec. 10.2. Violations
	Sec. 10.3. Penalties

	Article 11 Definitions
	Sec. 11.1. Abbreviations
	Sec. 11.2. Defined Terms
	(a) To help residents recuperate from the effects of drugs or alcohol addiction;
	(b)  To help homeless persons or families achieve independence and obtain permanent housing; or
	(c)  To provide temporary shelter for persons who are victims of domestic abuse.







